# DISCOURSES

O N

VARIOUS SUBJECTS.

By WILLIAM SAMUEL POWELL, D.D.

LATE ARCHDEACON OF COLCHESTER, AND MASTER OF ST. JOHN'S COLLEGE IN CAMBRIDGE.

PUBLISHED BY THOMAS BALGUY, D.D.

A NEW EDITION.

CAMBRIDGE,

PRINTED FOR W. H. LUNN.

MDCCXCIV.



# ADVERTISEMENT.

HE following Discourses are not published for the credit of the Writer, but for the benefit of his Readers: especially that class of Readers, for whom they were chiefly intended, the younger Students in Divinity. The Author's reputation flands on a much wider bottom: a whole life uniformly devoted to the interests of found Philosophy and true Religion. The means he employed, for the fervice of both, at different times and in different stations, may best be reported by those who were the immediate objects of his Nothing shall be added here, care. but fome Facts and Dates, for the fatisfaction of his Friends.

A 3 WILLIAM

WILLIAM SAMUEL POWELL Was born at Colchefter, Sept. 27, O. S. 1717. He was admitted at St. John's College, Cambridge, in 1734: began to refide there the year following: took the degree of B. A. in 1738-9: and was admitted Fellow March 25, 1740.

In the year 1741, he was taken into the family of the late Lord Viscount Townshend; as private tutor to his fecond fon, Charles Townshend, afterwards Chancellor of the Exchequer. Towards the end of the year, he was ordained Deacon and Priest by Dr. Gooch, then Bishop of Norwich; and instituted by him to the Rectory of Colkirk in Norfolk, on Lord Townfhend's prefentation.

He returned to College the year after; took the degree of M. A. and began to read Lectures, as affisfant to Mr. Wrigley and Mr. Tunstall. In the year 1744, he became Principal Tutor: and in 1749 took the degree of B. D.

In the year 1753, he refigned the Rectory of Colkirk; that it might be consolidated with Stibbard, another of Lord Townshend's livings: and was again instituted the next day.

He was admitted to the degree of D. D. in 1756; and created at the following Commencement 1757.

In 1759, he came into possession of an estate in Essex: which was devised to him by Mr. Reynolds, a relation of his Mother's \*. In 1761, he left College, and took a house in London; but did not resign his Fellowship till 1763.

In 1765, he was elected Mafter: foon after, he went to refide in College; and was chosen Vice-Chancellor of the University in the November following.

The year after, he obtained the Archdeaconry of Colchester, which was in

<sup>\*</sup> This Lady had two other children, who survived her: the Rev. Mr Jolland by her first husband, and Mrs. Susan Powell by her second.

#### viii ADVERTISEMENT.

his Majesty's gift, for that turn, on the promotion of Dr. Moss to the Bishopric of St. Davids: and in 1768, he was instituted to the Rectory of Freshwater in the Isle of Wight.

He died Jan. 19, 1775.

It is fcarce needful to mention, that the Sermon on Subscription and the Third Charge, were published in the Author's Life-time.

If there should be any impropriety in the Titles of these Discourses, or any mistakes in the Notes or References; the fault is to be imputed to the Editor, not the Author.

THOMAS BALGUY.

# CONTENTS.

Three Discourses preached before the University.

#### DISCOURSE I.

Preached in the Year 1756.

OF the Vices incident to an Academical Life.

Hebrews xii. Part of the first verse.

— The Sin that doth so easily beset us.

#### DISCOURSE II.

Preached on Commencement Sunday, 1757.

Of the Subscriptions required in the Church of England.

#### 1 Cor. i. 10.

Now I befeech you, Brethren, by the Name of our Lord Jefus Christ, that ye all speak the same thing, and that there be no divisions among you.

DIS-

#### DISCOURSE III.

Preached January 30, 1766.

On the Anniversary of the Martyrdom of Charles I.

LAMENT. of JEREMIAH iv. 13.

For the fins of her Prophets, and the iniquities of her Priests, they have shed the blood of the Just in the midst of her.

Thirteen Discourses preached in the College Chapel.

## DISCOURSE IV.

On Whitsunday, 1765.

The Authenticity of the Books of the New Testament.

JOHN XV. 26.

When the Comforter is come, whom I will fend unto you from the Father, even the Spirit of truth, which proceedeth from the Father, he shall testify of me:

#### DISCOURSE V.

The Credit due to the Sacred Historians.

John xxi. 24.

This is the Disciple which testisteth of these things, and wrote these things, and we know that his testimony is true.

#### DISCOURSE VI.

The Insufficiency of Mr. Hume's Objection to the Credibility of Miracles.

Acts xvii. 32.

And when they heard of the Resurrection of the Dead, some mocked: and others said, We will hear thee again of this matter.

#### DISCOURSE VH.

On the Use of Miracles in proving the Divine Mission of our Saviour, and his Apostles.

John v. 36.

The works that I do bear witness of me, that my Father hath sent me.

## DISCOURSE VIII.

Of the Evidence arising from the Prophecies of the Old Testament.

MATT. xi. 2.

Where is He that is born King of the fews? For we have feen his flar in the east, and are come to worship him.

#### DISCOURSE IX.

The fame Subject continued.

LUKE XXIV. 25, 26.

Then he said unto them; O fools and slow of beart to believe all that the Prophets have spoken: Ought not Christ to have suffered these things, and to enter into his glory?

#### DISCOURSE X.

Of the Argument drawn from the fwift Propagation of the Gospel.

. Матт. хііі. 32.

Another parable put he forth unto them, saying, The kingdom of heaven is like to a grain of mustard seed, which a man took and sowed

#### CONTENTS.

in his field; which indeed is the least of all seeds; but when it is grown it is the greatest among herbs, and becometh a tree, so that the birds of the air come and lodge in the branches thereof.

#### DISCOURSE XI.

Of the Character given by Heathen Writers of the First Christians.

MATT. V. 11.

Blessed are ye, when men shall revile you and persecute you, and shall say all manner of evil against you falsly for my sake.

#### DISCOURSE XII.

Recapitulation of the Arguments brought in Support of Christianity.

JOHN v. 37.

The Father Himself, which hath sent me, hath borne witness of me.

## DISCOURSE XIII.

On Whitfunday, 1768.

Intemperance in the Gratification of our Appetites, not confiftent with Spiritual Improvements.

EPHESIANS

CONTENTS.

χÿ

EPHESIANS v. 18.

Be not drunk with wine, wherein is excess; but be filled with the Spirit.

# DISCOURSE XIV.

The Prodigal Son.

Lukė žv. 11, 12.

And he faid, A certain man had two sons, and the younger of them said unto his father, Father, give me the portion of goods that falleth unto me. And he divided unto them his living.

# DISCOURSE XV.

On Whitfunday, 1770.

The Nature and Extent of Inspiration, illustrated from the Writings of St Paul.

2 PET. iii. 15.

Even as our beloved brother Paul, according to the wisdom given unto him, hath written unto you.

#### DISCOURSE XVI.

The Diversity of Character belonging to different Periods of Life.

I COR. XIII. 11.

When I was a child, I spake as a child, I understood as a child, I thought as a child; but when I became a man, I put away childish things.

The following Discourse is added (though out of place, and, perhaps, out of season) in compliance with the desire of some of the Author's Friends.

#### DISCOURSE XVII.

On Public Virtue.

Preached before the University, Nov. 5, 1765.

1 Pet. ii. 17.

Love the Brotherhood.

CHARGES delivered to the CLERGY of the Archdeaconry of Colchester.

CHARGE I.
On Religious Controversies.

### CHARGE IL

On the Connexion between Merit and the Reward of merit in the Profession of a Clergyman.

## CHARGE III.

On the Use and Abuse of Philosophy in the Study of Religion.

DISPUTATIO habita in Scholis Publicis, Anno 1756,

Pro gradu Doctoratûs in Sacrâ Theologiâ.

Ecclestastici regiminis, in Anglia & in Scotial constituti, neutra forma, aut juri hominum naturali, aut verbo Dei, repugnat.

# DISCOURSE I.

Of the Vices incident to an Academical Life.

Hebrews, xii. part of ver. 1.

The Sin that doth so easily beset us.

THERE are writers of some reputation in Physick, who have undertaken to explain, to what particular diseases men are exposed by each profession and employment. Whatever their success has been, the design was certainly good; and, if the attempt is not too difficult, it will be useful to pursue the same plan in our moral inquiries. We frequently exhort every man to observe with

DIS-



care the complexion and temper of his foul; and to apply all fuch remedies, as may either prevent or palliate those disorders, to which his natural constitution makes him subject. But every man is not able to judge of his own dispositions; and what we call nature is more often habit. It would be well therefore if we could affift the diligent fearcher of his heart, by shewing him, what vices usually accompany his fituation and circumstances. He will more eatily discover his own perfonal character, if he is acquainted with that of the rank or order to which he belongs.

Very little pains have been employed by any moral writers to this purpose. They have told us perhaps, what are the faults of youth, and of age; what the dangers of riches, and of poverty: but if any thing has been faid concerning the characters of particular professions, it has been by the Satirists, not the ferious Moralists. It will not, I hope, be thought, that I wander into their province; if I enter on that part of this subject, which most nearly concerns ourselves, and inquire, what are the chief difficulties and dangers in the practice of virtue, to which

men

DISCOURSE Í.

men of retired and studious lives, abstracted in a great degree from the pleasures, the business, and the conversation of the world,

are exposed.

And the fault that first offers itself, as most immediately connected with such a fituation, and from which almost all its other dangers spring, is an habit of indolence. Not labour only, but industry of every kind, is usually attended with some portion of present uneasiness. But, this virtue being of much importance to the general welfare of mankind, a particular provision has been made for it in the constitution of the world. It is not left, like many other virtues, under the guardianship of reason and reflection; but its mother, necessity, is ever living and watchful to preserve it. The greatest part of mankind must labour or perish. Many others are constantly engaged in providing for the ease and satisfaction of themselves and their families. Even the votaries of pleafure are obliged to attend it at fixt places and feafons; and enjoy it under fuch conditions, as change their amusements into business. On those only who are withdrawn from the

B 2

pleafures

pleasures and the pains of social life, have the immediate motives to industry no influence. And, though they may easily discern, that, by the appointment of God, every thing good and valuable is the reward of our earnest endeavours; that, without them, wealth and honour can seldom, learning and virtue can never, be acquired; yet are there not many men, in whom the strength of reason, unassisted by passion, is able to prevail against a present pain.

The passions are another excellent contrivance of the Author of Nature, to keep all the faculties of our fouls active and vigorous. When the immediate occasions of industry cease, these often supply the want of them. And how nicely they are adjusted to the general state and condition of mankind, may be observed in this, as in innumerable other inflances. Though we hear fo many complaints of their mighty force; yet diminish it a little, and they are useless. Place a man in a fituation, where they are not frequently exercised; and he is in danger of finking into an unfeeling lethargy. Such is the fituation we are confidering. For the exercise

exercise of the passions arises chiefly from the various turns and accidents in human affairs. What we experience at all times, will at no time affect us. If a man's life runs on in the same even tenor, yesterday, and to-day, and to-morrow; all the events of it pass by him unnoticed: there is nothing to awaken his attention, much less to move his passions: he becomes indifferent to every acquirement, satigued with every pursuit.

It cannot be doubted but the mind may be employed in a closet, and as fully engaged in a fearch after knowledge as in the more noify scenes of business or folly. And the force of an uncommon genius, the prospect of reputation or advantage, or even a strong habit of industry early acquired, may fometimes prevent that fatiety, which is apt to mix itself with all human conditions. But it will require more than an ordinary share of resolution, for one of only moderate abilities, who has no expectation of making any great discoveries, or of obtaining any confiderable rewards by his progress in learning, to continue the pursuit of it during his whole life, unlefs he is often B 3 relieved relieved by other occupations or amusements, The same task constantly repeated must at length prove irksome. The most delicious repast, if set before us every day, would become infipid or distasteful.

We must therefore confess, that a station, which removes the common motives to industry; which impairs the vigour of the passions, it's chief supports; and at the same time renders it more than usually burthenfome; is likely to make men indolent.

Indolence, in a Being, whose faculties all depend, both for their preservation and improvement, on continual exercise, is unquestionably a great fault. But it comes not without a long train of attendants. That we may view them distinctly, let us consider the mischievous effects of this habit, and of the retirement which produces it, on the understanding and the affections.

Any ferious employment of the understanding is inconfistent with habitual indolence. Discussion and inquiry are always laborious. Time and patience and pains are necessary to separate truth from falsehood; to collect and to compose the arguments on each

each fide. Prejudices arising from temper, from education, from interest, and from innumerable other causes, are not easily overcome. And when a ray of reason breaks through them, resolution is wanted to follow steadily its guidance. And yet without this labour we forfeit all the use and benefit of our understanding. If we fnatch the first appearances, and fit down contented with them, to what purpose is it, that we are able to investigate hidden truths? What avails our faculty of judging, if we fuffer each thin pretence to conceal them from us?

It might be expected, that they, who entertain every wandering opinion without examination, should difinits it without regret on the arrival of a new guest. But the fact is otherwife. This kind of levity is attended with oblinacy. The same disposition which leads men into error, makes them unwilling to correct it. A state of doubtfulness is a state of uneafiness. The mind therefore haftens to the end of its journey; but to trace its steps back again, and examine all the windings, by which the truth may have escaped,

B 4

DISCOURSET

escaped, is to the indolent an intolerable labour.

But if this disposition is the parent of obstinacy, retirement is its nurse. The retired man's thoughts are confined to few subjects, his conversation to few persons. As these will usually fall into the same habits of thinking, and be restrained within the same little compais, each will confirm himself, and each the others, in the fentiments they have embraced: whilst the mind, which ranges through the various fields of science, will be less fond of each notion; and, when men of different characters and employments meet, opposite prejudices will check each other, and nature and reason, upon the whole, prevail. Even an unrestrained conversation among our own countrymen is not usually thought a sufficient security against narrow and illiberal conceptions of persons and things. Every nation has its peculiar character; and they, who would open and enlarge their understandings, visit edistant countries, and examine the principles, they have hastily imbibed at home, by the manners and fentiments of foreigners. But if a

whole

whole people may obstinately adhere to the same established errors, there is much greater danger that this should happen to small societies of men, educated by the same contracted plan, and studying together the same favourite systems.

The faults already mentioned lead to another, Self-conceit. The fluggard is wifer in his own conceit, than feven men that can render a reason. He, who has no inclination to learn more, will be very apt to think that he knows enough. Nor is it wonderful that be should pride himself in the abundance of his wisdom, with whom every wavering thought, every half-formed imagination, passes for a fixed and substantial truth. Obstinacy also, which makes him unable to discover his mistakes, makes him believe himself unable to commit them.

Self-conceit, in return, promotes indolence and obstinacy. For why should be toil any longer in the mines of knowledge, who is already possessed of their most valuable treasures? how can be submit to try his opinions by the judgement of others, who is himself the fittest to decide?

This

This temper, when the mind is converfant with points of the highest nature, such as relate to Religion and Government, will shew itself in violent bigotry. What indeed is this, but an obstinate adherence to illgrounded notions; with a conceit, that we only, and those of our own sect or party, are the favourites of God, and the friends of mankind, and that all who differ from us are weak or wicked? Want of industry to examine our own tenets, of candour to listen to those of others, and of modesty in judging of both, lays a fure foundation for this vice; which can never be removed, but by another thing equally wanted, an extensive acquaintance with the world. This would certainly convince us, that among persons of every denomination some may be found of excellent understandings, and distinguished virtue.

There are no subjects, about which men are less apt to be diffident, than, those where diffidence most becomes them, subjects of the greatest importance and the greatest difficulty. Such as call themselves philosophers and masters of reason, seem as a their their

their reason in their most essential concerns. Whatever skill they employ, is employed in the desence of particular systems; and they reject with abhorrence all suspicions of mistake. But how free soever these doctrines may be from mistake, yet the mind accustomed to determine peremptorily, and fondly to admire its own judgements, will get such a wrong by as as all its philosophy cannot overcome. And thus the noblest studies, by imprudent management, are made to serve no other purpose, but to increase our obstinacy and self-opinion.

From understandings thus perverted what great improvements in science can be expected? As great indeed as were ever produced in all the monasteries in Christendom, How many thousands were, for many centuries, constantly set apart for the cultivation of divine and human learning! And yet how little did they contribute towards the revival of letters, or the reformation of religion! Their indolence prevented the one, their obstinacy and bigotry the other. And if the same causes had not retained some influence, even in societies, whose separation

from

from the world is less rigid than that of the cloister; those absurd and slavish principles of government, which are now fled into everlasting darkness, would not have lest their last footsteps before the alters of God, and in the fairest temples of literature. If just reasoning and true philosophy had not prevented their entrance, yet concern for the welfare of mankind, or zeal for the honour of religion, should quickly have banished them. But these motives must lose their influence among men, whose retirement renders them languid in every friendly affection, unmoved with every sentiment of devotion.

Indolence affects not the understanding only. It spreads a general numbness and insensibility over the whole soul; and makes it unable to feel the warmth of the benevolent affections. It cannot be imagined, that he, who is indifferent to his own concerns, will be sollicitous for the happiness of others; or that he will officiously engage in the labour of love, to whom every species of labour seems insupportable. Generous and friendly dispositions flourish only among vigorous and active faculties.

Nay, if indolence could be excluded, yet the shade of retirement is itself sufficient to chill the friendly affections. Let the difference be observed between a man's compassion for a stranger in distress, and his anxiety, his tenderness, for a friend, a companion, a neighbour; and we shall easily be convinced, how much these affections are nurtured and cherished by society and conversation. Such is the constitution of human nature, that our inclinations, of every kind, strengthen and decay with the powers and occasions of exerting them. Now the persons, whose happiness or misery depends upon us, being chiefly those which come immediately under our notice and acquaintance, our benevolence is in a great measure confined to them: and will therefore retain the less force, the more these connections are contracted.

But this danger arises not wholly from the nature of a recluse life. The circumstances of it are often such as have a still greater tendency to weaken the benevolent affections. The strongest of these affections are directed by nature towards particular objects; and when these objects are removed, their course, though

Î4

it may be stopped, cannot be diverted. Were men governed by reason only, their regard would conflantly follow virtue; which they would reverence and love as much in a stranger as in their nearest relation. But philosophy is far less powerful than instinct. It is not able to exalt friendship into love. It cannot impress on his heart the joys and forrows of a parent, who has never felt those tender cares. It cannot restore the affection of a fon or a brother, when death or absence has destroyed or impaired it.—Some perhaps may expect, that the fewer and weaker mens particular attachments are, the more extensive and the stronger will be their general benevolence. But experience thews the contrary. Break off the nearest ties of affection, and you weaken proportionably all that remain. The most violent of these passions are necessary to soften the mind, and render it sensible of the less vigorous impressions. They who are accustomed to confider themselves as interested in the happiness and misery of others, will gradually extend their regards, till they feel for all mankind. Whilst the foul, on which natural fympathy has no influence, can never perceive the finer touches of friendship and humanity. As the heart hardens, it contracts its benevolence, till the whole centers in itself only.

That a man of this character can have nothing of the true spirit of religion, we are told by unerring authority. He that loves not his brother, how can he love God? He that seels no satisfaction from the happiness which is spread through the creation, how can he have any gratitude to the Creator? How can be exalt his mind to a suitable reverence for the goodness of the supreme being, who has no esteem of those lower degrees of goodness, which are more open to his observation, and more adapted to his capacity? The same lethargic indolence which retards his steps on earth, must for ever stop him in his ascent towards heaven.

But farther, religious fentiments can only be impressed on the mind by repeated acts of devotion. Now though the external rites and ceremonies of devotion are more frequently performed, yet perhaps they are not more frequently accompanied with seriousness and fer-

tural '

vour, in the cloister than in the city. Men cannot, at every instant, voluntarily raise in themselves the warmth of adoration. Occasions and accidents are wanted to excite it. The food which daily nourishes us, the light and air we continually enjoy, are some of the greatest blessings of heaven. But who receives them with rapture? An unexpected advantage, one conveyed to us in an uncommon manner, a deliverance from an impending evil. will call forth warmer fentiments of gratitude, than these universal and continual benefits. In like manner any extraordinary danger will remind men of their dependence on God's protection; and teach them to exercife that submission to his will which in the midst of security they are apt to neglect. Thus the frequent changes of good and evil we experience, the hopes and fears which perpetually furround us, are fo many guards to our piety: which is then in the greatest danger, when we are most secure; when our condition in life is least subject to any sudden turns either to happiness or misery. How little therefore do they understand the true fprings of devotion, who think that €ver∳

DISCOURSE I. 17 every step, by which they retire from the world, is an approach to God!

As little perhaps do they know of human nature, who imagine a strict union betwixt piety and learning. If the love of God is an affection, if the adoration of him should be performed with ardor; then is constant study, especially of the abstructe sciences, unlikely to improve it. Attention of this kind usually gives the understanding a calm and sedate turn; which, how useful soever in the performance of other duties, will not contribute to the warmth of devotion.

Thus every circumstance conspires to deprive us of the most valuable affections: but there are still greater dangers behind. The mind of man cannot remain long unoccupied. If its proper inhabitants desert it, spectres and evil demons will take possession of it. When solitude and indolence have driven away each pious and each benevolent affection, the mind will be lest exposed to the duli and phlegmatic passions.

This hideous troop is led by melancholy. In vain do we expect happiness from quiet and repose. In vain do we think of retiring into

UNIVERSITY LIDEARY CALLY RIDGE

into ourselves, and feasting on our own contemplations. The heart which loses its regards to God and man, lofes also its relish for every enjoyment. The mind, unfupported by industry and good sense, is in danger of finking almost into despair.

He who is thus unhappy in himself, will be apt to be displeased with every object and every person around him. And this displeasure will be the greater, if self-conceit makes him imagine, that the world is unjust to him, that his merits might fairly claim better fortune. Such a four and fretful difposition as is impious towards God, and inhuman towards man, is the natural confequence of pride and melancholy. And this again cannot fail to increase the uneasiness from whence it arises, by enlarging every trifling disappointment, till it becomes a grievous torment.

Nor is it only the fense of present and real misfortunes, which afflicts persons of this temper. They often fuffer as much from the apprehensions of future or imaginary evils. When they are dejected without calamities, and angry without injuries; they feign

## DISCOURSE I.

ÌĢ feign to themselves dangers, where all is fafety, and fuspect designs against their peace, which are formed only in their own fanciful brain. You will never convince them by a thousand arguments, that they are disturbed or frightened without reason. There is no remedy for uneafiness about trifles, but to employ our thoughts with matters of importance. And the courage of a man of bufiness, like that of a soldier, can be acquired only by meeting danger. He that passes his life in the greatest safety, usually passes it in the greatest fear.

These wicked passions can scarce meet in any mind, without introducing one more wicked than themselves. The man that is frequently offended, and continually afraid, will certainly, as far as his power extends, be cruel. Bigotry also often promotes this temper, concealing, under the appearance of zeal for religion, or the public good, a vice the most opposite to them both.

Hear then the character of an idle monk, collected from all that has been observed. He is weak, obstinate, conceited, bigoted, unfriendly to man, ungrateful to God,

melan-

melancholic, fretful, timid, cruel. It concerns us all to be very cautious, that no part of this character belong to us. And this caution is the more necessary, because when any evil passion gets hold of us, it usually seizes the whole soul. A variety of employments and amusements will give rise to various and even opposite inclinations. And the mind, continually agitated by them, will not remain long fixed to one pursuit. Whereas, in a state of indolence and solitude, the same train of thinking runs on without interruption, and the prevailing passion, whatever it is, carries all before it.

Ought we not therefore, it may be asked, to fly from a station, where our virtue and our happiness are exposed to so many dangers? Alas! whither shall we fly? What place, what scene of human life, can promise us security? Each condition is surrounded with, different indeed but, almost equal difficulties. Each too has its peculiar advantages to compensate these difficulties, and possibly none may have greater than our own. Nor are the foregoing observations to be understood so strictly, as if they never failed

in any inflance. Let it not be imagined that the faults incident to an order must necessarily adhere to all the individuals which compose it. Few are so unfortunate, as to be hit by every weapon, which the enemy aims against them. And some, perhaps, either by the natural activity and vigour of their minds may avoid, or with the shield of reason and religion may repel, them all. If this were impossible, the inquiry in which we have been engaged, would be uselefs. These reflexions can serve no other purpose, but that, knowing to what vices our fituation inclines us, we may, by continual efforts and firm resolutions, bend all our faculties towards the opposite virtues; and, having extricated ourselves from the fins which most easily befet us, may run with patience the race that is fet before us.

 $C_3$ 

DIS-

# DISCOURSE

A DEFENCE of the Subscriptions required in the Church of England.

#### 1 Cor. i. 10.

Now I befeech you, Brethren, by the Name of our Lord Jesus Christ, that ye all speak the . same thing, and that there be no divisions among you.

f T f T may be doubted, whether among the parties, into which the christians at Corinth were divided, and which the apostle with so much earnestness endeavours to re-unite, there was any distinction, but of names. For though one faid, I am of Paul; and another, I of

I of Apollos; or, I of Cephas; we hear of no difference in the instruction, they had received from their different masters. The same doctrine, which Paul had planted, Apollos watered. And yet it was not unworthy the wifdom of the apostle, to guard his converts against those mischiefs, which frequently arise from frivolous and unmeaning divisions. It is usually of more importance to the peace and happiness of a community, that its members should speak, than think, alike. For they, who have learned to confess their faith in the same form, will consider each other as friends even though they should disagree, not a little, in their explanations of it; while fuch as have been accustomed to different expresfions can feldom be convinced, that their opinions are the fame.

For these reasons, the wifest and best friends of our religious establishment have long wished, that all the Protestants in this kingdom could be united by a confent to the fame liturgy, and the fame articles of faith; not a confent forced, or feigned; but given freely, and fincerely; notwithstanding fome small difference of sentiments, about points

points of speculation or ceremonies. To promote this union, much has been already done by those who have explained, with moderation and clearness, the several parts of our ecclefiaftical conftitution. But fomething may remain to be done hereafter. In the mean time fome difficulties may perhaps be removed, which have arisen from too rigid an interpretation of our subscriptions and declarations of conformity. They have been interpreted too rigidly by zealots on both sides, with different designs: by some among our friends, left they should be thought luke-warm in defence of the church: by many among our enemies, that the compliance required of them might appear the less reasonable.

But while both parties have persisted in this rigour, both have suffered by it. The Dissenters have been rendered obstinate, in matters persectly insignificant. They continue to debase religion with those frivolous disputes; which had been long ago forgot, if it had not been supposed necessary for every man to determine them, before he could assent to our liturgy. Among us some

few

few examples have been known of honest, but mistaken, men, who, though educated for the ministry, have refused to comply with the terms of admission into it. Others perhaps there are, not less unhappy, who, having neither understanding to clear their doubts, nor courage to own them, are prevailed on by worldly motives to affent without conviction. It may enable us to remove fome of their scruples, and vindicate our church, which has imposed, and ourfelves, who have submitted to, these conditions; if we observe carefully their nature and extent, and examine how far our opinions are restrained by them. Such an inquiry, when confined to a discourse of this kind, must be very general. But a very general inquiry will be sufficient to shew, that great liberty is left for a difference of judgments, in matters either not plain, or not important; so great indeed, that one might reasonably hope it would extend to every man, whose principles are not destructive of our church or nation.

I will not enter here into any debate with those, who, calling themselves servants of Jesus

· Jesus Christ, and members of the Catholic church, affert their freedom from all human impositions, and will not submit to any terms of communion; like him, who refused to be made a citizen of Athens, because he was already a citizen of the world. Should a man adhere to this principle, he could never join in any public worship. Not only the times. and places, and ceremonies of it, but the words also, must either be appointed by common confent, or chosen by him who prefides in each congregation. And that confeience must be strangely perverse, which can fubmit to the directions of a fingle perfon, and not to the authority of the public. I shall therefore presume, that a liturgy may be prescribed. And if it is prescribed, it is plainly necessary, that such as are appointed to officiate publicly, should conform to it. And he, who can honeftly conform, may honestly declare his resolution to do so. Thus the inquiry, which a man is obliged to make, before he can affent to the use of our liturgy, and promise to officiate himself according to it, is reduced to narrow limits. If it requires him to profess doctrines which 'he does not believe; or if he judges either

the whole, or its principal parts to be vain, trifling, or superstitious; his affent will be finful. But unless sincerity forbids the use of this service, or the main purposes of religion demand another, whatever difficulties may be proposed, they should have little influence on his determination.

To the former part of this inquiry fome observations may be applied, which shall be made prefently on our articles of faith. Let us only remark here, that it is confined almost entirely to the Creeds; that it has no concern in the iffue of any disputes, which have been raised about the truth of various minute particulars, afferted, or supposed, in the fervice, or rubrics. If, for instance, the inquirer doubts, whether Luke the physician, was also the evangelist; or knows, that, after all the corrections of the ablest aftronomers, the rules for finding Easter are not perfectly confistent; these will be no reasons against his conformity. To give a title to a faint, or a king, which perhaps might not properly belong to him; or to celebrate a festival rather according to the decree of a pope, than a council; will hardly difgust

difgust a man of the nicest conscience: unless it is supposed to contain a declaration of his judgment. But his affent is to be given to the use, not the truth, of the liturgy; and cannot be understood to extend farther, than to an approbation of the doctrines, which it openly professes, or with which it has an evident and necessary connexion. Thus the law, which requires his affent, explains it; thus common sense requires it to be explained. Nobody ever asks concerning a petition, or a rule, whether it be true; but whether it be decent, proper, reasonable, useful. If such be our public service, we may do more than affent to it; we may heartily and thoroughly approve it.

But even this part of its character has been fometimes examined too scrupulously. We meet with demands on one side, and boasts on the other, of such perfection, as never was found, nor probably ever will be, in any human composition. And whence have these demands, and these boasts, arisen? From a notion many have entertained, that they must allow of nothing, in the worship of God, which is not perfect: a notion con-

nected

nected indeed with an important truth, that our public adorations should be performed with all the purity and folemnity, which the wisest can devise; but strained to a pernicious error, that every defect, which the weakest may imagine, will justify a refusal to join in them. Nothing was ever written on any fubject, nothing certainly on fo difficult a fubject as religion, which, after time and attention, was not found capable of improvement: and yet there are many religious books, which the most cautious might venture to recommend. Even in the holy Scripture itself, some portions have been thought less proper to be publicly read; and yet no christian will scruple to declare, that it is profitable for reproof, for exhortation, for instruction in righteousness. Why then is the liturgy to be rejected, for want of that imaginary perfection, which no book, not even the book of God, has ever obtained?

But it may perhaps be replied, that the difficulties arise not from the want of some supposed excellency, but from real blemishes; from blemishes, which have been observed long ago, and their remedies proposed. Be

it that you are thus convinced. But is there in our liturgy any abfurdity fo glaring, as to be visible to every eye? Is there any impiety fo monstrous, as to shock every devout worshiper? Our most scrupulous adversaries never pretended it. Their complaints relate chiefly to those appointments, in which there was the greatest room for a difference in mens judgement or fancy. Of what length the public fervice should be, into how many parts it may conveniently be divided, what passages of the Scriptures ought to be intermixed with it, how often fome of our most important petitions may be repeated, either in the same, or a different form; these, and fuch as these, are the matters in controversy: matters of so uncertain a nature, that it might be difficult to find two thinking men, if even thinking men were not guided by fashion, who would determine them exactly alike. It must therefore often happen, that they, who will not withdraw themselves from all religious affemblies, will be obliged to comply with forms, which they do not wholly approve. The fame answer may be given in all disputes concerning the ceremonies

DISCOURSE H. ceremonies observed in public worship. Whether it be more decent, on one occasion, for the minister to kneel, on another, for the people to fit, can never be determined by any principles of reason. The greatest part of mankind always think that ceremony right, to which they have been accustomed. Nor are they much mistaken. For in matters of this fort nothing is plainly wrong, but change. But whether the point in dispute be of greater or of less importance, capable of being exactly defined or not; yet he, who, without public authority, assumes to himself the determination of it, assumes a power, which every man might claim with equal reason, and which if every man should exercise, all united worship must totally ceafe.

In other cases, similar to this, which we are confidering, men do not perplex themselves with the same difficulties. It was never agreed, what is the most convenient form of civil government. Yet, except fome few, whose enthusiasm has approached to madness, all have, without scruple, submitted to every form; while it answered in any degree the prin-

32 principal purposes of its institution. Thelaws of particular countries or focieties oblige us in many inflances, where the law of nature has left us at liberty; nay, they often oppose the law of nature, where its commands are either obscure or not important. Yet these things offend no man's conscience. We not only consent to be governed by imperfect or unreafonable laws, without fear of displeasing God; but are ready to declare that confent, whenever it is demanded. Nor let it be pretended, that the affairs of civil life are more indifferent, or more subject to human prudence, than those of religion. The virtue and knowledge and happiness of a people certainly depend as much on the form of their government, and the nature of their laws, as on the ceremonies of their public worship, Let the decision therefore in both cases proceed on the same principles; and then every man, who thinks our liturgy a pious and useful, though not a faultless, service, will think himself obliged to conform to it.

It will eafily be understood, with what view these reasons are offered: not to intimate,

timate, that of all the difficulties, which our adverfaries have heaped together, any part remains unremoved; but to convince them, that the removal was more than they could reasonably demand: it not being à condition of union in our church, that even its ministers should acknowledge every thing in the public fervice, to be exactly what is best and fittest. Nothing more is required of them, but to profess by words, what they profess in the strongest manner by their entrance into the ministry; that in their minds they affent to, and will follow in their practice, the prescribed forms of prayer. So that the true meaning of this declaration must have been mistaken, if it has ever driven one man from our communion.

But our other subscription is to be understood in a different manner. Our articles of religion are not merely articles of peace. They are defigned also as a test of our opinions. For fince it cannot be imagined, that men. should explain with clearness, or enforce with earneilness, or defend with accuracy of judgement, fuch doctrines as they do not believe; the church requires of those, who are ap-

pointed

pointed to teach religion, a folemn declaration of their faith. Nor is it more unreasonable to exclude a man from this office, who, through error, unavoidable, suppose, and innocent error, is unfit to execute it; than to deny him a civil employment, for which he is accidentally disqualified.

He therefore, who affents to our articles, must have examined them, and be convinced of their truth. But their truth perhaps might have been obscured with fewer doubts and difficulties, had men attended to the proper method of interpreting them. It cannot appear strange, that there should be rules of interpretation peculiar to these writings, when the defigu of interpreting them is peculiar. We are not here concerned to discover, what was meant by the writers, but what will be understood by the readers. For every fincere man, who makes a public declaration, will confider it as meaning, what it is usually conceived to mean. I will not add, by those, who require this declaration: not by the governors of the church, because they cannot properly be faid to require that, which they have no authority to dispense with or alter;

DISCOURSE II. 35 not by the legislature, because their sense we shall never be able to determine, but by the general voice of learned men through the nation.

But if our articles are to be thus explained, will they not be rendered uncertain and useless by a variety of inconfiftent fenses? Where shall we fix the standard of public opinion? Will not every whimfical interpreter find fome followers, whom he may call the learned of the nation; and give the colour of public authority to his own inventions? Without doubt, the method proposed admits some variety of interpretations. And what other does not? The larger its compass is, the more honest men will it comprehend; and perhaps there is no danger, even in times of the greatest freedom and candour, that it should become too wide. But what its limits ought to be, is no part of our inquiry. It is fufficient if we can determine what they are; what difference of judgements is allowed among those, who may nevertheless agree without scruples in the same confession of their faith.

And wherever an article is expressed in fuch general terms, as will fairly contain feveral particular opinions; there certainly it is fufficient for him who fubscribes, to be convinced that some one of these opinions is true. To confirm this, if it be not too evident to receive any confirmation, it has been faid, that this latitude of expression was chosen, on purpose to admit, within the pale of the church, men of various and even opposite principles. And the clergy have been exhorted, by the royal authority, to flut up all disputes, in the general meaning of the articles; that meaning, which, in fome curious points of controverly, persons of every denomination have supposed to be on their fide.

But they are not only general words, which are capable of different interpretations. Such as were originally determinate, by length of time and change of circumstances, may become ambiguous. Custom can take away the force of expressions, or give them a new meaning. And where the original sense is one, the received another, the subscriber is at liberty to use them in either. That he may understand them in their most obvious and primitive

DISCOURSE II.

primitive fignification, will scarce be doubted. And yet, if there is any place for doubt, it can be only here. That he may understand them as they are usually understood, cannot be denied; unless we also deny the meaning of words to be arbitrary and changeable. The payment is honestly made, which is reckoned according to the value the money now bears, however it may have varied fince its first coinage. And truth is then fairly spoken, when each expression has the full weight for which it generally passes. Nor are these changes of the fense unusual, even in our most folemn forms. The passages of the Psalms or other Scriptures, which make a part of our daily devotions, cannot always be applied by every christian, as they were by the writers. And yet nothing could be more contemptible, than to object to them on this account. How unjust then is the charge brought against the English clergy that, having departed from the meaning of their articles, they all continue to subscribe what none believes! The accufation is not only false, but the crime impossible. That cannot be the sense of the declaration, which no one imagines to be the fense;

 $\mathbf{D}_{3}$ 

nor

nor can that interpretation be erroneous. which all have received. With whatever violence it was at first introduced, yet possession is always a sufficient title; and a long and quiet possession renders that title indisputable.

This, indeed, is more than it is necessary to claim. Doubtful pretentions in these difputes are equivalent to the clearest. It is sufficient to justify the use of any explanation, that it has been openly declared, and not generally condemned. And therefore, when an article has been understood, by good and learned interpreters, in a fense, neither the most obvious, nor the most usual; he, who affents to it, is at liberty to follow their guidance, or to join himself to the multitude. When the expressions he must use are ambiguous (and they are made ambiguous by different explanations of them) what he affirms is in part unknown; and, fo far as it is unknown, cannot be false. They, who believe him to have departed from the truth, may blame his want of judgement, not his want of fincerity.

Another use may be made of this variety of interpretations. It may help to explain the nature and force of that affent, which is given

to the articles; to flew that it was never conceived to have fo much rigour, as would exclude all improvements from theology. For as new discoveries have sprung up, new explanations have been gradually framed and adapted to them; and almost every commentator has added fomething to the common stock. And if, among this great variety, a free inquirer should not find all his own opinions, the same liberty of adding to it still remains. It must be used indeed with caution. But every minute difference will not oblige him to diffent; because for the fame reason every interpreter of our articles, and perhaps every thinking man, must have diffented also.

The liberty here mentioned is fuch as cannot be precifely marked out, and is therefore. liable to abuse. But so are many moral rules, which are nevertheless both reasonable and useful: fo are all the rules of civil liberty, which are yet of the greatest importance to the happiness of mankind. And I shall venture to add another observation on this subject, though it may be attended with the fame difficulty. Not only the propositions,

DA

to which we affent, but the affent itself, may be differently understood. The circumstances of the persons, who give it, create this difference. It must be conceived to be given with more folemnity and more exactness by him, who professes to study every branch of religious knowledge, than by one engaged chiefly in other pursuits; by a man of mature judgement, than by a youth just beginning to exercise his reason. It is not necesfary that these distinctions should be made by public authority. The common fenfe of mankind will introduce them. But many of those, who are called upon to subscribe, it is urged, have neither the age nor the learning necessary to make them competent judges of fuch abstruse points; their weakness is imposed upon; they affent before they have examined. And without question these nice casuists could as easily have shewn the impiety of teaching children the creed. A public confession of our faith, they might fav, is a folemn thing; fome parts of it they will not understand till after many years, fome perhaps never. All this would be very true, but very trifling. Every one perceives

that a creed in the mouths of children is not a testimony of their assent. On such subjects they are unable to speak either truth or salfehood: But from those who have advanced a little farther into life, a little more may be expected. They may acknowledge themselves members of the church of England; and declare, that they have no objection to her articles, but a belief of them grounded on the authority of others. And nothing farther, I suppose, does any man conceive to be meant by their subscriptions.

Upon the whole it appears, that, in the approbation we give of the established doctrines, there is much reasonable liberty: That we may understand them in any of those senses, which the general words comprehend, or to which the received interpretation of these doctrines, or the judgements of able interpreters, have extended them: That we are not confined strictly even to this compass; but may allow ourselves, if it seems necessary, to differ as much from former interpreters, as they have frequently done from each other: And lastly, that there is room for various degrees of assent accord-

ing to the various ages and abilities of the subscribers. Well then may we be surprized, when any who call themselves our friends, and the friends of freedom, propose to alter the liturgy and articles, and accommodate them to the prejudices of Diffenters. Such a compliance, once made, would give occasion to perpetual changes; and every change to fresh disputes. For who shall fashion our new fystems? Where are the men, who have no favourite notions to inculcate, no hated herefy to condemn? Or, were men found more learned than our first reformers, and equally moderate, yet would not a constitution newly framed be for that reason less flexible? Time itself seems to have procured for us much of that ease we enjoy. Let us therefore, as far as belongs to us, endeavour to maintain our religious establishment; and let us interpret the conditions of it with that candor, which will allow the greatest room for improvements in facred knowledge, and unite with us the greatest number of fincere protestants.

## DISCOURSE III.

On the Anniversary of the Martyrdom of Charles I.

Lament. of JEREMIAH, iv. 13.

For the sins of her Prophets, and the iniquities of her Priests, they have shed the blood of the Just in the midst of her.

E have been confessing before God, that the crying sins of this nation brought down upon it his heavy judgments; those judgments which for more than a century we have annually deplored. The miferies of the nation were the effects, and are therefore

therefore rightly considered as the punishments, of its sins. That the leaders of the several parties were in their turns highly blameable, cannot be questioned. But without great faults likewise among all ranks, the war either could not have begun, or must soon have ended. In what manner men of each profession, divines, lawyers, courtiers, soldiers, contributed to the miseries of the nation, might be a subject of curious inquiry to the historian and the moralist. The part of it, which most concerns us, is to examine how far the teachers of religion shared the guilt.

The controversies with the Papists, which the Reformation had produced, and those, which afterwards sprung up among the Reformed themselves, had turned men's attention to religious inquiries. There is nothing so trisling, which is not pursued with ardor, if it becomes the subject of a public dispute, and the distinction of parties. But they, who apply pains and diligence in the search of religious truths, are practising a real and important duty; are engaged in the noblest contemplations, which the human mind

can reach; are qualifying themselves for the most useful and most honourable employment, that of inftructing and improving mankind. What wonder then, that many should engage eagerly in those inquiries, where a spirit of emulation, a desire of knowledge, a fense of duty, and a love of mankind, were united with all the motives of passion and interest, which usually mix themselves in every public contention! History justifies this reafoning. A zeal for religion, or rather for certain controverted points of religion, was the characteristic of the age. In such times the Clergy must have had great influence, They who were supposed able to lead men in their favourite pursuit, to gratify their ruling passion, would naturally be chosen as the guides of all their steps, and might certainly have conducted them thither, whither the pursuit itself tended, to virtue and to happiness. But, when, from this zealous attachment to things facred, one might have expected to fee the genuine produce of religion, in every act of their lives, in every fentiment of their hearts: instead of a full harvest of virtue, we gather nothing but poifons;

DISCOURSE III.

47

poisons; the fruits of corrupt morals, of perverted or excessive passions.-Must we then imagine, that all this concern for religion was fictitious, all this zeal hypocrify? The fuppesition is not necessary. Improvements in religious knowledge are not always followed by a like progress in manners. The allurements of sense, the strength of the passions, will fometimes subvert the government of the mind, though fortified by a real regard to God's fervice, though environed by the ftrong wall of fincerity. We find from St. Paul's reproofs of the Corinthians, that even the fupernatural illuminations of the Spirit were not always productive of true virtue. And from the disorderly proceedings of some among them, who were enriched with the best gifts both of wisdom and of faith, we may learn to be less surprized, though not less offended, at those, who abuse more ordinary acquirements, and act not up to the dictates of a less illustrious knowledge.-Or, on the other hand, if we are convinced, that there may be faith without virtue, piety without probity; must we also admit the conclusions drawn from hence, by men of loose prin-

principles, to countenance their neglect of religion? By no means. The observation affords not any real objection to the pursuit of religious knowledge, or the value of such attainments. None of the bleffings of providence fall always into the best hands. We may lament that men fo often misuse what might have been the instruments of happiness to themselves or others; but still those bleffings attract our defires and endeavours not the less forcibly or justly. —The truth is, that religion, as received among men; can neither do every thing, that might be wished or expected from it, nor nothing. The vices of men neither prove them to be infidels, nor their religion useless. A force not sufficient to stem the enraged ocean, may check its rising waves; and that which cannot oppose the madness of the people, may moderate or direct their passions.

But we will not impute to the public instructors the miseries of this kingdom, upon this foundation, that the age was very religious and yet very wicked; unless we find, that the wickedness and the miseries arosefrom corrupt instruction. Religion once perverted

#### 48 DISCOURSE III.

will more fatally deceive us than the influence of the blindest passions. He, who wanders without any guide as whim or accident may lead him, can fcarce go exactly right. But he who is deceived by the guide. in whom he trusts, will infallibly lose his way. When the light, which should direct us, is darkness, how great is that darkness! If they, who at first engaged in the support of defpotifm, supported it, because they had been taught, that despotism is the institution of God, that a monarch is his vicegerent, appointed by bis word, exercifing his authority: If they, who to the last could not be reconciled to our antient constitution, were averse to it, because they believed that kings were given by God in his anger, to scourge the folly of the people, who defired them; and that the only lawful government is a free and perfect democracy: If some, from a false notion of Christian liberty would submit to no earthly power, to no dominion but that of Jesus-Christ: If others, from a false notion of the unity of the Church, would allow no toleration to the Puritans; who in their turn infifted, that it was the duty of the king

4 ,

DISCOURSE III. 45 to punish the idolatry of the Papists with death, and that, on his neglect, it was the duty of his subjects to compel him: If these and various other doctrines, favourable to tyranny, or anarchy, or perfecution. either produced or prolonged the public calamities: then the teachers of religion cannot be acquitted of being accessories to the general guilt. Should we confine our attention to the established teachers in this and the neighbouring kingdom, they would appear not more innocent, though less abfurd. than the enthusiasts, who, in the times of confusion, assumed their office, without any authority, but the eagerness with which

It is remarkable, that, during these contests, the divisions of religion did not in any degree prevent its corruptions. There was often a general consent to some fundamental error, from which conclusions were derived widely different, but equally false. This will fully appear, whilst we enumerate the chief and most pernicious of those mistakes, which commonly prevailed among the contending parties.

the vulgar listened to their paradoxes.

ζ1

And in this enumeration, it is proper to begin, where all the miseries of the nation began, with the opinion, that a particular form of civil government is appointed by God. During the reigns of the king, whose death we commemorate, and his father, this had been the doctrine of the English clergy. Most of them believed the appointed form to be an absolute, hereditary, monarchy; and fome of them admitted all its horrid confequences: that every limitation either of the fuccession or power of the crown is seditious and impious; that the laws are only declarations of the king's will, revocable at his pleafure; and that his subjects have no rights, no properties, which they may justly defend against him. Before the troubles began, the most strenuous affertors of these doctrines were most encouraged by the court. And this encouragement may feem perhaps a juster cause of the war, than any particular instances of oppression. The injuries, it may be thought, were either not grievous, or extended not to many. The claims were univerfal; and threatened the entire destruction of public liberty. Whatever grievances had الله الله been

DISCOURSE III. been complained of, the king feemed willing to redress: But to what purpose was it to redrefs grievances, when the right of repeating them was declared to be unlimited and unalienable? So might the patriots argue. On the other hand, the king, perceiving that the most learned, and, as he would suppose, the witest of his subjects, acknowledged his authority to be without controul, and founded their opinion on the Scriptures, would easily be convinced, that all who attempted to restrain his power, were rebels against God. Thus a contest, which the pen had raifed, the fword only could decide.

• . We may perhaps wonder how these doctrines should be derived from the Scriptures: in which we can discover only general exhortations to submit to government, to honour magistrates, to obey laws; but no description of a particular form of government, no notices of the feveral orders of magiftrates, no declarations by whose consent or authority the laws shall be made or executed. But it is equally wonderful, that the original error, which was first propagated by the flatterers of regal pride, should afterwards

be adopted by its most violent opposers. They also alledged, that only one form of government was agreeable to the will of God, and, what form he had chosen, appeared, they faid, from the fignal fuccess, with which he had bleffed their arms: forgetting that many free states had been subverted by tyrants; and that it is often confistent with the extensive views of the Divine Mind, and subservient to the great ends of his Providence, to permit the prosperity of the wicked, to fuffer good fortune to attend the undertakings of men, whose characters and defigns will not allow us even to imagine, that they can be the proper objects of heavenly favour.

Similar mistakes concerning ecclesiastical policy and the external forms of religion produced still more obstinate contentions. The English clergy had reason to boast that their liturgy was admirably composed, that their canons were useful and not burthensome, that their government was adapted to the model of some of the most antient churches, as much as the difference of times and situations would admit. But they went

farther.

farther. They maintained these, as essential parts of Christianity; at least they maintained, that, their forms being the best that ever were invented, it was the duty of the prince, to compel all his subjects to receive them: not confidering, that God himself, even in the substance of religion, has thought it better to leave men a liberty of choosing, than to compel them ro receive the best. This doctrine, and the influence of the ruling clergy, engaged the king in that dangerous enterprize of introducing the English liturgy and canons, and of supporting the episcopal order, among his northern subjects: an enterprize which proved as destructive to his authority in one kingdom, as his claim of absolute power in the other.

But the king's enemies did not suffer him to enjoy alone these mistakes. As they robbed him of his power, they took with it his ideas of religion. They were not content to have vindicated their own liberty, but would now in their turns restrain others. They now imitated their sovereign; required an uniformity of worship and policy, and propagated by violence their favourite forms.

E 3 Another

Another prevailing and pernicious doctrine denied the force of human laws, in all matters related to religion. Of this the examples are frequent. It may fuffice to mention one. When the king publicly claimed an unlimited power and full supremacy over the church of Scotland, he cited, in support of this claim, not the known and established laws; not any antient usage; not the examples of any of his predeceffors: but the pattern of the kings of Ifrael. And a body of his clergy published a declaration of their opinions, which afferted, that the king would fin highly against God, if he should not assume the supremacy to himself; and that the churches within his dominions would fin equally, if they should refuse to yield it unto him, even though the statutes of the kingdom should deny it. And those in either kingdom, who rejected these pretensions, rejected them, not as interfering with any human ordinances, but as an usurpation of the dominion of Christ, and blafphemy against God. To both parties it would have appeared inconceivable, that on this fide of the Tweed, the King should be

Head and Supreme Governor of the Church; and have no authority over it on the other. And yet, for the decision of this question, we have no command of our Saviour, no apoftolical practice, no example of the primitive Christians in a similar situation: the matter must necessarily be determined by the laws of our country; and the advantages of one constitution above the other are neither so evident, nor fo important, as to justify men in overturning fettlements, or feparating themselves from established order. These remarks might eafily have been applied to other disputes in those times, if the disputants could have allowed, that any thing in religious ceremonies is undecided, any thing, of its own nature, indifferent.

But where both parties denied the obligation of laws, there, with a strange inconsistency, they both maintained the necessity of punishments. It is the duty, they said, of princes and magistrates to enforce true religion. For, each conceiving, that his own was unquestionably the true, this docrine suited his prejudices, and the interests of his party, no less than the other.

E 4 And

And thus all became by turns disobedient to reasonable and useful laws, promoters of. laws tyrannical and abfurd.

Such were the dangerous errors maintained by men of abilities and character. But they were carried to extremes, immediately subversive of all peace and order, by the yulgar and illiterate enthusiasts. The former afferted, that God had once appointed the precise forms of civil and ecclesiastical government. The latter, that he continually appoints not the forms only, but the ministers of his government; that, by the fensible operations of his Spirit, he conducts his elect to their destined offices, and instructs them by what courses they may fulfil his will. The learned casuist had taught, that human ordinances are not obligatory in matters of religion. The vulgar enthusiast went a step farther; he affirmed, that they cannot, in any case, bind the faints, and so discharged himself and his affociates from any attention to the beggarly elements of law and juftice. Some thinking men had instructed magistrates, that it is their duty to punish such as depart from the true church. The vulgar concluded,

concluded, that they likewise might compel men to come in; and, when the confusion of the times gave them power, from a principle of conscience, as they pretended, they pillaged and murdered the worshippers of Baal.

So difficult is it to limit errors! so hazardous is the attempt to make the word of God subservient to the purposes of men! Such miseries arise, either in the natural course of events, or by the just judgements of God, from the corruptions of religion! And, if any fins are the objects of God's fignal indignation, and demand immediate punishments, none seems to challenge them more boldly, than the perverting of religion to the encouragement of ambition and tyranny: both from the heinous nature of the fin itself, and the terrible mischiefs it produces. It is a direct affront to the righteous Governor of the world, to cite his commands in support of injustice and oppression. It is a daring profanation of the religion of the meek and lowly Jesus, to employ it as the engine of ambition or wicked policy. In thole, who are commissioned to explain and inculcate

and order.

Sensible how heinous these crimes are, let us avoid all approaches to them; and let us be thankful to God, who has given us hearts to discern the errors of our forefathers, a constitution formed on the opposite principles, five fuccessive monarchs, who have usually governed according to that constitution, and statesmen who use not religion as the engine of tyranny.

inculcate this religion, every corruption of it is a breach of the most sacred and most important trust. Bad men also, as they proceed in their crimes, find less remorfe within, and fewer restraints without, when they can perfuade themselves, or others, that religion is on their side. They then imagine that the facredness of the end will justify the means; and their fentiments of piety (for even the worst of mankind sometimes feel fuch fentiments) confirm them in their wickedness: or they conceal their practices under the robes of fanctity, and deceive the unwary by that awful appearance. But, if to affront God, to profane religion, to break a facred truft, to give encouragement and power to wicked men, be feverally great offences; how malignant must be the united guilt of them all! Such and so complicated was the guilt of those clergymen, who misreported the doctrines of the Gospel, either to flatter the monarch's lofty notions of his own authority, and perfuade his fubjects to furrender to him their liberties; or to advance the projects of violent and ambitious traitors,

# DISCOURSE IV.

The AUTHENTICITY of the Books of the New Testament.

Preached on WHITSUNDAY.

JOHN XV. 26.

When the Comforter is come, whom I will send unto you from the Father, even the Spirit of truth, which proceedeth from the Father, he shall testify of me.

REFORE the descent of the Holy Ghost, we find the Apostles ignorant of the nature of the Christian Redemption. Notwithstanding the lowly appearance of our Saviour, his quiet and unaspiring temper and

and demeanour, they could not depart from their original Jewish prejudices, but expected a temporal deliverance. Lord, when wilt thou restore the kingdom to Israel? Lord, grant that my two sons may sit, one on thy right-hand, the other on thy left, in thy kingdom. Such, during the life of Jesus, were the expectations of his disciples. And when his death had blasted their ambitious hopes, they feemed to despond, and almost to doubt whether God had not forfaken them. But, soon after, their false notions were corrected, their fears dislipated; their views were enlarged from the fingle people of the Jews to all the nations upon earth, and raifed also from earth to heaven. Thus the promise of our Saviour, expressed in my text, was fulfilled. The Spirit, whom he sent from the Father, testified of him: not only by enabling his disciples, a company of unlettered fishermen, to speak without practice or fludy, to the Parthian and the Libyan, the Arabian and the Roman, nations the most distant in their situation, the most dissonant in their languages; but alfo

but also by bearing witness even to the witnesses themselves, by opening gradually to their minds the whole economy of the Christian dispensation. Of this they had learned but little from the mouth of their master: the hour was not yet come for their full instruction. They were to receive it immediately from heaven. And, having received, they committed it to-writing, for the benefit of Christians in all ages. And this, I conceive, is what we are to understand, when it is faid, that the Holy Scriptures are of divine authority, or were given by the inspiration of God. He, who acquires knowledge not by the use of any natural faculty, neither by immediate perception, nor by reasoning, nor by instruction, but in fome inexplicable, miraculous manner, is inspired. He, who sets down in writing the knowledge so obtained, composes an inspired work\*. There appears to be no intelligible distinction between original reve-

lation

DISCOURSE IV. lation and inspiration. And yet men seem to have entertained an obscure notion of fomething more, otherwise they could not have been perplexed with fo many difficulties concerning the accuracy and perfection of the Scriptures. They contain fome few passages, which appear to have no relation to religion, and many facts, which the writers certainly knew in the ordinary way. Nor does there feem any reason to expect marks of the interpolition of heaven in fuch matters. The great truths impressed upon their minds neither obliterated their former knowledge, nor made it perfect. When they speak, for instance, of a Roman custom, or a Jewish tradition, we are not to imagine that these things were revealed from above, nor to require greater accuracy in their accounts of them, than in other writers, who treat of the affairs of their own age and their own country. When they relate the wonderful events which they had feen and heard, it will be no objection to their credit as human witnesses, that we find in their several histories of the same fact,

<sup>\*</sup> See the same subject further pursued in Discourse XV.

### 64 DISCOURSE IV.

fact, such a variety of circumstances, or of method, as always occurs in other the most exact narrations. Difficulties of this kind could never have arisen, or must have been easily removed, had either the impugners or defenders of the sacred writings formed precise ideas of the nature of inspiration, and attended to its use. This was not to teach men history or philosophy, not to instruct them in the arts of composition, or the ornaments of human learning: but to make them understand and believe the religion of Jesus.

Intending to lay before you, as occasion shall serve, the principal evidences of Christianity, I judged it not improper (and the present solemnity suggested it) to inquire what we are to understand by Inspiration, before we attempt to prove that the Books of the New Testament are the genuine works of inspired writers.

To this proof we will now proceed: and begin with such parts of it as are the least disputable.

First then, we may observe, that the Books of the New Testament have not been forged

DISCOURSE IV.

65

forged in modern times\*, but have been known and received among Christians for many ages. We have not only editions of them from the very birth of the art of printing, but many MSS. much older. Some of them, as is probable, have been preserved more than one thousand years; and all these, though from every part of the Christian world, agree fo nearly in representing the fame text, that, by the various readings collected from them, not a feature of Chriftianity can be difguifed. The very worst MS. extant, as an able critic affures us, would not pervert one article of faith, or destroy one moral precept.—Besides these copies in the original language, we have also many antient versions; some of them in languages, which are not now, and for feveral centuries have not been, spoken in any corner of the globe. And their agreement with each other, and with the prefent text, is a full proof, that the Scriptures, we now read, are the same which were received by the Christian church in the several ages

<sup>\*</sup> See Chapman's Ensebins, p. 332. and the Remarks on Free-thinking, p. 76, 2d Edit.

when these versions were made.—We may next examine the comments which have defcended to us from the Latin and Greek Fathers on most of the Books, and their frequent citations of them all. And these will carry us up to the fourth century, and fatisfy us, that no great alterations have happened fince that period. We find too that they were then considered as old books, and when we step farther back to the earlier Christian writers, we meet with innumerable quotations and references to them; more beyond comparison than can be produced from any other antient writer. For the credit of a whole claffic volume often refts on a few, sometimes on a single small quotation by a writer nearly contemporary. Whereas the passages of the New Testament occur fo frequently, that, if any remarkable verse has not been cited in the early ages, the omiffion is always esteemed among the learned a confiderable difficulty, and brings the authority of the text into question. Thus may we rife through more than fixteen centuries, and collect fuch evidence, as will admit no contradiction, that the Sacred / Volume

DISCOURSE IV.

67

Volume is now the same, which was published soon after the appearance of our religion, and composed by some of its first disciples. And on this immoveable soundation we might build our proof of Christianity, though we were ignorant of the particular writer to whom each book belongs:

But there is no fuch defect in our evidence. We can shew who the writers were, and how they became acquainted with the facts they relate.—And in vindicating the claim of the apostles and evangelists to the works which bear their names, it cannot be improper, though it may not be necessary, to mention an argument, which is allowed to have great force in all fimilar inquiries, namely, their possession. Few very antient authors can produce any better title: And when the possession has been for many ages undisturbed; when those who were most able and most interested to examine the title, allowed it; when even their enemies for a time did not call it in question; it may seem, that a better can scarce be desired. The primitive Christians were certainly much concerned not to be imposed on by spurious

books,

books, and their adversaries would not have failed to object to them, had there been any fuspicions of such mistakes. But Celsus\*, who wrote against Christianity in the second century, and assumed by turns the characters of a Jew and a Heathen, quoted + abundance of paffages from these Books, and constantly attributed them to the disciples of Jesus. Porphyry and Hierocles argued upon the same principles in the two next centuries. And even Julian, who did every thing which fagacious malice could fuggest, or the power of the Roman empire support, to lessen the eredit of the Christian doctrines, never once disputed the genuineness of any part of the New Testament. It must be owned, that an account of their concessions is taken from the answers to them; their own books against Christianity having been totally difregarded, and long fince loft. But this circumstance seems to affect the proof but little, when the inquiry is not with what force

DISCOURSE IV.

they objected, but whether they objected at all. And, if men of all parties, who lived nearest to the time when these Books were published, and were best able to judge of their authenticity, admitted it unanimously; with what colour of reason could it be now disputed, even though we had no direct testimonies concerning it? - But these are neither few nor uncertain.

Clemens the Roman \*, who is mentioned by St. Paul + among his fellow-labourers, has left us a short piece, in which he has expressly cited St. Paul's first epistle to the Corinthians, and fuch discourses of our Saviour as are recorded by three of the evangelists ‡. St. John's gospel probably was not published when Clemens wrote. He seems also to allude to several passages in other Books of the New Testament ||.

Ignatius conversed familiarly with some of the apostles; and was a martyr for our holy

<sup>\*</sup> See Chapman, p. 363.

<sup>†</sup> See these quotations collected by Lardner, in his Ancient Testimonies, ch. xviii. sect. 3.

<sup>\*</sup> See Ep. Clement. ad Corinthios, c. 47.

<sup>+</sup> See Philipp.iv. 3.

<sup>1</sup> Clem. Epist. c. 13. & 46.

<sup>||</sup> See the passages cited by Lardner, in his Credibility of the Gospel History, Part II. Book i. ch. 2.

religion. Learned men have been divided in their opinions about some of the epistles ascribed to him. But, in those which all allow to be genuine, the epistle to the Ephesians is declared to be St. Paul's\*, and expressions are borrowed from ten at least of the other Books.

Polycarp, another martyr, was instructed by the apostles, and knew many who had seen the Lord. In one short letter, the whole which we have of his writing, he cites, or plainly alludes to, more than half the different pieces contained in the New Testament ‡.

All these are clear witnesses, who not only lived at the same time, but were acquainted with the persons of whose books they speak. We need not insist on any other writers of that age. As Christianity spread itself, the books written by its professors increased; and there is not one among them, which does not bear some testimony to the genuineness and authority of the Scrip-

DISCOURSE IV. tures; till we come to the time when the fathers of the church met in councils, and put together that code, which has been ever fince generally received through the Chriftian world. Out of the great number of attestations transmitted to us from the second century, I shall select two, which seem the most considerable, those of Justin the martyr and Irenæus. Justin, in his first Apology for the Christians, which he presented to the emperor Antoninus Pius, mentions the custom of reading in their solemn asfemblies, the Memoirs written by the apostles, and their companions \*: and that, by these memoirs, he means the four Gospels, of Matthew and John, the apostles, and of Mark and Luke, the companions of apostles, is evident, because in other places he has quoted them all +. And this is the testimony not of a private man, but of the whole church, at a time when many among them had converfed with those who received

the Sacred Books immediately from their

authors. In Irenæus we have long and nu-

<sup>\*</sup> See Ign. 1 Ep. ad Ephef. i. 12.

<sup>+</sup> See Lardner, as before, ch. 5.

<sup>\*</sup> See Lardner, ch. 6.

<sup>\*</sup> See Just. Apol. I. sect. 87.

<sup>†</sup> See Lardner, ch. 10.

merous passages from almost all parts of the New Testament\*; so numerous, that his having cited nothing from the epiftles of St. James and St. Jude, is confidered as a proof, that he was not acquainted with them, For those and two or three other of the shortest epistles, and for that written to the Hebrews. the evidence, though more than fufficient to convince a fair inquirer, is not exactly the fame as for the other Scriptures +. But the chief arguments for the truth of our religion are not connected with the determination of these nicer questions; the history of Christ and his apostles, and the proofs of their divine authority, being contained in Books which were never controverted.

And, if credit is to be given to any writings which are to be produced as antient; if the manuscripts, versions, quotations, in every language, and dispersed through every country, are not all counterfeit; if the testimonies not only of contemporaries, but of those who knew the writers, who conversed

### DISCOURSE IV.

with them, who were instructed by them in the subjects of these Books, testimonies given in public, uncontradicted, received with an universal concurrence by friends and enemies, by those who were most concerned to know the truth, and those who were most inclined to dispute it; if all this accumulated evidence does not deceive us; then were the historical works of the New Testament written by the persons to whom they are ascribed; and in them does the Spirit of Truth, which proceedeth from the Father, still testify of Christ.

<sup>\*</sup> See Lardner, eh. 17.

<sup>+</sup> See Chapman, p. 371.

# DISCOURSE V.

The CREDIT due to the SACRED HISTORIANS.

John xxi. 24.

This is the disciple, which testisteth of these things, and wrote these things; and we know, that his testimony is true.

Y last discourse proved to you, that the books of the New Testament are the genuine works of the Authors, to whom they are ascribed. The regular order of the argument for the truth of Christianity, leads me now to fhew, that these Authors are credible

dible witnesses of the facts they relate. It will be convenient to divide these facts; and to consider the events, which are within the common course of nature, and the miracle feparately. Whilst we are examining the former, fome things will offer themfelves to our notice, which have not been commonly attended to, and yet perhaps may help to strengthen the authority not only of the Evangelists, but of other Historians.

I. It feems, that the human genius does not reach fo far as to invent any long and particular narration, which shall have the appearance of truth; to fill up all the circumstances and make them consistent. The meanest critic can distinguish between a history and a romance. And there is no more danger of mistaking the one for the other than of not discerning dreams from real life In both cases we judge upon the same principle. The feries of events, which passes before us, or which is related by the fober historian, is continued and uniform. Whereas dreams or fictions, when extended to any confiderable length, are always unconnected and inconfistent. It must not indeed be as-

ferted.

DISCOURSE V.

77

ferted, that there is no mixture of fable or error in ancient story. Certainly there is much. But falshood can never stand alone. It can only be supported by the real facts to which it is joined. Vain would be the attempt to deceive mankind by any long narrative of remarkable events, put together merely by the force of the imagination. Its misshapen and unnatural productions will not pass for the genuine offspring of truth and nature.—Or if an attempt of this kind can be made with any hopes of fuccess, it must be in the transactions of a dark age or an unknown country. As the scene draws nearer to our view, it becomes impossible wholly to feign the story, difficult even to misrepresent it. The tragic poet, who forms his fable upon fome historical report, but follows it not precifely, though his defign be only to lay hold of the fancy, not to mislead the judgment, and his tale be to pass but for an hour among a willing audience; yet finds it necessary to place them at Thebes or Athens, or convey them back to distant ages, that his departure from truth may not be too apparent. Should he falfify

the public transactions of the present times, the deceit could not be endured. So obstinate are facts, fo hardly are they drawn aside even for a short amusement. With reason therefore do we give full credit to those accounts which have been written and pubfished in the times and places they describe. The contemporary historian was not only more able to inform us rightly; but his misreports, if he had made any, either through ignorance or defign, must have been presently discovered, and his work have fallen into contempt and oblivion.—Again, the testimony of an Author carries still greater force, when he has himself born a part in the transactions he relates. All sufpicion, that he might be deceived, is here taken away; and fuch a writer usually defcribes things more particularly, and enables us more frequently to compare his reports with other reports of the fame events, or of other events in the fame age and country. When we have feveral historians perfectly agreeing in their narratives, no other doubt of their fidelity can remain, but this; whother they have not copied one from another,

or all from the same original. For it is clearly impossible, that they should wander without a guide in the infinite labyrinth of error; and yet all take at every turn the fame direction.—Or if the history we examine be fingle and detached, yet other contemporary writings, which exhibit the manners of the age, the characters of the persons, the laws of the country, the fituation of public affairs, the state of arts and sciences, and numberless other particulars, will all contribute either to establish or destroy its pretensions.

DISCOURSE V.

It will not be difficult to apply these obfervations to the historical parts of the New Testament. If no writer was ever able to give to any long fictions the appearance of truth, or to unite them into a regular and confiftent ftory; then is there nor oom to suspect, that clear, determinate narratives of plain facts, told with all their circumstances, and, as it seems, without disguise, and without reserve, can be, either in the whole or in part, the works of invention. If these be forgeries, then is all criticism vain and useless. The writers of the New Testament lived in the times and places

of which they speak, and then and there the accounts were published. Had they been false, nothing would have been so easy as to confute them. Had they been false, they would have confuted each other. For we have feveral relations of the fame facts. But they are wholly uncontradicted, perfectly confiftent. I speak only of the principal events, not of any minute variations, which may be found or imagined in the different Gospels. But if Jesus Christ did not live in Judea, if he did not declare himself to be commissioned by God, and there teach a new religion, if he did not suffer death, and if, after his death, his disciples did not still adhere to him, and affirm that he was restored to life, then is all historical evidence false and deceitful.-But our evidence is greater than what we usually consider as historical. We have the letters of the first propagators of Christianity to the Churches they had planted. Thefe letters, without afferting, plainly suppose, many of the principal facts. And the proof, as being indirect, is the more convincing. From that time to the prefent we have a continued series of Christian writers, and conti-

nued notice of the Christians and of their rel gion in writers not favorable to them of every country and in every language. If these things do not convince us, that Christianity was taught at the time, and by the perfons, mentioned in the New Testament. that it was presently spread over the Roman empire, and received, as a divine meffage, by great numbers in all places, who embraced it with conflancy themselves, and transmitted it carefully to their children; then may we with equal reason reject all antient books as forged, all written testimony as utterly incredible.—But we will produce one degree of evidence farther. Many facts recorded in the New Testament have a plain reference to the laws and customs of the Lews and Romans; and could not have been described, much less invented, with such an exact correspondence to these laws and customs, but by those who lived under them. The same laws, the same ceremonies, are still conferred by the Jews in every country. And the laws of Rome, though no where mainrained entire, have been the grounds of the municipal laws in fome of the greatest and

DISCOURSE V.

most polished states of Europe, and considerable parts of them are now in force in these kingdoms. But, if it be impossible to perfuade whole nations, civilized and learned nations, or a numerous people differfed through every region of the earth; to receive, as rules and practices derived from their ancestors, what had never before been heard of among them: then have we such a confirmation of the Gospel history, as thews, among what people, and under what government, many of the facts related there must have happened; not taken from the records of former times, but from a view of the present, not from the private tradition of fingle witnesses, but from the unquestionable testimony of public transactions. There remain other memorials of the age and countries in which Christianity was first preached, which might supply other proofs of many parts of its history; and these proofs well deserve our attention, though the facts, to which they relate, have feldom been difputed by the adversaries of Christianity. For the certainty of many things, mentioned in the Gospels, will give a credit to the rest. G

It will produce a reasonable prejudice against any objections that may be offered to the miracles there recorded.

II. In support of these miracles the Defenders \* of our religion have fully shewn, that we have not the least reason to suspect the relators of them, either to have been deceived themselves, or wilfully to have deceived others: that the wonderful works reported by them are usually the plain objects of men's fenses, in which it was not possible for those to be mistaken, who affirmed that they faw or heard them; that the Evangelists were either themselves present at these great events, or received the accounts immediately from those who were; that their integrity appears both from their writings and their conduct; from their writings, because they relate openly, what infincere and artful men would have endeavoured to conceal, the poor and mean condition of their Master, the contempt with which he was treated, the ignominious death he fuffered, their own low employments, their ignorance,

mistakes,

## DISCOURSE V. 83

mistakes, foolish contentions and cowardice; from their conduct, because with no other view but that of instructing mankind in virtue and religion, they exposed themselves to perils and hardships of every kind, and neither stripes, nor imprisonments, nor the apprehensions of instant death, could prevail on them to depart from their testimony.

- These arguments, as they are common, so are they both just and important. But they do not represent all the evidence. The truth of our religion rests not wholly on those few witnesses, who have transmitted to us the history of its first promulgation. It is not neceffary that a man's testimony should have been written with his own hand. If his friends and companions published accounts of miracles, and named him as present when they were performed, this furely was to call him forth as a witness; and his adherence to the fame company, his profession of the religion, which these miracles confirmed, was a clear declaration of his affent. Thus the twelve Apostles, who are named in the Gospels, as the constant attendants of our Saviour, are witnesses to us of all his won-

G 2

derful

See particularly Bp. Blackall's 5th Sermon, preached at Boyle's Lecture.

derful works. And fo many of his followers as are recorded to have been healed of difeases, or to have been present at any of his miracles, are also witnesses of those particular facts. Nor does it feem necessary that the witness be named; it is sufficient, if he be so described, that he must at the time have been certainly known. The feventy, whom our Saviour selected from the rest of his disciples, and fent into the cities and towns, to preach and to work miracles, from the nature of their office could not be concealed; and the account given of them by the Evangelists is the same thing as producing them to testify the powers they had received. We might add to these the greater part of those five hundred, who were affembled together, and faw their Master after his resurrection: and perhaps of the five thousand whom he fed in the wilderness. But why should we increase the number so slowly? Every convert to our religion in the early times (during the lives of the Apostles at least, if not much later) is a witness, who should have considerable weight in our account. Christianity was received

DISCOURSE V. on the evidence of miracles, either real or pretended. It was not only the duty, but the interest, of every man, before he embraced it, to examine them. The examination lay open, the matters were public, the miracles were continually repeated. All must be fenfible that, if they were deceived, they should exchange every thing valuable in this life for a fable. In such cases men are not inclined to be convinced too hastily. Great numbers, however, were convinced; and each is indifputably a better witness than we can usually produce for other remote facts.

What can be added to all these proofs of our religion, but an appeal to its enemies? Such an appeal is plainly made by the facred historians, when they relate events. of which the truth or falshood must be univerfally known. Whether, at the crucifixion of Jesus, an unnatural darkness was spread over the whole land; whether vast numbers. collected at Jerusalem from every corner of the earth, heard the Apostles suddenly speak to them, each in their own language: were matters, of which neither the Jews, nor the

Romans living among them, could be ignorant. And what fay their writers? Some, from whom accounts of these striking events might have been expected, are silent; others acknowledge that strange things happened, but impute them to magic, or unknown causes; none contradict the reports of our historians; many speak of the amazing obstinacy of the Christians, and the rapid progress of their superstition; which is indeed to testify, that the Christians were fully convinced of the truth of their religion, and were able also to convince others\*.

Upon the whole it appears, that the clearest rules of criticism, the strongest historical testimony; the whole force of written evidence, of private and public records; the attestation given to the miracles of our religion by greater numbers than ever concurred in any other facts; by friends and enemies; by friends, who openly confessed them against their interests, and persisted in their confession even against the terrors of death; by enemies who were forced to believe them against their pre-

\* See Lardner's Ancient Testimonies.

judices,

pudices, and to admit the facts whilst they denied the plainest consequences of them; that all this accumulated evidence gives us such an assured considence in the reports of the Evangelists, as may not improperly be expressed by saying, We know that their testimony is true.

ja literatur (j. 1911)

G 4 D I 5-

### DISCOURSE VI.

The Insufficiency of Mr. HUME's Objection to the Credibility of Miracles.

### Acts xvii. 32.

And when they heard of the Resurrection of the Dead, some mocked; and others said, We will hear thee again of this matter.

ST. Paul, in his discourse to the Athenians, on that fundamental doctrine of Christianity, the Resurrection to a final judgement, appeals to the testimony of a fact, and alledges our Saviour's return from the grave, as giving assurance to all mankind

DISCOURSE VI. 89

of their own future existence. His philosophical hearers, we are told, were partly Epicureans and partly Stoics; and the reception they gave to his inftructions was agreeable to the prejudices which each feet had imbibed: the disciples of the garden, as is probable, being those, whose physical tenets disposed them to ridicule the very thought of a Refurrection; and the students of the porch, those less insolent hearers, who, being unable to refift the force of his reasoning, and unwilling to fubmit to it, defired a farther account of fo extraordinary an opinion. The apostle however, as it seems from the following part of the history, did not gratify them: but left the Greeks to footh their learned vanity, by casting the imputation of foolishness on doctrines they could so little relish or comprehend. And yet neither they who doubted, nor they who mocked, were, by the principles of their schools, so far from the kingdom of God, as fome among the infidel philosophers of modern times. The Epicureans admitted as true the relations of some miraculous events; but endeayoured to shew, that they were not contrary

trary to nature. The Stoics believed the reality of events, which they confessed to be supernatural, and considered as the interpolitions of Providence for the good of mankind. Here then the field of conviction was wide and open; and among the others it was not absolutely precluded. But how shall the advocate of Christianity address himself to, or reason with, those subtle disputants, who refuse to affent to facts the most strongly attested, if they are not such as experience warrants; who would teach us to reduce all. human testimony to the precarious standard of our particular knowledge and observation? Vain is every inquiry into the abilities, the dispositions, the motives, the number, of the witnesses, by whom the miracles of Christ have been transmitted to us; if the very nature of the facts renders them incapable of proof. And, though each of these particulars should appear to be such, as might fatisfy the most scrupulous examiner; it would be unfair not to attend to an argument; which, if it be conclusive, destroys. the efficacy of them. all. Truth can never want, and should always disdain to accept, 艾拉拉

DISCOURSE VI. 91 fuch fuspicious favours. The objection therefore shall be fully stated, and fairly considered.

"It is evident, fays this objector, that the credibility of a fact depends not entirely on the number, the qualifications, and dispositions, of those who relate it: since, where thefe are all equally unexceptionable, the degree of credibility is allowed to be very different. Let a man of common understanding relate to us an usual event; for which he alledges the clear and undisturbed evidence of his fenses: if we know of no purposes he has to serve, no passions to indulge, by leading us into error; and if we have no reason to suspect the truth of his relation from opposite testimony; we readily. yield him our affent. Yet change but the fact, which is familiar to our apprehensions, into one of the marvellous kind, and a number of fuch witnesses would find it difficult to convince us. Nay, a degree of external evidence, which in common cases would be admitted without a doubt, by increasing the repugnancy of the thing related to our obfervations and opinions, may not only lose all

. . . .

9Ž

its probability, but we may even have full conviction that it is false; conviction founded upon those very principles which induce us to affent to human testimony. The expe. rience we have, that men do not generally deceive us in their narratives, is the foundation of the credit we give them. The ex. perience we have of the constant uniform course of nature produces an expectation of the fame regularity in the parts untried. The affent is determined in the two cases by the same principles: and when they draw iton opposite sides, the superior force must prevail. But the experience of nature being continual and unvaried, whilst that of the veracity of human testimony is weakened by many exceptions of fraud or mistake, the latter can never overcome the former; and therefore no attestation of witnesses, however able and honest they may appear, can convince a

just reasoner of a miraculous event." Every part of this objection abounds with ambiguity and fallacy. When experience is made the fole criterion of truth, must we understand by it our own experience, or that of others? If our own, at what period of our lives? Must he, who has lived twenty years without feeing an ecliple of the fun. or a comet, reject the accounts of them as fabulous? or he, who has not dwelt near Vesuvius, believe nothing of its fiery eruptions? There are many real facts, so oppofite to the experience of those to whom they may be related, that, if they govern their affent by that experience, they will certainly look upon them as falle. Some of these events are regularly repeated: while others are more fingular and unconnected; in judging of which from the principles of analogy, the most comprehensive knowledge of nature would be deceived. For though we are continually enlarging our experience. and correcting the judgements formed by it; yet is it still confined to few objects, and open to many uncertainties, and errors. We frequently give credit to the relations of others, though they correfound not with it, and our after-experience convinces us, that the credit was just .- Or is it the experience of others which must be our opinions? This can only be known to us by testimony; and it must overther itself. 04

Again, it is difficult to conceive in what fense miracles are said to be repugnant to experience. Several relations of the same sact may be inconsistent; but unconnected sacts, how different soever, are not repugnant to each other. You have never, for example, selt an earthquake. Yet the man, who asserts that he selt one, in a distant country, or before you were born, does not contradict your experience. You have never known a dead man restored to life. Yet the witnesses of such an event cannot be resulted by your ignorance.

DISCOURSE VI.

But nature, we are told, is uniform and unvaried in her operations. This either prefumes the very point in question, or touches not those events, which are supposed to be out of the course of nature. And the conclusion established upon it, that, from our observations of this regularity, we may conwich of falsehood all accounts that do not coincide with it, is wholly without foundation.—But let us examine it a little more particularly. The probability of facts, derived from experience, admits all the degrees and changes that are conceivable. An event once observed, leaves an expectation in the mind, that it may happen again. The repetition of the same event raises that expectation continually, till it mounts to a probability, or even moral certainty. But every change of circumstances, even distance alone, whether of place or time, weakens the force of analogy; and our fhort and feanty experience produces, after fuch removals, a proportionably lower affurance of the regularity of events. That the motion of the heavenly bodies will be the fame to? morrow as to-day, may be confidered as . almost

But, should we admit the principle, on which this objection is founded, that the: laws of the universe are constant

and

DISCOURSE VI.

and unchangeable, it would not justify us in rejecting the evidence of miracles. For may not miracles, though deviations from the general rules oftablished here, be parts of a higher and more general course of nature? May it not be agreeable to the established laws of a moral government, that God, for the instruction of his creatures, should suffer some of the laws of the natural world to be suspended? To enable us to judge whether this be according to the parder of the universe, we ought to see and examine many like cases. But where shall they be found? We know of no revelations. which God has made of himfelf to mankind, but those recorded in the Old or New Testament. Now these are all established on fimilar proofs. They stand united in themfelves, separated from all other events. If you would fearch for circumstances of resemblance, you must pass to some other planet and view other systems of rational beings\*. The experience of what has happened on this our earth, will afford no ground for a comparison: and yet, without many such companions, it is impossible to determine, that

<sup>\*</sup> See Bp. Butler's Analogy, Part II.

£ . . . . . .

visible world, are contrary to the rules of God's universal government.

Here then we might rest the Christian cause; content with having proved, that the miracles, by which it is supported, and for which there are such abundant testimonies. are not in their nature incredible. But perhaps a thinking man may go a little farther, and demonstrate (what must not only remove all these objections from analogy, but fet them on the fide of religion) that one miracle, at least, has been wrought. For was not the creation of mankind a miracle? Certainly it was, in the strictest and most proper fignification of the word; if the human race be not as old as the material world. But, if man and all the laws of nature had their birth together, then the late origin of these laws must greatly lessen any prejudice against their interruption.

But whilst we disallow the judgements formed from experience concerning facts unknown, do we not weaken the principal evidence on which our religion is established? Is it not experience alone, which gives ftrength DISCOURSE VI.

ftrength to testimony? Do we not admit or reject the witness of any fact, as we have found that other men in like circumstances have rarely or usually deceived us? Experience is, without question, the general foundation of credit. But the force of united testimonies depends not wholly upon it. When the expectation arifing from a fingle witness is known, the degree of affurance produced by a number is subject to a precise calculation; though the number be greater than we have ever heard attest the fame fact. Thus, if the relation be of fuch a nature, and the fingle witness of fuch a character, that the mind is exactly balanced, and remains in perfect doubt; then may it be strictly demonstrated, upon the clearest mathematical principles, that, if ten fuch witnesses agree in their report, the probability of its truth exceeds more than a thoufand times, and, if twenty agree, more than a million of times, the probability of its falsehood. But, should we endeavour to collect the fum of all the probabilities for the truth of Christianity, we should foon be stopt by the immensity of the numbers; and

H 2

flould

#### DISCOURSE VI. 100

should find the difficulty like that of answers ing the old inquiries, by how many accidental casts of the twenty-four letters the Hiad might be formed, or in what time the fortuitous jumble of atoms would produce an animal. And, as the impossibility of refolving these questions affords the strongest proof of defign and wisdom in the creation; so the difficulty in the other may help us to conceive that mass of evidence, by which the Christian religion is confirmed.

But, without this nice inquiry, even upon the principles of our adversaries, our faith must remain secure. For, unless it can be shewn, that some let of men, equal in number to the witnesses of the refurrection, and possessed of equal opportunities of knowing the truth, have yet been deceived in plain facts, about which it was fo much their interest not to be deceived; or have concerted a fraud, from which they had fo little to hope, and fo much to apprehend: unless one of these suppositions can be proved, (and both of them the advocates of Christianity have often confuted) we may fairly conclude, that there is incomparably better evidence

# DISCOURSE VI.

for the refurrection of Christ from external testimony, than against it from its unlikenels to other events. For, the degree of external evidence, by which it is confirmed, has never misled mankind; but the principle of unlikeness does often, and must necessarily, deceive them. The legitimate use of this principle is to form a judgement, not of events unlike, but of events like, to our experience; not to decide, that the former never happened, but to ground an expectation, that the latter may happen hereafter. And this use was made of it by the apostle, when he argues, that Jesus, by rising from the dead, became an unquestionable witness of a general resurrection.

H 3

विकालकार रिक्ट स्थानिक स्थानिक स्थानिक स्थानिक DIS-

## DISCOURSE VI

The Use of Miracles in proving the Divine Mission of our Saviour and his Apostles.

Preached on WHITSUNDAY.

JOHN v. 36.

The works that I do, bear witness of me, that the Father hath sent me.

THOUGH our Saviour frequently appealed to the reason of mankind, in support both of his mission and his doctrines; yet it was not his practice to explain particularly or minutely the nature and force of the

DISCOURSE VII. 103 the arguments he alledged. He referred to certain general principles, just in themselves, and fuited to the habits of thinking in the country where he preached. But he left every scrupulous inquiry into the foundation of these principles, and an exact application of them to the proofs of his religion, to be an exercise for the inquisitive and ingenious in other countries and distant ages. And a most useful exercise have they proved; engaging the attention of his ferious followers in many difficult studies, and thus connecting together religion and science. Nor are the subjects yet exhausted. Even in that most common and most important argument, which demonstrates the truth of Christianity from the miracles recorded inthe New Testament, one part has been flightly passed over by the ablest advocates of religion. They have laboured, indeed, and with great fuccess, to establish the truth of these records, but have been less solicitous to explain their use. They have taken it for a clear point, which wants no illustration, that a power of working miracles is fufficient evidence of a commission from heaven. And H 4

### 194: DISCOURSE VIL

And even infidels have usually allowed, that a revelation might be thus confirmed. But a cautious inquirer admits not haftily either the affumptions of friends, or the concessions of enemies. He examines both with equal jealoufy, and receives, on the one part or the other, fuch apinions only as his own reason justifies. Let us proceed with this hanest care, and endeavour to discover on what grounds we may admit the miracles of au Saviour and his apostles, supposing them to be true, as proofs of their divine million, 1. Are we to receive the interpretation of these wonderful works, upon the authority of those, who were, or appeared to be, the performers of them? is there reason to believe, that they knew the true meaning of them, and have fairly explained it to us? 2. Or, have miracles in general any natural figmification, by which they declare to mankind the will of their Creator? 3. Or, arethere, among the Christian miracles, some of a peculiar kind, which could hardly be intended for any other, and were fully adapted to this, purpole? 4. Or, may we judge of the design from the effect of them? Ought

DESCOURSE VII. 10

we to be convinced that God's intention was, by these miracles, to propagate Christianity, because it was actually thus propagated?

5. Or, did the circumstances attending the performance of some miracles, plainly shew, that, besides their natural import, they had also an instituted one, and were properly signs or expressions, revealing the will of God to mankind?

The answers to, these five inquiries will each, I thinks discover a strong connections between the miracles and doctrines of Chails which must, samuely form an imdissoluble; bond I am a series and out to more

who performed these wonderful works, had knowledge and power more than belong to mortals: fuch knowledge and power as most wholly prevent all the doubts that might have arisen, from their teaching documes which could never be investigated by any faculties of the human mind, or from their assuming authority to publish the laws and disclose the mysteries of heaven. For, when we are convinced, and every man who attends to their history will be convinced, that some

#### ro6 DISCOURSE VIL

fome kinds of knowledge were miraculously conveyed to them, we have no reason to reject their pretentions to inspiration of other kinds. Their own testimony may then be received as good evidence of a matter, which, from the fact already admitted, independent: of the characters of the witnesses, is become highly probable. When we are convinced that they had power to fuspend or alter the established laws of nature, we must consider them as peculiarly favoured by the Author of nature, and shall eafily allow the title! they claimed of his Heralds; commanded to promulgate other parts of his laws. This is: agreeable to our method of judging in a thousand like cases. We perpetually believe, upon the flightest evidence, facts similar to those we have experienced; and they who: have feen many incontestable proofs of wife dom and power, never before given among men, could not suspect any deceit, when the same persons alledged; that they possessed other treasures of supernatural knowledge, other portions of divine authority. We therefore need only recollect, what has been often urged by the defenders of Christianity, DISCOURSE VII.

concerning the witnesses of the facts on which it is founded; their number, their interrity, their ability to know the truth, their motives to declare it. These have been all ferupulously examined, and appear to be fuch as must render their testimony of the most extraordinary stories indisputable. But the same arguments might be repeated here with great advantage. For these uncommon facts required an uncommon force of testimony to support them. Whereas, the facts being once supposed, the whole force of analogy will lie on the other fide. A communication with heaven is acknowledged, and whatever explains the nature and defign of that communication should meet with a ready admittance. For it would be inconfistent with the plainest rules of philofophical reasoning, to give our affent to those, who relate a series of astonishing events; and not to receive, on the credit of the same witnesses, an easy solution of them.

But this testimony, however forcible, would yet be no other than human testimony; and miracles are usually confidered as

## TOS DITS TO OUR SE VII.

the testimony of God. Let us inquire, who ther these pretentions can be vindicated. 2. The obvious and certain effects of mi. racles among the most barbarous people is the excite the paffrons, of fear and wonder, and curiofity; and to make them attend to the persons endowed with these powers, as beings superior to themselves, as gods that are come down in the likeness of men. But, among those whom reason has taught to acknow. ledge One Supreme being, the Creator and Preferver of the universe, these events will certainly be attributed to Him, as their inmediate Author, and be confidered as notice from Him, which demand attention and reserence. Such, it should feem, would be the imprefions of miracles upon every understanding. And if the impressions be natural, then are they the warning voice of God. He calls upon us in this, as in various other examples, by the faculties he has given us, to liften to his laws. The confitution of our minds is the declaration of his will. And the evidence, which we cannot crefift without violence, is fuch as He commands us to receive.

3. Thefe

DISCOURSE VII. 109

3. These natural apprehensions may be confirmed, if we attend to the apparent defign of the miracles. They reveal God's will the more clearly, when they are such as can answer no other purpose worthy of the interpolition of Providence. The greatest part of our Saviour's miracles were indeed marks of his benevolence. But their immediate effects were not illustrious or extensive. All the miferies he relieved were perhaps small, when compared with those which men often suffer from a war, a famine, or a pestilence. And yet the laws of nature are not changed, to prevent or mitigate these callamities. The government of the world is carried on by general laws. Some good real fons for fuch a government appear to us. Many more and better we may be unable to discover. And, though these laws be sometimes productive of unhappiness to particular persons; they are not, they ought not, on this account; to be altered by a wife governor, who regards the whole. When therefore many changes in them were observed, there was reason to expect some more contract the contract of the c

## 110 DISCOURSE VH.

important, more extensive benefit, than the supply of a meal, or the cure of a disease.

But, to convince us more fully, that the relief of present evils was not the principal defign of our Lord's miracles, several of them were not accompanied with any fuch benefit. If his word restored the withered limbs of men, it also caused a fig-tree to wither away. He calmed the fea to fave a finking ship; he walked upon it, and supported one of his disciples, without any such necessity. An earthquake and a miraculous darkness extorted from the centurion and his companions a confession, that truly this man was the fon of God. And of many of the miracles, we are utterly unable to find the meaning, unless it were to imprint the same important truth.

In other instances the design is evident, In none more evident, than in the occasion of this day's solemnity. To what purpose were the apostles inspired with new knowledge, and suddenly enabled to utter it in every language, but that they might preach, among all the nations upon the earth, the religious doctrines thus communicated to

them?

DISCOURSE VII. 111

them? Could a divine commission to instruct mankind have been written in more legible characters? With what design were they taught languages, unless that they might speak them? And what had they of importance to speak, but the truths revealed from heaven? The words they uttered were, in a strict and proper sense, the language of God; and the religion they taught was not their own, but his who authorized and enabled them to publish it. Other miracles confirmed the authority of the teachers. These had a more direct reference to the doctrine itself.

4. But we need not confine our reasonings on this subject to the nature of the facts. For though we seem to proceed with tolerable exactness, there will always remain some room to suspect, that their nature is beyond our comprehension. We will examine an argument of another kind, to which we are more accustomed, and on which many a tenet in natural religion, many a received principle in philosophy, depends. Some of the clearest maxims in both these sciences are those which relate to final causes. When

we perceive the works of nature to be admirably adapted to certain ends, which they produce frequently and uniformly, we conclude with the fullest affurance, that these were designed by their Author. And, in like manner, it being once established, that the Christian miracles were real, that is, interpolitions of the Governor of the world, the purpose for which they were personned may be differented from the revent. In the works of the Almighty, every thing settlefonds to his intention. Nothing is done in vain. But the event was that vaft numbers in every nation were presently converted from idelator and superstition, to a firm belief of Chailbianity. And that which was the immediate effect, was certainly the stree design, of these wonderful works. The iwhole world is under the government of God, and nothing happens without his permission. But the difference between his permission and defign, is not obscure. The events which arife, in a natural order, from the laws established by God at the creation, or from his perceivable interpolition in burnan affairs, must be acknowledged as his . defigns.

DÍSCOURSE VII. 113

designs. Such as proceed from the uninfluenced choice of free agents, are only permitted by him. When the followers of Mahomet tell its, that the fuccess with which he propagated a new religion, proves it to be agreeable to the will of God, the argument has no foundation. Nothing, we confess, can happen in the universe, which it is not agreeable to the will of God to permit. But the proofs of his deligns can be derived only from his own actions. Success alone is no evidence of his approbation. The rapid progress of a religion can never prove its truth; though it may be sufficient, when the religion is proved by miracles, to confirm their history, and explain their design.

And what farther evidence of the purpose, for which miracles were performed, can either be wished or conceived? The testimony of the authors, the nature of the facts, their fitness for one purpole, and unfitness for any other, the effects that followed, all unite in the same explication of them. Nothing could be added to these abundant proofs, pnless it were the express, the direct, testimony of God himself. Even that is not wanted.

5. Mi-

115

that thou hast heard me. And I knew, that thou hearest me always: but because of the people which stand by, I said it, that they may know, that thou hast fent me. Here then the defign of the miracle is openly professed. It is asked of God, as a testimony to the people, that Jesus Christ was his messenger: and God gives his affent to the meaning affixed to it, by immediately performing the miracle. A fuller declaration of affent could not have been expressed. The miracle had exactly the fame import with the words pronounced from heaven; This is my belaved . son; bear ye bim. And St. John concludés justly, that they who reject the Christian revelation, have made God a liar; not believing the testimony; which he gave of his son.

Thus has the great Lord of the universe submitted to an intercourse with his reasonable creatures; requiring of them none but a reasonable service, a service which springs from conviction, a zeal according to knowledge. He has not only given them saculties, to weigh and examine the pretensions of those, who come to them in his name; but has encouraged them in the free use of

2

thôfe

### THE DISCOURSE VIT

those faculties, by repeated promises of electual evidence. Every man, who will do the will, shall know of the doctrine, whether be of God. He, who cultivates in himself a readiness to understand, and a resolution to practife, what religion requires of him. their never be destitute of instruction. He, who bungeteth and thirfleth after righteoufness, That certainly be filled. The influence of the Holy Spirit, joined to his own pious atten. tion, will quicken his fagacity in the dife. very of the truth; enabling him to form just conclusions himself, and to understand and diffinguish them when let before him by others.

Such are the effects upon our minds of the divine affiltance, in our fludy of Christianity; and by these effects only can that affistance be differred. They who expect to feel, or fancy that they have felt, the guidance of the Holy Spirit, mistake the nature of his ordinary operations. The Scriptures no where declare, all our experience of God's government forbids us to imagine, that a miracle is continually repeated, not for the great purpose of instructing or amending mankind,

DISCOURSE VII. but to give to the particular favourites of heaven, fuch an affurance of falvation, as tends to render them indifferent about the only means of obtaining it, the study and practice of religion. God's promises of aid and comfort must be understood, as his other promifes of providing for us food and raiment: neither of them extends to the vicious or the idle, neither of them is fulfilled by extraordinary interpolitions; but they were intended as encouragements to activity and industry, both in our temporal and spiritual pursuits.

# DISCOURSE VIII.

Of the EVIDENCE arising from the PROPHECIES of the OLD TESTAMENT.

MATTHEW ii. 2.

Where is he that is born king of the fews? For we have seen his star in the east, and are come to worship him.

SUCH was the language of the Eastern Magi, whose devotion had led them to Jerusalem to attend the birth of our Saviour. They were men of a religious order among the Persians, no less eminent for their knowledge of nature, and particularly of the appearances

### DISCOURSE VIII. 11

pearances in the heavens, than for the confideration and rank which they held in the state. The costly presents they brought, proved at once their riches and the fincerity of their conviction. Of the latter indeed there could be no doubt, by whatever means it was produced; as it had determined them to perform a pious pilgrimage into a distant and hostile nation, in order to testify the revelation they had received, and pay a religious homage to the new-born prince, Religious it certainly was, if they were called to it by a fummons from heaven; a fummons given, as they conceived it, by the appearance of a star, and explained by the predictions of the ancient Jews. The prophecies of the Old Testament were not unknown in the East. And the title King of the Jews was undoubtedly taken from those writings, and was defigned by the wife men, as it was applied by the Jewish people, to fignify their promifed Saviour, the Messiah, or Christ. So Herod, who then filled the throne, under-For he immediately gathered stood it. the chief priests and scribes together, and demanded

### 120 DISCOURSE VIII.

demanded of them, where Christ should be

But what mest we think of the reason which these travellers gave for their enquiry? They had feen his star in the eaft. Must we therefore be led to credit the exploded science of judicial aftrology? Or, as the cavillers at revelation would perfrade us, reject the argument of these sages, as a mere chiming the whimfical conclusion of Chaldean footh fayers? The rational inquirer will do nother the one nor the other. For, though the common pretences to predictions and declafacions from the stars be groundless and asfurd; yet the judgement of there aftronomers may have been just and conclusive. The Observation of the heavens was the favourse amusement of Eastern nations. They fift discovered, and marked out, the different motions of the fun, moon, and stars, their periods and the tules of their appearance. In all this was science and certainty; and the -learned of later ages have been benefited by their studies. But on this folid knowledge curiolity, or superstition, had hung the weak appendage of Aftrology; and the cafual events DISCOURSE VIII. 121

of human life were conceived to be connected with, and fignified by, the appearances of the heavens. Here was error only and illusion; which, as just reasoning and true philosophy grew up and flourished, gradually withered away, and is now entirely neglected and forgotten. Whereas the science of Astronosmy is both folid and useful. The Rudy of it not only furnishes our minds with real knowledge; it prepares them also, and more perhaps than any other, for religious contemplations. It opens and enlarges our conrepaions of the immerife extent, the distant connexious, the regular and perpetual government, of the creation; and consequently of the power, wildom, and goodnels, of the Creator. And this influence of it feems, in forme fort, to be confirmed by the example before us. For we may regronably believe that, of all the gentile world, their minds were -best prepared for the reception of the Gospel, -to whom it was first communicated, and who first came to worship its divine Author. Now, supposing in those nations such a general disposition to contemplate the heavens, and that God had purposed to reveal

But

### DISCOURSE VIII. 123

But may we allow ourselves to imagine that the God of truth would build the evidences of his revelation on error; and, because the warm imaginations of certain fanciful prophets had connected the rifing of a bright star with the nativity of a hero, would fignify the birth of his fon by a miraculous appearance of the same kind? The difficulty deserve a serious answer. We will proceed to it by degrees. Perhaps, in all our reasoning, there are so many defects, such a mixture of uncertainty and falshood, that to the all-discerning eye of God there may be little difference between our firmest and weakest conclusions. Possibly it may be of no great importance to the happiness of mankind to judge right in questions of philosophy. But whether it be important or not, certainly men have fallen into many mistakes of this kind, which the Gospel has not attempted to correct. And there feems to have been no reason why these mistakes should not be applied, if they could be applied, to support truth. For, fince it is the usual method of God's providence to bring good out of evil, why may we not also believe, that He sometimes conducts,

#### NZ4 DISCOURSE VIII.

conducts men to truth through error? The error, indeed, must not make a necessary part of the argument. For then the whole would be followers. But it may excite attention to a just and folid proof, without any imputation on the wisdom, or the veracity, of its author. Thus, in the example we are considering, the circumstance on which the whole exidence refles is the nature of that extraordinary light by which the eastern travellers. were conducted. And the history clearly shews atto be mizaculous. A real flar, we know, in its regular motions, could not have pointed out a certain country, much less a single village, or a particular house. But a miraculous light, which moved towards, and stood over, the habitation of the heavenly infant, was equally a proof of his divine mission; whether the opinion, entertained, as we may suppose, by these sages, that the rising of an uncommon star denoted the nativity of some emment person, were the genuine dictate of nature, or the spurious offspring of fancy and folly,

gress in examining the arguments for the truth

DISCOURSE VIII. 125 south of Christianity taken from the completion of ancient prophecies. Learned men thave thought, that feveral of the passages cited from them by the Evangelists, thad mot originally the fame fense, in which they are applied. And, amidst the obscurity of those writings, and the short and imperfect thisacries of the times when they were composed, it may not always be teasy to idetermine, which of them related to the Mediah. But it will be equally available to corriporpole to discover, which of them were lo applied by the Jows, ibefore the isoming of Christ: For, if the number and mature of the predictions, which they understood of the Messiah, be such, that neither art nor accident could fulfil them; then have weathe fame evidence of God's interpolition for their accomplishment, whether they under-Atood them rightly or mot: The minacle confilts in the correspondence of the events with the expectations, and it is not necessary to inquire, whence these expectations were derived. It is the less necessary, because the argument from ancient prophecies is intended chiefly to convince the Jews, who still adher**e** 

### 126 DISCOURSE VIII.

adhere to the same interpretations of them, and believe them to relate to the yet suture kingdom of their expected Messiah. Let us therefore attend to the descriptions of this kingdom, and examine how far Christianity answers them. We shall then be able to determine, whether Jesus had a fair claim to that title, by which the wise Men enquired for him, of King of the Jews.

And first, the extent of that empire, of which the Messiah was to be the Founder and Governor, is described in remarkable terms. All \* nations, say the prophets, shall slow unto it; all + people and nations, and languages shall serve him; the ‡ Heathen shall be his inheritance, and the uttermost parts of the earth his possession; his dominion shall be from sea to sea, from § the rising of the sun unto the going down thereof. And, though all other mighty monarchies have grown up by slow degrees, and, when arrived at the

fummit of their power, have speedily fallen to ruin; days sometimes destroying the works of ages: of the New Jerusalem, the kingdom of the Messiah, it was predicted, that its establishment should be without delay, its duration without end. The prophets speak of this Messenger of the Lord, as subduing \* the nations in a day, and keeping them in subjection for ever and ever. His appearance was to be sudden +, like the lightning ‡; his continuance as long as the sun and moon endureth.

Now none of the greatest empires, that have arisen among mankind, ever equalled Christianity, either in its rapid progress, its extensive dominion, or the length of its prosperity. Suddenly indeed was this call from Heaven heard and obeyed, in all those countries which could come within the view of the prophets, in every nation of the then known world. And, as the world has been enlarged by new discoveries, the laws

<sup>\*</sup> If. ii. 2. Mic. iv. 1.

<sup>†</sup> Dan. vii. 14.

<sup>‡</sup> Pfalm ii. 8.

<sup>||</sup> Pfalm lxxii. 8.

<sup>&</sup>amp; Pfalm I. T.

<sup>\*</sup> K. lx. 22. and Mal. iii. 1.

<sup>+</sup> Matt. xxiv. and Luke xvii-

<sup>‡</sup> Pfalm lxxii. 5.

### J28 DISCOURSE VIH.

and doctrines of Christ have been carried far beyond its ancient boundaries, into those regions where the fun was supposed to nie and fet. Nor is there any reason to believe that his authority, though continually encreating, is yet approaching to its utmost limits. On the contrary, the present state of the world affords a prefumption, independent of all predictions, that Christianity will become the universal religion of mankind. Several Christian states have been for some ages, and are now, sending forth large and flourishing colonies into the most distant countries. Mahometans and Heathens are not doing the same. The profesfors of Christianity, wherever they can gain admission, labour to make proselytes. Those of other religions are either indifferent about the propagation of them, or proudly refule . to communicate the superior advantages they Inprofe themselves to enjoy. So that the kingdom of Christ, by the encrease of its own fubjects, and by the gradual accession of strangers, seems likely to overspread the earth.

### DISCOURSE VIII. 129

Again, the prophets declared, that the Messiah should not establish his dominion either by fraud or conquest. In him was to be neither violence \* nor deceit. He was not to firive for cry. He was not to break even a bruised reed; but, without noise or tumult, to smite the earth with the rod of his mouth, and with the breath of his lips to flay the wicked. Instruction and persuasion were to be his only arms. He could want no other. For he was to be the § defire of all nations, who would come from the utmost parts of the earth to bow | down before him, and to lick up the dust of his feet. The most fierce and discordant natures were to unite in their fubmission to him. The \*\* wolf was to dwell with the lamb, the leopard to lie down with the kid, and the lion to eat straw like the bullock. And not the people only, but their rulers also, were willing to acknowledge his authority. Kings, it is foretold, shall

K

<sup>\*</sup> If. liii. 9. + If. xlii. 2. cited Matt. xii. 19.

<sup>1</sup> If. xi. 4. § Hagg. ii. 7.

If. xlix. 23. \*\* If. xi. 6. and lxv. 25.

#### 130 DISCOURSE VIII.

see him, and arise; Princes also shall worthis him\*. The Kings + of the Gentiles shall fee his glory; they shall i minister unto him; they shall & be the nursing fathers of his people. And, whereas all extensive governments have been found injurious to the common rights of mankind, and an universal empire has been ever dreaded as an univerfal calamity: the kingdom of the Messiah is represented by the prophets, as a wife, a righteous, a mild and peaceful government; which should cultivate the understanding, encourage the virtue, and fecure the happiness, of all its fubjects. Among the offices ascribed to the expected Deliverer of Israel, were these, to fill the || earth with the knowledge of the Lord, to \*\* bring in everlasting righteousness, to publish ++ peace and comfort to God's people, to give !! unto them the oil of joy for mourning, and the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness.

#### DISCOURSE VIII. 131

And furely these predictions denote (though the Jews, whilft they discerned the relation of them to the Messiah, were blind to their true meaning) that the kingdom thus described should not be a temporal one. Its rife was to be by influence on the minds, not by force on the bodies, of men; its aim, not to destroy the kingdoms of the earth, but to receive both the rulers and people into its protection; its end, to make men wife, and good, and happy. Such a kingdom exactly is that which Christ hath founded; established at first, and increased afterwards, in that wonderful manner which the prophets foretold. When a small band of fishermen and mechanics, without power or interest, went forth on this vast design, and carried with them no other arms than the plain words of truth and foberness; they were fuperior to all the forces of their enemies. They overcame in every conflict; they subdued the world. But, when a number of potent princes and warriors, with a professed resolution to enlarge the bounds of Christendom, drew together immense armies, armies animated with such an extraordinary . zeal K 2

### 132 DISCOURSE VIII.

zeal and enthusiasm, as nothing seemed able to withfland; after repeated and obstinate at tempts, and a terrible flaughter of their fub. jects, they returned (the few who did return) with shame and disappointment: have ing learned, by miserable experience, what they might have learned from the Old or New Testament, that it is not the design of Providence, that Christianity should be propagated by the fword. The evidence it offers to the understanding, and its influence upon the morals of men, are the proper recommendations of it to unbelievers. And, though some have interpreted the encomiums, given it by the prophets, of those effects only, which it is capable of producing in the minds and hearts of men; if they would feriously attend to it: yet whoever compares the manners of Christian nations with those of other relia gions; whoever observes how necessary it is; that persons, set apart to study and teach Christianity, should be skilled in the various branches of science and learning; will see fufficient reason to confess, that the world is actually indebted to this institution for much both of its virtue and knowledge.

**T**L.

DISCOURSE VIH. 133 The prophets, it must be owned, often speak of these benefits in high figurative expressions; which makes it sometimes difficult to determine, whether the events have fully anfwered the predictions. But enough is clear to afford an important argument for the truth of Christianity. The sum of the predictions is, that, among the Jews, a people despised and detested by all the neighbouring nations, a person should arise, who, without any power but that of perfuafion, should prevail on all the kingdoms of the earth, the fubjects and their governors, to own him for their fovereign, and fubmit to his laws; that he should thus presently form, and afterwards govern, by the fame methods of gentleness and peace, a lasting empire, perpetually increasing, till it should become universal. Could any prediction have appeared more incredible? Could any be more fully or clearly accomplished? Allow only, that Christ's authority is properly styled a government, a dominion, a kingdom, (and by what apter names could it be expressed?)

and every part of the prophecy is either K 3 literally

6

#### 134 D.I.S C O U R S E VIII.

literally fulfilled, or appears to be now going on towards its completion.

With affurance then may we believe, that the child to whom the Magi were conducted by a new star, is the same who was foretold by the prophet under these magnificent titles. Wonderful, Counsellor, the Mighty God, the Everlassing Father, the Prince of Peace.

### DISCOURSE IX.

The same Subject continued.

LUKE XXIV. 25, 26.

Then he said unto them; O fools and slow of beart to believe all that the Prophets have spoken: Ought not Christ to have suffered these things, and to enter into his glory?

THEY who have studied most diligently the prophecies of the Old Testament, have been the most ready to acknowledge their obscurity\*. The language, in which these books are written, they observe, is neither clear nor copious. It consists of sew words, used in a great variety of senses; and

\* See Bp. Chandler's Introduction to his Defence of Chriftianity, p. 13, &c.

K 4 thefe

these senses often not connected, but by some minute and scarce discernible resemblance. The style of these writings, agreeably to the genius of the Eastern nations, abounds with bold figures, fudden apostrophes, and frequent and unprepared transitions. The Prophets too usually mix with their predictions histories of the preceding times, or censures of their own. And to us, who have nothing to guide our fearch through these dark and distant ages, so necessary a distinction is not always fufficiently marked: fo that we fometimes are in doubt, whether the writer is speaking of things past or future. Amidst fo many difficulties, what wonder, it may be asked, that we should not readily discern all the characters of the true Messiah, when his own immediate disciples were slow in comprehending them? But the rebukes, which they frequently received from their gracious Master for this dulness, shew that it proceeded from faulty prejudices\*: probably from the prejudices then common among the Jews; who expected a mighty

temporal

### DISCOURSE IX.

temporal Prince, commissioned by God to restore their fallen state to its ancient splendor, and, in the warmth of these expectations, were inattentive to the description of the sufferings he was first to undergo. And the obscurity we complain of is such, as should excite our industry, not lead us to despair of success. If we use a little attention, there are two cases, in which the difficulties before-mentioned, as far as they concern the evidence of Christianity, will totally vanish.

One of these cases is, when we can collect from clear testimonies, how the predictions were understood before the coming of Christ. This circumstance has been considered on a former occasion; when it appeared, that, in order to judge of the evidence arising from the conformity of events to ancient prophecies, it is not always necessary to discover the exact fense, in which these prophecies were delivered. It is fufficient, if we can learn, what meanings were affixed to them before their accomplishment. When these interpretations are justified by the success of them, then may we fafely conclude that either the Prophet or his interpreter was infpired.

<sup>\*</sup> See Berriman's Sermon on this text, preached at Boyle's Lecture, Serm. xiii.

fpired \*: and we have a feries of predictions in the case before us, which (though the defign of the Authors may not now, in every instance, be so apparent as to preclude all controverly) were certainly referred by the Jews to their expected Messiah, and were as certainly fulfilled by Jesus Christ.

The other case, in which a prophecy, delivered in dark and ambiguous terms, may yet afford a full conviction, is, when fuch a prophecy is at once explained and verified by the events. For it feems to be of little importance, in weighing the evidence, at what time the prediction became clear; provided it be ever clear, that matters, placed beyond the reach of human forelight, were predicted. I will illustrate my meaning, before I proceed, by two examples taken from the discourses of our Saviour. + Destroy this temple, said he, and in three days I will raise it up. The Jews answered, Forty and fix years has this temple been building (so it should be translated ‡; for the work was not yet finished): and wilt thou rear it up in three

DISCOURSE IX. 139

days? They certainly understood him, as the place and the occasion naturally suggested, to be speaking of that temple, whence he had just driven the traders and moneychangers; and they looked upon fuch a declaration as a vain boast of inconceiveable power. But after we had been told, that within three days he restored his own life, which the Jews had destroyed; we could not have doubted, even though the Evangelist had not explained the meaning to us, but he spake of the temple of his body; a fabric not improperly compared to that magnificent building, though infinitely more complicated, more nicely and wonderfully adjusted, than any ever framed by human art.-Again, when Christ was foretelling the utter overthrow of the Jewish nation, some of his attendants asked him\*, where, or + when, (for the Evangelists express the question differently), these things should happen; to which he answered, in a line borrowed from the book of Job ‡, Wherefoever the carcase is, there will the eagles be gathered together ||. If this fign was at first uncertain, it could remain so no

<sup>\*</sup> Unless we rather chuse to say, what comes to the same thing, That the eyents were accommodated to the expectations, by an extraordinary Providence.

<sup>1</sup> John ii, 19. ! See Berriman, p. 43, Note.

<sup>\*</sup> Luke xvii. 37. † Matt. xxiv, 3. ‡ Job xxxix. 30. || Matt. xxiv, 28. Lake xvii, 37.

longer, when the army of Titus furrounded Jerusalem. That was the carcase, the city devoted to destruction, about which the eagles, the ensigns of the Roman legions, were gathered together.

Many passages in the Old Testament, relating to the Messiah, are similar to these predictions in the New; particularly that famous prophecy contained in the 53d\* chapter of Isaiah. It might be doubted by the Jewish, it has been controverted even among Christian interpreters, of whom the prophet is speaking. And, from the passage itfelf, confidered independently of all the events which have followed it, the question could not be easily decided. But whoever compares the feveral parts of the prophecy with the gospel history, may be convinced, that there has been One, and only One, of all the human race, to whom the whole of it is applicable. The person here described was to be condemned, and to fuffer death as a malefactor. He was taken, says the pro-

#### DISCOURSE IX. 1

phet, \* from prison, and from judgement; he + was cut off out of the land of the living; he 1 made his grave with the wicked; he was numbered with the transgressors.—His punishment was to be remarkably painful, accompanied with firipes ||, and bruises, and wounds. -It was also to be of the most ignominious kind. He was a § man of forrows, and acquainted with grief, and we hid our faces from bim; he was despised and rejected of men.-But these fufferings, and this ignominy, were not for any offences of his own; (he \*\* had done no violence, neither was any deceit in bis mouth) but, for the wickedness of others: be ++ was wounded for our transgressions, he was bruised for our iniquities. His sufferings are represented as voluntary. He ++ was oppressed and afflicted, he was brought as a lamb to the flaughter; yet he opened not his mouth. His foul was made an offering for fin .- And this voluntary offer was to be efficacious for others, and glorious to himself; be && made

<sup>\*</sup> See this chapter illlustrated, Chandler, ch. xi. § 2. Barrow on the creed. Bullock's Sermons.

<sup>\*</sup> If. liii. 8. † Ib. ver. 9. ‡ Ib. ver. 12. || Ib. ver. 5. \$ Ib. ver. 4. \*\* Ib. ver. 9. †† Ib. ver. 5. ‡‡ Ib. ver. 7. || Ib. ver. 10. §§ Ib. ver. 12.

intercession, he bare the fins of many, he \* justified many; and because + he hath poured out bis soul unto death, therefore, faith God, I will divide him a portion with the great, and he shall see his seed, he shall prolong his days, and the pleasure of the Lord shall prosper in his hand +.- Now, if the whole character thus drawn by the prophet belongs to one and the fame person: if it be the same servant of God, who was unjustly condemned, and suffered a cruel and ignominious death; who endured the pain, and fubmitted to the ignominy, not only with patience and contentment, but willingly and of choice; who obtained, by this facrifice of himfelf, pardon and privileges for others; who, in recompence for his virtue and sufferings, was highly exalted, and became the parent of a long and happy race of disciples and followers; and, under whose government, true religion, the pleasure of the Lord, flourished and spread itself over the face of the earth: then certainly this description can with no degree of propriety be applied to any other, than our Lord and Saviour, Jesus Christ.

• If. liii. 11. + Ib. ver. 12. ‡ Ib. ver. 10.

DISCOURSE IX. 143

To avoid the force of this conclusion, fome of the Jews have had recourse to the fiction of two Messiahs; one appearing in a mean and afflicted condition, the other powerful and victorious. But their invention has nothing to support it in the Scriptures, or even in their own traditions. The two parts of the Messiah's character, the miferies of his life, and the glories of his reign, are constantly attributed to one perfon, and are so closely connected, that to separate them, would be to overthrow the evidence of both. Nor was fuch a diffinetion thought of before the appearance of Christ. It has arisen wholly from the infuperable difficulty of reconciling, by any other than the Christian scheme, such discordant fituations. How clear foever the predictions are of the Meffiah's sufferings, yet, at the time of his appearance, they were so much disregarded, or misapplied, that the accomplishment of them produced, for a time, a general prejudice against him. Nothing could appear less credible, than that he should be the mighty Prince, to whom God had given the utmost parts of the earth for his possession,

possession, who wanted even where to rest his his head; that he should redeem his country. from misery and bondage, who was himself continually afflicted, and treated as a flave. that be should reign and conquer, who had just been crucified and slain. But the stronger the inconsistency may appear, between the feveral parts of a prediction, the more convincing evidence does it afford, when the whole is accomplished, that it was spoken by a true prophet. Let a man pretend to foretel future events, not unlike to those which have already happened: and the cafual turns of human affairs may, in a course of ages, produce fomething corresponding to his conjectures. But, when the things predicted are fuch as could not be conceived to be possible before they came to pass, and, when they came to pass, bore evident marks of a divine power: then the inspiration of the prophet is unquestionable.-Again, the more inconfistent the parts of a prediction appear, the greater assurance have we, that it is fully accomplished, when the several contrarieties are united. Our Saviour reconciled, by a fingle word, all the apparent oppolitions

DISCOURSE IX.

X. 145

positions in the prophecies relating to the Messiah, My kingdom, said he, is not of this world\*. And, when this folution of the difficulty is offered, we cannot but wonder, that the ancient Jews did not discover it from their own prophets: who represent this Prince of peace, as establishing his empire, by the mild influence of reason and religion, not by the violent efforts of usurpation and war; who describe that empire, as founded in justice, and yet universal; as supported only by confent, and yet everlasting; who declare, that, under this government, all nations of men should be enlightened with religious knowledge, and converted to the practice of true righteousness, should be affured of pardon for their former fins, be bleffed with peace of conscience, and be received into God's special favour and protection. Such is the prophetical description of the Messiah's kingdom; a description, when rightly understood, perfectly confistent with the account of his fufferings; but never rightly understood, till it was fulfilled. And

\* John xviii. 26.

the difficulty which subsisted so long, of conceiving, how these prophecies could agree, affords at once the clearest proofs, that they were not of human invention, and that he, who has explained and reconciled, has fully accomplished them.

The Prophets, who defineated these principal parts of the Messiah's office and character, touched also other circumstances relating to his person, less important indeed in their own hature, but equally decifive in the examination of his pretentions. The time of his appearance was predicted in fuch a manner, that the Tews of that age were in contimual expectation of it, and spread this expectation through the whole Roman empire. The place of his birth is expressly named by \* one prophet, his tribe and family by several. His forerunner is mentioned as a + voice in the wilderness, that is, a preacher to barren hearers, to those who brought not forth the fruits of righteoufness; and again under the name of ‡ Elias, in whose spirit and power he went forth, and whom he re-

fembled

#### DISCOURSE IX.

sembled in the austerity of his life and the tendency of his doctrine. These predictions clearly shew, that the person who answered to them was the promised Messiah. Each of them taken singly would have considerable force. All together must be irresistible.

When the completion of the prophecies is manifest; the application of them to the proof of our religion is the fame as of other miracles. But there is one advantage peculiar to them, and fuch as deferves our notice... They confiect together the Old and New Testament: To a Jew; who acknowledges the authority of Moses and the Prophets, they offer the shortest and plainest evidence of Christianity. To a Christian, already convinced by the miracles and doctrines of our Saviour that he was a teacher fent from God, they prove with equal clearness the divinity of the Old Testament. In fact, fuch learned Jews as have in modern times embraced Christianity; (and, compared with those among them who have made any progress in letters, the number is not fmall \*), have usually been convinced by

<sup>\*</sup> Micah v. 2. + If. xl. 3. 1 Mal. iv. 5.

<sup>\*</sup> See Chapman's Eusebius, vol. i. at the end.

this argument; and feveral of them have written treatifes to prove from the prophecies, that Jesus is the Messiah. On the other hand, the defenders of Christianity seldom begin with establishing the divine authority of Moses and the Prophets. For, though many direct proofs, both external and internal; may be brought to support it; yet the Gospel history, being of times much nearer to us, in which we have a number of contemporary writers, and being connected with other known facts, is confirmed by clearer and more abundant tostimonies. This history being once established, it appears that the prophecies recorded in the Old Testament have been fulfilled; and it eafily follows, that the Prophets were commissioned and instructed from heaven. Thus the same argument, proposed to the Jew and the Christian, confirms to each the other's Scriptures. To both it demonstrates, that it is the same perpetual Governor of the world who has spoken, in distant ages and in different manners, to the Patriarchs, to the Ifraelites, and to all mankind; and it ought

#### DISCOURSE IX.

140

to increase their attention and reverence to that Religion, for the introduction of which his providence appears to have been so long exerted, "\*designing it from the beginning, forming plans for the disclosure, and preparing evidence for the confirmation of it."

\* Barrow.

Of the ARGUMENT drawn from the SWIFT PROPAGATION of the GOSPEL.

MATTHEW, xiii. 31, 32.

Another parable put he forth unto them, saying, The kingdom of heaven is like to a grain of mustard-seed, which a man took and sowed in his sield; which indeed is the least of all seeds; but, when it is grown, it is the greatest among herbs, and becometh a tree, so that the birds of the air come and lodge in the branches thereof.

THE antient prophets having described the Messiah, as a mighty prince, the founder of an extensive and lasting dominion; our Saviour, in allusion to these predictions, and DISCOURSE X: 1

and to remind men of their accomplishment, often styled the religion, he instituted, the kingdom of God, or the kingdom of heaven. This is evidently the meaning of the words in the paffage before us. It is the Christian dispensation, which is here compared to a grain of mustard-seed. The beginnings of it were the imallest that can be conceived; they promised nothing of its future greatness. This minute feed was fown in a field. In appearance it was loft, it perished. The sufferings and death of Christ, and the dispersion of his disciples, seemed to have put a final end to all his pretentions. But the religion, he preached, revived and flourished. It prefently became a great tree; and the birds of the air, men dispersed in every region under heaven, came and lodged in the branches thereof: found in its doctrines and precepts that peace and fecurity, which they had fought in vain among other fystems of religion or philosophy.

\* The rapid and extensive progress of Christianity, and the extraordinary changes it

L 4 produced

<sup>\*</sup> On the subject of this Discourse, consult Lardner's Ancient Testimonies, 4 vols. 4to.

produced in the sentiments and dispositions and behaviour of mankind, have appeared to many unprejudiced inquirers to be miraculous. And, when they are acknowledged to be so, they furnish us with the same arguments for the defence of our religion as other miracles; the force of which has been formerly explained. But these events seem to deserve a distinct examination, as there is something peculiar in the restimonies by which they are conveyed to us, and some variety in the uses to which they are applied by the advocates of Christianity.

All the evidence we are able to offer in fupport of our religion may be properly called bistorical. Our arguments are all founded on certain facts, delivered down from remote times, and preserved by written memorials. But, according to the different natures of these facts, the proofs of them are different. The miracles recorded in the Gospels were usually the plain objects of the fenses, of which the disciples of Christ were the immediate witnesses. They attested these miracles constantly and consistently; and consistently; and consistently is and

lofs,

DISCOURSE X.

153

loss, all by the hazard, of their lives.  $W_{\epsilon}$ cannot conceive any fuller testimony. But the progress of Christianity in different countries and for feveral ages, and the influence of it upon the characters and behaviour of its converts, could never come to the immediate knowledge of any fingle witness. He who alleges facts of this kind, must have collected them from the testimony of many. Nor are these things of so precise a nature, or fo eafily determined, that they could not be either mistaken or misreprefented. When the preaching of the Apostles had converted great multitudes in many diftant provinces, it must be difficult to afcertain the numbers, or to compare them with those who had opportunities of learning the truth and yet rejected it. And when the converts, in obedience to the laws of Christ, had forfaken not only their superstition and idolatry, but their vices also, the sudden change would naturally lead men to aggravate their former wickedness, and magnify their present virtues. The account therefore given by the primitive Christians of the furprizing increase of their religion, both in the number

number of its outward professors, and in its prevalence over the strongest passions and most confirmed habits, ought not to have been received without caution, if it had not been acknowledged without referve, even by their enemies. The triumphs of the Christians and the complaints of the Heathens plainly correspond. And, that we may not assume more of these facts than the most sceptical must admit, we will view them only as they are represented by the Roman historians, or other authentic vouchers, who were fo far from being favourable to the Christian cause, that they usually express their zeal for the destruction, whilst their writings contribute to the support, of it. What they have recorded concerning the propagation of this new doctrine will suffice for the present occasion. The characters they have given of its professors must be referved for another.

Some years after the resurrection of Christ, the Apostles remained in Judæa, preaching the word to the Jews only. At what time they began to disperse themselves among the Gentiles, is not exactly settled. But ecclesiastical

#### DISCOURSE X.

affical writers have generally agreed, that it was about the beginning of the reign of Claudius. And, before the end of it, the Christians of Rome were become so numerous as to give umbrage to the government. The notice we have of it is from Suetonius \*. The Emperor, he fays, banished from Rome the Jews, who, being excited by Christ, made continual tumults. Christianity passed at first among the Heathens for a fect of Judaism. It was scarce possible for them to form any juster notion of it. It sprang up in Judæa; the first preachers of it were Jews; the Jews and Christians believed in, and worshipped, the same God; they received the fame Scriptures; they fet apart for facred purposes a like portion of time; and, what was the most peculiar and the most striking feature of their religions, they equally refused to be partakers with any of the Heathens in their solemn rites or facrifices. And. though all Jews might be included in Claudius's edict, as appears probable from the paffage in the Acts of the Apostles +, where this edict is mentioned; yet the conduct

\* Claud. 25. + Chap. xviii. 2. which

which offended the Emperor, whatever it was, was cortainly the conduct of Christians: fince the historian tells us that they acted impulsore Chresto. It is observed by some early Christian writers, that the Heathers neither understood nor pronounced rightly the name of Christ. They imagined it to be derived from the Greek word xpnses. And the passage we are considering contains an instance of this mistake. But what fort of tumults were these, which could occasion, even in the reign of a Claudius, a resolution to banish at once the whole fraternity? The primitive Christians were never accused of any defigns against the quiet and good order of the governments under which they lived. The jealous eye of tyranny never discerned in their behaviour any thing like ambition or treachery. Nor was their private worthip opposite to the public laws. Six hundred nations, as Dionysius of Halicarnassus tells us, had taken up their abode in Rome, and every one observed its own peculiar rites. And the Christians without question might have enjoyed the same liberty, had they been content to enjoy it in filence. But they maintained,

DISCOURSE X. maintained, and that publicly, that all the deities of Greece and Rome were fictitious. and the adoration of them mere superstition. The fuccess with which they preached this doctrine, and their withdrawing men from the established worship, were probably what the writer meant by the continual tumults of which he here speaks. The temple of some great goddess, as at Ephefus, or some image that fell down from Jupiter, was in danger of being fet at nought. And we may judge of the defign of this edict from the execution of it. For Claudius (thus Dio\* relates the same transaction,) finding these Jews, as they were called, to be fo numerous, that they could not be expelled the city without danger, suffered them to remain, but forbad their affemblies. The public exercise of religion is the furest method of fpreading it. And the Emperor hoped to prevent the one, by restraining the other. But neither his power nor his art were effectual. For, not many years after, the Christians at Rome are spoken of by Tacitus, as ingens multitudo +; when he describes the

\* Lib. lx. † Ann. lib. xv. c. 44. unexampled

unexampled cruelties of Nero, who, to remove from himself the infamy of setting fire to the city, and to cast it upon the innocent, but hated, Christians, ordered some to be crucified, others to be wrapped in inflammable clothing, and flowly burnt, like torches, and others, in the skins of beasts, to be worried by dogs. If, by this perfecution, the Christians were driven from the capital, they carried with them their religion, and propagated it. For Julian \* confesses, that, before St. John wrote his Gospel, great multitudes, in many cities of Greece and Italy, were feized with this distemper; so he speaks of their sudden conversion to Christianity. And we may give him credit for this fact, though he lived almost three centuries after it; fince he would not have related any thing so favourable to the religion he had deferted, without the fullest evidence. The reigns of the fucceeding emperors being very fhort, or their dispositions less cruel, we hear nothing from the Roman historians, concerning their treatment of the Christians,

As cited by Cyril, lib. x.

DISCOURSE X. whose history, in the first ages, was seldom written, but in blood. For near thirty years however they suffered no remarkable persecution. And, during this interval, not only great numbers were converted, but persons of the highest rank. Dio \* names two, who had been confuls, one of them the emperor's nephew +; and adds, that many others with them fuffered death about the end of the reign of, Domitian, being accused of atheism, and of having embraced the religion of the Jews. The two parts of the accusation, however inconfiftent, were usually brought against the Christians. Their atheism confifted in a difbelief of all the heathen theology, their Judaism in the belief of one God only. For the other parts of Judaism, the heathens, whose religion was all ceremony,

would hardly comprehend the Christian dif-

tinction between the moral and ceremonial

<sup>\*</sup> In Excerpt. Xiphilini, lib. lxvii.

<sup>+</sup> Titus Flavius Clemens, who was consul, A. C. 95: The other was M. Acilius Glabrio, consul, A. C. 91.

See also Sueton. Domit. 15. and Eusebii Hist. Eccl. 1. iii. c. 18. Also Euseb. Chron. 15. Domit, where he refers to Bruttius, an Heathen author.

law. However, the magistrates seem, about this time, to have entertained some doubts, whether they were really Jews. For Do. mitian, as we learn from Suetonius \*, exacted with great feverity a tribute from those who did not profess themselves Jews, but lived after their manner. And the next emperor, Newa, being more inclined to favour the Christians, ordered, that none should be brought to judgement for impiety, or for living like the Jews +. But, if this edict again respited their sufferings, the benefit lasted not long. Under the fucceeding emperor 1, Pliny thought it evident, that the Christians were to be punished with death, for an ob-Rinate refulal to facrifice. But the great numbers, in the province he governed, on whom the fear of this punishment feemed to have no influence, perplexed him, and occasioned his celebrated letter to Trajan # He describes the persons accused as of all ages, of each fex, of every rank, flaves and Roman citizens; he fays, that the contagion had forced itself, not only in the cities and

towns, but through the whole country; and he represents paganism as almost extirpated, the temples defolate, the religious folemnities long intermitted, very few purchasers of the victims. These are Pliny's expressions, and we must either suppose, that the Governor of a province, writing to the emperor about a difficulty which embarraffed his administration, and requesting his directions how he should proceed, uses the arts of oratory, and totally misleads him, whom he will be obliged to follow: or must confess, that the Christians, in that extensive and remote country, on the borders of the Euxine sea, far exceeded in numbers the other inhabitants.—In the next reign, Adrian's, it appears, that a great part of another large and populous kingdom had been converted to Christianity. A letter remains, written from Egypt by the emperor himself \*, and thus describing the manners of that country. Nobody here is unemployed; all are bufy in trade; they have only One God, their gain +; him the Christians,

<sup>\*</sup> Domit. 12.

<sup>†</sup> See Dion, in Excerpt. Kiphilini, lib, lxxviii,

Trajan. # Ep. 97. lib. x.

<sup>\*</sup> In Vopisci Firmo, Saturnino, &c. c. 7.

<sup>+</sup> The author follows a conjecture of Dr. Jortin's, mentioned in his Remarks on Eccl. Hist. vol. II. p. 89. where he refers to Misc. Observ. vol. ii. p. 309. him

him the Jews, him all the Gentiles, worthin But so inconstant are they to any other religion, that the worshipers of Serapis are Christians; and they are devoted to Serapis, who call themselves Christ's bishops. One part of this satyr must have been unjust, in an age, when no man's interest would lead him to Christianity. Though many might believe it in their hearts, who were outwardly idolaters; yet few or none would profess without belief, what they could not profess without danger. But it is remarkable, that the preachers of this new religion were become as considerable in Egypt as the priests of Serapis; whose worship had been established there from the most remote antiquity.

All this progress did the gospel make within a century after our Saviour's resurrection. The facts here cited are such only, as are occasionally mentioned by heathen authors indisputably genuine. But these testimonies may perhaps prove much more than they relate. They are not only good evidence of these particular facts; but they strongly confirm the accounts given by the primitive

DISCOURSE X. primitive Christians, of a like progress of their religion, in every other part of the world. I will not at prefent trace its footsteps farther. It may suffice to observe, that. for the next two centuries, the conduct of all the emperors towards the Christians. whether mild or fevere, witnesses the continual increase of their numbers. A heathen historian \* relates, that two of the emperors+, being inclined to tolerate the religions of all their subjects, and willing that Christ should be worshiped with the other deities. had thought of confecrating temples to him; but were discouraged by those, who, having confulted the oracles, told them, that, if the Christians had temples, all men would become Christians, and the other temples be all deserted. Some have doubted, whether the historian was rightly informed of those defigns of the emperors, which were never executed. Nor is it of much importance. He certainly knew that, for which I cite the passage, the general opinion of the heathens

<sup>\*</sup> Lampridius in Sever. Alexand. c. 43.

<sup>†</sup> Adrian and Alexander Severus.

about this matter; in which their experienc was sufficient to instruct them without the assistance of an oracle.

The edicts also of the persecutors confirm the same fact. These aimed not to extirpate, but to prevent the growth of, Christianity\*. The general form of them was to forbid mento forfake the religion of their ancestors. - Some Christian writers, who lived near the times, affert, that these persecutions wasted mankind as much as the most bloody wars. And yet, after the longest and most cruel of them all, the emperor's chief minister +, writing to the governors of the feveral provinces, acknowledges, that it had manifestly appeared by repeated experience, that the Christians could not be induced, by any means whatever, to depart from the obstinacy of their disposition; and the emperor himself recites +, as the reason of the punishments which had been inflicted, that almost all mankind were forfaking the immortal gods, and going over to the sect of the Christians.

Sa

165 So many indeed were going over, that, when Constantine soon after ascended the throne, the Christian party was equal, perhaps superior, to their adversaries, through the whole empire. It has even been fuspected, that his conversion might be influenced by political confiderations. This, at least, is certain, that, though the zeal of the Heathens against Christianity was such, that several cities petitioned his immediate predeceffors \* not to fuffer any who professed it to live among them; yet Constantine was in no fear from their power. But, when one of his fucceffors + had yielded up his faith to a fondness for antient philosophy, he found it necessary, through fear of the Christians, to dissemble, till he was in secure possession of the government; and, even after he was faluted Augustus, publicly worshiped in their churches, whilst in private he practifed augury and divination ‡.

Confider now, from how weak an origin to what an amazing strength Christianity

<sup>\*</sup> See, for instance, the edicts of Severus, mentioned in his Life by Spartian.

<sup>†</sup> Sabinus, cited by Eufeb. Hift. Eccl. lib. ix. c. 1.

<sup>1</sup> Maximin to Sabinus, Euseb. lib. ix. c. 9.

<sup>\*</sup> See Maximin's letter, as above. ‡ Amm. Marc. lib, xxi. c. 2. and lib. xxii. c. 5.

had grown up, before it received any nurture from the powers of this world. A finall company of men, without authority. or reputation, or learning, fet out, on a defign of teaching mankind a new religion. "They perfuade many perfons to receive this religion, and, for the fake of it, to quit every fentiment in which they had been educated, and, with them, ease, and all external happiness; some to give up ample fortunes, others to disoblige their dearest friends, all to offend the magistrates, many to leave their country, and fuffer every kind of temporal evil, even the loss of life:" and all this, not from a fudden flight of enthufiasm, which has sometimes produced extraordinary effects, but upon the fober principles of truth and piety. They adhere steadily to these principles, and transmit them, perhaps unimpaired, to their immediate succesfors; who, in like manner, instruct and perfuade others, till, notwithstanding the opposition of priests and philosophers in every country, notwithstanding the oppression of

Jortin's Rem. vol. II. p. 14.

DISCOURSE X. 167

the most powerful and most unfeeling tyrants that ever difgraced humanity, they have brought over, to an open profession of their faith, one half of mankind; and many of the other wait only for the permission of the magistrate, to declare themselves convinced. Such was the progress of Christianity before Constantine; and an attention to its progress may, in various ways, confirm its truth. Some confider it as an additional proof of the Gospel history. These great events, say they, are utterly inexplicable; unless the wonderful works related in the Gospels were really performed. But, if that history be true, the consequences are not strange. All mankind must necessarily be convinced by fuch powerful arguments.—Others observe, that these miracles were all performed in one country, and those of the apostles in one age; and they doubt, whether, in the following ages, and in diftant nations, they could have fufficient influence to make many new converts, admidst so great discouragements. They suppose therefore, that, whilst Christianity subsisted without human aid, it was not destitute of divine; and that the conti-

M 4

nual

nual increase of its disciples, during the first three centuries, affords some evidence, that the power of working miracles remained & long amongst them.—Others again conceive, that even such a series of miracles could ne ver have removed inveterate prejudices, and have overcome the united force of affections, passions, and interests; had not a more powerful influence than that of reason operated on their minds, and produced this won. derful change. To them it appears, that the Holy Ghost must have given, not only to the first preachers of the Gospel a variety of languages, with courage and fervent zeal, but to the hearers also, attentive and teachable dispositions. Which of these opinions is the most probable; whether the quick growth of Christianity was itself miraculous, or was the natural reffect of other miracles, either perpetually, performed, or plainly related; it is not necessary for us to decide. In any of these views, it is equally certain, that our religion was not introduced into the world by the power or wisdom of man, but by the immediate interposition and authority of God.

### DISCOURSE XI.

Of the CHARACTERS, given by HEATHEN WRITERS, of the FIRST CHRISTIANS.

MATTHEW V. II.

Bleffed are ye, when men shall revile you, and persecute you, and shall say all manner of evil against you falsely, for my sake.

I T is a circumstance favourable to any cause, that the witnesses produced against it, are either inconsistent, or manifestly salse, even in points not essential to the merits. We naturally suppose, that the principal story cannot be reconciled with truth, when

the minuter parts of it cannot be reconciled with each other. And justice will be conceived to be on that fide, to which fraud and falsehood are opposed. These advantages the Christian cause receives, from the testimonies of its adversaries. Not only the truths they have acknowledged, but even the falsehood they have invented concerning it, help to confirm it. We have confidered, on a former occasion, what the Heathen writers have confessed of the surprising progress of Christianity. Let us now attend to the characters they have given of the first professors of it. These characters must be collected from a variety of passages, in which the Christians are accidentally mentioned, foon after their appearance in the world, by the historians, philosophers, and poets of those ages. For, though our religion was first propagated at a season, when arts and literature were cultivated with the greatest industry and success; and several learned Heathens composed laboured works, in opposition to it: yet none of these pieces have remained to our time. There are, indeed, large extracts remaining from them, preserved

DISCOURSE XI. 171

in the writings of the early Christians; and, if we may judge from these quotations, they contained nothing very plaufible, either against the manners of the Christians, or the evidence of their religion. But, should we endeavour to learn from them the objections of the Heathens, a doubt might arise, whether these controversialists had fairly conveyed to us the opinions of their opponents. My observations, therefore, shall be chiefly taken from those notices of the Christians, which we find casually dispersed in the writings of the Greeks and Romans upon other subjects. And, though their accufations be not only different, but opposite; we may perhaps difcover fomething, in each part, which approaches to the truth, and discern through their false colours the true grounds of the complaint. They accuse the Christians of fuperstition, and of atheism; they speak of them fometimes as credulous, easy, ductile people, and fometimes as perverse and obstinate, even unto madness; now they reprefent them as weak and illiterate, now as wonderfully skilled in the hidden sciences of magic and necromancy; now, as most contemptibly

172

The first charge upon the Christians we meet with, is superstition. Tacitus and Suetonius, writing the history of Rome at that period when Christianity just began to be heard of there, agree in giving it this appellation. One calls it, a new \* superstition; the other, a foreign + and pestilent + superflition. And Pliny ||, some time after, speaks of it, as a wicked and immoderate superstition. Nor did the accusers of the Christians conceal the foundation of this charge. It was urged as a sufficient proof of their weak and perverted understandings, that they had embraced a religion different from that of their ancestors. It was supposed, that they shewed, not only weak understandings, but wicked hearts, and an enmity § to the whole human

DISCOURSE XI.

73

race, when they refused to join with others, in the public adorations. And their own devotion was confidered as a crime against the state, when it was the necessary occafion of their meeting in private affemblies. So that, what was called their detestable and pernicious superstition, confissed only in their steady belief and practice of a new religion, inconfistent with that which was established.— The Romans feem to have rested all their religious notions upon the authority of their ancestors, and the prosperity of their country. These opinions, and these ceremonies, said they, were delivered down to us from remote ages: under the protection of the gods we have ever worshiped, and, whilst we worshiped them according to these ancient forms, the empire has grown up from fmall beginnings, and fubdued the world. They thought it therefore a foolish superstition in private persons to inquire for other deities or other modes of adoration. But, not conceiving the gods of Rome to be the only gods, they were not unwilling, when other religions were proposed to them, to receive them by publick authority and unite

<sup>\*</sup> Suet. Nero, 16. The charge of novelty was often brought against the Carissians. See Luc. de morte Per. & Symm. lib. x, ep. 54.

<sup>†</sup> Tac. Ann. xiii. 32, ‡ Id. xv. 44.

Lib. x. ep. 97. See also Lucian. Pseudomant. & Arist. Crat. Plat. xi.

<sup>&</sup>amp; Tac. Ann. as before. See also Pliny.

them with their own. On this principle one \* at least of the Emperors had a defign of admitting Christianity into the establish. ment. But, when it was understood, that the Christians would not consent to this union; that they had the utmost contempt for the whole pagan theology, and would not build their temples but on the ruins of all the rest: the accusation against them was then changed; they were no longer charged with fuperstition, but with impiety and atheism +. "Away with the Atheists," "The Christians to the lions," were expressions of the same import, and became the common cry of the people in the times of any public calamity. Lucian ‡ describes an impostor who set up an oracle, instituted mysteries, and practifed the rites of initiation. It was usual at the beginning of such solemnities to admonish the profane to withdraw; Exas, exas εςε, βεδηλοι. And this man, in imitation of

the

#### DISCOURSE XI. 175 the accustomed ceremony, proclaimed aloud, If any Atheist, or Christian, or Epicurean, be come hither as a spy on these mysteries, let him depart.

When a benevolent Emperor \* put a stop to a persecution against the Christians, Dio+ thus expresses it: He ordered that none should be accused of Judaism or impiety. And Julian ! frequently mentions Christianity by the title of Atheism. Nor is there any thing in either of these calumnies, which might not well be expected from the nature and circumstances of our religion. The novelty of it, and the zeal of its converts, would be called by its adversaries superflition. Its denial of every god except one unknown to the Heathens would pass among them for atheism. So that these objections agree with and confirm the accounts, which the Christians have given of themselves.

Another charge against them was credulity, and easiness of temper. And the instances alleged to prove it are their reliance on the

evidence

Alexander Severus. See Lamprid. c. 43. Also c. 29, & 31. The same thing has been reported of Tiberius and Adrian.

<sup>†</sup> See the passages before cited in Lucian & Aristides: also Julian, in many places. Some of them are referred to, p. 175.

<sup>\*</sup> Nerva.

<sup>†</sup> In Xiph. Excerp. l. lxviii.

<sup>†</sup> In Ep. ad Arfacium, αθεοτητα; ad Bostr. ασεξείλες. In Fragment, Αυσσεζείς, αθεων.

evidence of miracles; their expectations of immortality; their contempt of the goods of fortune. The Galilæans, fays Julian \*, abufing that puerile turn of mind which makes men fond of fables, have founded their faith on miraculous stories. These poor wretches, fays Lucian +, are fully perfuaded that they shall be immortal;—they despise all the things of this world, and trust them to each other without carefully examining the fecurity; fo that, if any fubtle fellow gets among them, he easily tricks these simple people, and soon enriches himself. Such notions did the heathens entertain of them, when they faw what numbers were continually going over to the new religion. But, after many attempts to recall them to the established rites by every method, either of milduess or severity; by neglect, by ridicule, and by terrible persecutions, their enemies were at last convinced, that they were not to flexible, fo eafily removed from their opinions, as they had imagined. They now charged them with the opposite extreme, rigid perverseness

DISCOURSE XI. and obstinacy. Pliny\*, when governor of Bithynia, judged, that, how innocent foever their tenets might be, yet certainly their inflexible obstinacy deserved punishment. But no punishment, not even instant death, was able to fubdue it. A man should be prepared to die, fays the philosophic emperor +, from his own judgement, not from mere obstinacy, like the Christians. Nor was this contempt of death, the spirit of only few of them. It was their general habit of thinking. Epictetus supposes, that they taught it to each other. Men, he fays ‡, may acquire this temper by falhion, as the Galilæans. And the fashion prevailed so much among them, that their obstinacy became proverbial. Galen ||, speaking of the rooted projudices among those physicians or philosophers, who adhered to particular fects, expresses himself thus; You might as eafily convince the disciples of Moses or of Christ. And, after they had been persecuted for almost three centuries, a Heathen orator & observes, that nei-

<sup>\*</sup> As cited by Cyril, lib. ii.

<sup>†</sup> De morte Pereg.

<sup>\*</sup> Ep. before cited. + Marc. Antoninus, 1. xi. c. 3.

<sup>‡</sup> Arrian, lib. iv. c. 7. || De diff. pulsuum, lib. iii.

<sup>§</sup> Themist. Orat. ad Jov.

ther fines, nor fires, nor gibbets, had been able to prevail against that divine law, which leaves every man to worship God in the way which he thinks best.—And now what fuller testimonies can be desired or imagined, either of the ready reception which Christianity found in the first ages, or of the immoveable firmness and invincible courage of its disciples?

But this steady and confistent conduct had the less influence among the Heathens of the fuperior ranks, because they considered the Christians as a low and illiterate rabble. A passage in Juvenal seems to allude to this charge. Domitian, under whose government, as a historian observes, the reward of worth and virtue were inevitable and quick destruction, having before banished all philosophers from the cities, towards the end of his reign, exercised his cruelty against the Christians; upon which, the fatirist thus remarks\*: He robbed the state of many noble and illustrious characters, without suffering for it; but, when he began to be formidable to the meanest people, then he perished. Another \* Juv. Sat. iv. 153.

writer,

DISCOURSE XI. 179 writer \*, speaking of the Christians, calls them, the men, who, having left the tongs, the hammer, and the anvil, pretend to talk of the heavens, and of them that dwell therein. And these observations agree with the testimony of St. Paul+, that not many excellent in human wisdom, not many mighty, not many noble, were called into the church at the beginning. But, when some of the Heathens were led by this remark, either to fancy or feign, that our religion was defigned for the vulgar only, and that the learned, the rich, the powerful, were not invited, or even admitted, to partake of it; their notions were neither conformable to the meaning of the apostle, nor to the state of Christianity: which was indeed so preached, that human wisdom and human power appeared to have no influence in the propagation of it; but was nevertheless so received, as to shew, that the ignorant and illiterate were chosen by God, to confound the wife, and the weak and despicable, to bring down the mighty:

<sup>\*</sup> Liban. Orat. pro Templis, ad Theod.

<sup>† 1</sup> Cor. i. 26.

The two remaining accusations, neither less frequent nor less inconsistent than those we have been confidering, related to the morals of the Christians. Some complained of them as a lazy idle fet of people, negligent of their own affairs, useless to the public. Others described them as restless, cunning, full of stratagems, vigilant and active in deceit and mischief. And it might perhaps have been difficult for us to reconcile these contradictory charges without the assistance of passages in two Greek writers, of whom one was an avowed enemy to all religion, the other particularly to the Chriftian. The former, Lucian\*, gives an account of a man, who called himself sometimes a Christian, and fometimes a Philofopher. When he assumed the religious character, he was imprisoned for it in Syria. Immediately the Christians attended him with the greatest affiduity. Some came to him early in the morning, others bribed the keepers to fuffer them to pass the night with him in the prison. They supplied him with money and every thing he wanted.

De morte Peregrini,

 $N_3$ 

from

<sup>\*</sup> Sueton. in Ner. c. 16.

<sup>†</sup> In Cyr. lib. iii. See also Celsus, in Orig. lib. i. § 28.

from several cities of Asia Minor persons were deputed by the focieties of Christians to relieve, encourage, and comfort him. So zealous are they, adds this writer, in affifting those who, having renounced the gods of the Greeks, and worshiping their Master that was crucified, are styled their brethren\*; whilst on other occasions they seem to negled and even despise all the interests of this world.—The other writer, to whom I referred, was contemporary with Lucian, the Sophist Aristides. He speaks + of the pretences of the Christians to a contempt of riches and to great generofity; but no fruits, he fays, of this generofity appeared, no fervices either to gods or men. And he explains himself by these among other instances. They contribute nothing to the public folemnities; they confecrate nothing to the gods; they enter into no deliberations about the affairs of the state; they are fearcely civil to others, but, for the fake of converts, they travel to the ends of the earth; they promise to teach them virtue, but really

tempt, was no more than that difregard to worldly interests, without which in those ages men could not have embraced Christianity, and was perfectly consistent with the greatest activity and earnestness in the assistance of their friends and the propagation of their faith: and that they were esteemed useless or mischievous to the public, only because they did not support the popular religion, nor connect themselves with those who adhered to it; but that they claimed themselves, and engaged to teach others, the most splendid virtues.

Observe then the amount of all these testimonies, when taken together, and reduced

DISCOURSE XI.

fer them at variance with the Greeks, or

rather with all good men.-From thefe

passages it appears, that the indolence, which

the Heathens looked upon with fuch con-

monies, when taken together, and reduced to as much confistency as can be given them. It appears to be this. That, not long before the days of these writers, a new religion had appeared among mankind: disagreeing so with the opinions of the wifest and most learned in those ages, that they considered it as extreme folly and superstition; and con-

N 4

tradicting

183

<sup>\*</sup> See more testimonies from Jul. in Misopog. Epist. ad Arsac. & Fragm. † Orat. in Nept.

tradicting fo flatly all the ancient theology, that it passed with the generality for downright atheism. That this religion was received by vast numbers with unaccountable eagerness; chiefly, as was supposed, by that weak part of mankind, who fondly entertain any new doctrine, and presently defert it for a newer; but that they were no fooner admitted into this fect, than they laid afide their inconstancy, and adhered to it with fuch fleadiness and perseverance, in opposition to dangers and torments and instant death, as appeared to be contrary not only to the fickle dispositions of the vulgar, but even to the first principles of human nature. That the men, who thus deceived the world, were mean and illiterate: not instructed in philosophy, not versed in the finer arts; but nevertheless acquainted, either with some fecrets of nature, or with the means of obtaining the affiftance of those beings who can controul nature, by which they performed many wonderful works. And laftly, that, being wholly engaged in learning or teaching this doctrine and attending to these works, they feemed to have no concern about

DISCOURSE XI. 185

about the most important interests of themselves or others; but were active and industrious in persuading men to despise the public authority, and cast off the public

religion.

Now it feems remarkable, that in all this charge against the Christians, and their anfwers to it, no one perceptible fact, nothing which is properly the subject of testimony, is alleged on one part and denied on the other. The accufation and the defence rest entirely on the same acknowledged facts, the fame external circumstances. The difference is only in the conclusions formed from these known facts concerning mens inward difpositions.—That the doctrines taught by Christ and his Apostles, and the forms of worship instituted by them, were new, and before those ages unheard of in the world, are facts, about which the witneffes, Heathens and Christians, agree. But whether every thing new in religion be always folly and fuperstition, is a matter not to be decided by testimony, and too evident, it should feem, to admit any rational difcussion.—That the Christians refused to join

in the Gentile worship, that they would not throw a little frankincense upon an altar, or put their hand to their lips when they passed by a temple, are facts not more strenuously charged, than readily acknowledged. The conclusion from them, that these men must be Atheists, we know to be false. - That vast numbers very soon and very eagerly embraced Christianity, and adhered to it afterwards with aftonishing firmuess, we may learn either from the complaints of their adversaries or their own apologies. That. conduct indeed, which is represented by one party as arifing from attentive inquiry and steadiness, is imputed by the other to flexibility and obstinacy. But it might be observed, even if we were unacquainted with the evidence of our religion, that the accusers are obliged to suppose in the same persons the contrary extremes of temper to be united\*; the defenders maintain, that they adhered to an uniform and rational medium.—That the

Christian

#### DISCOURSE XI. 187

Christian preachers performed some extraordinary works, the unbelievers, when they called them magicians, plainly acknowledged. But by what power, natural or divine, these works were performed, by what means that power was obtained, for what purposes granted, to what uses applicable, are questions not to be determined by testimony. How far reason is able to answer them, has been formerly confidered.—That the converts to Christianity were not very attentive to secular affairs, but were chiefly employed in conyerting others, was a charge they readily confessed. But, if we want to be informed whether their inattention rendered them useless, or their employment mischievous, to the world, we furely ought not to inquire of men, who had neither considered the design, nor experienced the effects, of their doctrine. If it was indeed a divine meffage, they could not have been engaged in any office equally important to mankind.

Thus, in every instance, when we apply that caution which is always necessary in judging from testimony, and separate the facts related from the opinions of the relators,

The strue indead, that an indolent turn of mind may produce both credulity and obstinacy; as has been observed in the First Discourse; but the observation is plainly inapplicable to the case of persecution.

we find, that the calumnies of the Heathens strongly support the history of the first propagation of Christianity, as delivered by the Christians themselves; and may presume, that this was one of the views, in which our Saviour declared to his disciples, that they should be happy, when men should revile them, and persecute them, and say all manner of evil against them falsely for his sake.

## DISCOURSE XIL

Recapitulation of the Arguments brought in Support of Christianity.

JOHN V. 37.

The Father himself, which hath sent me, hath borne witness of me.

THE occasions of my Discourses in this place return so seldom, and the subject of them has been found so extensive, that, although they have been confined to some principal parts of it, not many of you can have heard them all. It may, therefore, not be improper to conclude this subject by drawing together, into one view, the general heads of the arguments, which have been offered for establishing the truth and divine authority

authority of the Christian revelation. These arguments were three; one taken from the miracles recorded in the New Testament, another from the prophecies in the old, and the third from the propagation of our religion, and the circumstances attending it.

I. r. In examining the argument from miracles, the evidence of the facts was first confidered, and then the application of them. These facts, like all others which fall not under our own immediate notice, must be proved by testimonies; of which the princis pal are contained in the books of the New Testament. It was therefore necessary to enquire when, and by whom, those books were written. That they were not written in these latter ages, appeared indisputably from a number of ancient manuscripts now extant in almost every Christian country, from more ancient versions into languages which for many centuries have not been spoken in any corner of the world, and from still more ancient quotations of them, and references to them, by the earliest Christian writers. Thus we traced them backwards for almost feventeen centuries, and shewed clearly.

DISCOURSE XII. clearly, that they were published foon after the origin of Christianity. By whom they were written, was the next enquiry. And that all the historical books are the genuine works of the persons whose names they bear, was proved, not only by the general reception of them among men of all practices, the Christians, and their adversaries, who lived nearest to the time of their publication, and were best able to judge of their authenticity, but also by the particular testimonies of many grave writers, of whom fome received the Gospel from the apostles themfelves, and others from their immediate disciples. Unless, then, the manuscripts, versions, quotations, in every language, and dispersed through every country, be all counterfeit: these books have descended from the age to which they are commonly referred. Unless the attestations not only of contemporaries, but of men who converfed with the writers, and were instructed by them in the fubjects of these books; attestations given in public, and uncontradicted; received with an universal concurrence by friends and encmies, by those who were most concerned to

know

know the truth, and those who were most inclined to dispute it; unless all these attestations deceive us, the books we are speak. ing of were composed by the persons to whom they are ascribed.

That these persons are credible witnesses of the facts they relate, was my next proposition. In discoursing of it, I considered them first as common historians, and then as witnesses of the resurrection and other miraculous events. Confidered as common histo. rians, they appear to exhibit feveral clear determinate narratives of plain facts, told with all their circumstances, and, as it seems, without difguise and without reserve. The accounts were published in the times and places of which they fpeak. They might, if false, have been easily consuted; they would probably have confuted each other. But in all the principal events they are wholly uncontradicted, perfectly confistent. These accounts are further confirmed by the letters from the first preachers of Christianity to the churches they had planted; and by their exact correspondence with the laws, customs, and history of the Jews and

Romans

DISCOURSE XII.

Romans.—When we confidered the writers of the New Testament, as witnesses of the miracles they have recorded; the force of their testimony was estimated from their characters, their motives, and their number. Their characters confisted in their ability to know the truth, and integrity to declare it.

Of their ability no doubts could arise: fince the wonderful works they reported were usually the plain objects of the senses, in which it was not possible for those to mistake, who affirmed, that they faw and heard them; and the evangelists were either themselves present at these great events, or received the accounts immediately from those who were. -Their integrity was shewn, both from their writings and their conduct: from their writings, because they relate openly what infincere and artful men would have endeavoured to conceal, the poverty and mean condition of their master, the contempt with which he was treated, the ignominious death he fuffered, their own low employments, their ignorance, mistakes, foolish contentions, and cowardice; from their conduct, because, without any other view but that of instructing

mankind

mankind in virtue and religion, they exposed themselves to perils and hardships of every fort, and neither stripes nor imprisonment, nor the terrors of inftant death, could prevail on them to desist from their public attestations.—If the things they testified were true; the motives, on which they acted, appear to have been of the noblest kind, obedience to God, and love to men. If they were false; no imagination can feign any fufficient, any probable, motives, for their giving up every thing valuable in this life, without the prospect of a future recompence. -The last circumstance, on which the strength of this testimony depends, is the number of the witnesses. And this was far greater than it appears at the first view. The truth of our Saviour's miracles rests not wholly on the credit of those, who have written his history. They have produced many other witnesses, to confirm their accounts. For, when a man was named by them, as present at any of the miracles, or fo described that he might be easily known, he was thereby summoned to stand forth as a witness; and his adherence to the same society,

DISCOURSE XII. 195 ciety, his profession of the same religion, was a plain affent to the facts, which his friends and companions had published. Thus the twelve apostles, who are named in the Gospels, as the constant attendants of our Saviour, and the seventy disciples, sent forth to preach in the cities and towns, who, from the nature of their office, could not be concealed, were confidered as fo many witneffes to us, of the miracles at which they were present, or which they themselves performed. To these were added, the greater part of those five hundred, who were assembled together, and faw their Master after his resurrection; that is, so many of them, as were alive, when St. Paul cited their testimony. Other multitudes also were witnesses of other miracles, That fome miracles were performed, every convert to our religion, in the early times, most plainly declares. Christianity was received on the evidence of miracles, real or pretended. A man's present interest would incline him not to be too haffily convinced of their reality. Yet great numbers were convinced; and each is indif-

O 2 putably

putably a better witness, than we can usually produce for other remote facts.

Such, and so numerous, are the witnesses, on whose testimony we depend. And nothing has been objected to it, but, that the matters they relate are incredible; incredible, because wholly unlike to every thing we experience. The objection was confidered at large; but a short answer to it is sufficient. For, unless some example can be produced of a number of men, equal to the number of our witnesses, and possessed of equal opportunities of knowing the truth who have yet been deceived in plain facts, about which it was fo much their interest not to be deceived; or who have concerted a fraud, from which they had so little to hope, and so much to apprehend: unless some such mistake, or design, has been discovered in fome age or country: we may fairly conclude, that there is incomparably better evidence for the miracles of Christ and his apostles, from external testimony, than against them, from their unlikeness to other events. For the degree of external testimony, by which they are supported, has never misled mankind,

DISCOURSE XII. 197 mankind, but the principle of unlikeness does often, and must necessarily, deceive them.

2. The truth of the miracles being established, our next business was to consider their use; to enquire, with what design these changes were made in the fixt laws of nature. And that the defign was, to reveal to mankind the will of their Creator, was fully shewn, from the declarations of those, who performed these wonderful works; from the natural fignification of the works themselves; from their fitness for this purpose, their unfitness for any other; from the effects they produced; and, above all, from the express testimony of God. The men, who worked these miracles, were furnished with extraordinary power and knowledge; and certainly it cannot appear more extraordinary, that they should also know, for what purpose, such power and knowledge were given them: especially when their explication of it agrees with the natural impressions of these works upon the human mind. This constitution of our minds contains a declaration of God's

3

will;

will; and the evidence, which we cannot resist without violence, is such as he commands us to receive. Some too of the min. cles were peculiarly adapted to the purpose of teaching religion, and none of them to am other purpose worthy of a divine interpofition. With what defign were the apoffle fuddenly enabled to speak in every language but that they might speak to every nation And what had they of importance to fpeak, but the truths revealed from heaven? We know too, that, in the works of the Almighty, every thing answers his intentions; so that the design of his interpositions may be discerned from their effect. And, fince the effect was, that great numbers were converted to a firm belief of Christianity, the design of them was certainly to prove it.—All these natural explications of miracles are confirmed by the express testimony of God. Such a testimony is evidently given, when a miracle, which has been asked of Him, as a sign or proof of any doctrine, is performed. Any arbitrary meaning may be affixed by confent to any action. And God declares his affent to

DISCOURSE XII. 199 the meaning, which the petitioner has chosen, by an immediate answer to the petition.

II. These points, which were fully explained before, I now pass over hastily; and proceed to the second argument, taken from the prophecies of the Old Testament.

The obscurity of the prophetic writings occasioned the only difficulty we met with in this part of our inquiry: a difficulty, which was found to vanish in two cases; namely, when we can discover how the prophecies were understood before their accomplishment, and when the accomplishment brings with it a full explanation of them. These solutions were severally applied to the prophecies relating to the two great fubjects of them, the kingdom, and the perfon, of the Messiah. 1. The meaning of some paffages, which, before the coming of Christ, were believed by the Jews to relate to the kingdom of their promised Messiah, it may now be difficult to determine. But the expectations formed upon them, among that people, are clearly known. And, if these expectations were fuch, as could not, in the ordinary course of human affairs, be fulfilled; then have we the same evidence of God's

interpolition for their accomplishment, whee ther the passages were rightly interpreted or not. We may judge indeed from the event, that they were rightly interpreted. For the fum of the predictions was, that, at a time fo described, as to limit our views to a certain age, a person should arise in Judea, who, without any power but that of perfuasion, should prevail on all the kingdoms of the earth, the subjects and their governors, to own him for their fovereign, and submit to his laws; that he should presently form, and afterwards govern, by the same methods of. gentleness and peace, a lasting empire, perpetually encreasing, till it should become universal; that he should teach mankind the knowledge of the true God, and introduce among them righteousness and concord; in fhort, fhould make them wife and virtuous and happy. No prediction could have appeared more incredible. But yet, when we observed, that Christianity has far exceeded the greatest and most flourishing empires, in its rapid progress, its extensive dominion, and the length of its prosperity; that it has, of late ages, spread itself over many Heathen countries,

DISCOURSE XII. 201

and feems, from the present state of arts and commerce, likely to make gradual advances in others: and, when we compared the religious knowledge and the morals of Christian nations with those of any other profession: we could not but confess, that every part of the prophecy is either fulfilled, or appears to be now going on towards its completion. 2. But there is another remarkable part of the predictions relating to the Messiah. With the glories of his reign, the prophets constantly join the miseries of his life. It was foretold, that he should meet with contempt and forrow; should suffer stripes and imprisonment, and even a cruel and ignominious death: and that he should submit to all these calamities voluntarily, in order to obtain pardon and privileges for others. Thefe things were never understood, till they were fulfilled. It seemed impossible to reconcile such discordant situations. But the stronger the inconsistency then appeared, the more convincing evidence do they now afford, that they were spoken by true prophets, and have been truely accomplished.

III. If

# 202 DISCOURSE XIL

III. If, after an examination of both thefe kinds of evidence, any man should entertain a doubt, whether the miracles are fairly related, or the prophecies rightly interpreted, yet the progress and establishment of Christianity, whence our third argument was drawn, are events, which cannot be contested, and which seem wholly inexplicable, upon any other supposition. Let those, who reject miracles and divine interpolitions, attempt the folution. All history certainly cannot furnish them with a parallel. For a few illiterate and despised mechanics to project the total extirpation of all the religions in the world, when they had nothing to fubstitute in their place, but what their own enthusiasm or hypocrify might suggest, would furely have been an unaccountable defign. Nor would their manner of executing it have appeared less extraordinary than the project itself. They not only set themselves in opposition to all the rich and powerful and learned, but they advanced, at the very beginning, fuch principles as were directly repugnant to the professions and prejudices of thofe,

DISCOURSE XII.

those, whom they wanted to convert: they began with preaching a doctrine, which they knew would be to the Jews a stumblingblock, and to the Greeks foolishness. That an attempt so extravagant in its design, and so preposterous in its execution, should yet be fuccessful: that they should presently make innumerable profelytes, and perfuade them to quit, for this new religion, friends and fortunes, liberty, and fometimes even life itself; nay, what is still more difficult, to pluck up rooted prejudices, and cast away habitual vices; and to adhere to the instructions they had received, with fuch firmness as is never mentioned, without astonishment, by their unbelieving neighbours; and that these doctrines should continually prevail, in opposition to the power of the Roman emperors, till half at least of their subjects were converted: all this, if the miracles recorded in the New Testament were notreally performed, must be confessed to be itfelf miraculous.

There are some differences, which deserve our notice, between these several proofs of

our

our religion. They all depend, in some degree, on testimonies; and the testimonies, which are very strong in themselves, receive additional force from their variety. In our first proof, the witnesses are chiefly Christians. In the difficult part of the fecond, we have also the consent of the ancient, and of many among the modern, Jews.-The facts referred to in the third, were all cited from Heathen authors .-- The first of these methods of reasoning would probably have the greatest influence; whilst the miraculous power continued, with all men, and afterwards with inquifitive and rational Heathens. The fecond, with learned Jews. The last, after a century or two, with many of the people, both Jews and Heathens, who would be rather guided by the number and character of Believers, than convinced by curious arguments, or by the history of remote facts. The prophecies connect Christianity with Judaism. miracles, and the wonderful fuccess of its preachers, connect it with natural religion, and with our notions of a Moral Governor,

DISCOURSE XII. 205 of the world. And thus, all the revelations, which God has made of himself, first by the law of nature, then by Moses and the prophets, and lastly by Jesus Christ, are united, and each explains and ratifies the others.

Intemperance in the Gratification of our Appetites not confident with Spiritual Improvement.

Preached on WHITSUNDAY.

EPHESIANS, v. 18.

Be not drunk with wine, wherein is excess; but be filled with the spirit.

THOUGH this verse seems to contain only two short precepts of morality and religion; one of which every man, and the other every Christian, ought to understand and observe: yet none of the Commentators have, I think, rightly explained it. Neither

DISCOURSE XIII. the reason of the former precept, nor the meaning of the latter, nor the connexion of them with each other, is made fufficiently clear. If the Apostle be supposed to caution us against drunkenness, because it is excess; it must be acknowledged, that he gives us, instead of a reason, one of those trifling propositions, which convey no instruction. And when he enjoins us to be filled with the Spirit, it will be natural to inquire, How are we to follow this direction? Is the matter within our own power? Is not the Spirit the free, the proper, gift of God? And if these difficulties be removed, and it appear, that the Apostle's reason is pertinent, and his advice practicable, yet it may still be demanded, what connexion is there between these two precepts? Why are matters, so. different in their nature, so closely united? United in such a manner as séems to import, that, if we transgress one of these rules, it will not be possible for us to observe the other. The answers to these inquiries will afford subjects for your meditation, which perhaps may be neither useless, nor unsuitable to the prefent folemnity.

the

Our first difficulty arises from the word ασωλία, here rendered excess. St. Paul was not accustomed to write with so little meaning as appears in this translation. Many passages in his Epistles are obscure; but the obscurity proceeds from an abundance, not from a want, of matter. His ideas feem fometimes to crowd upon him faster than he can express them with regularity or ease. But we find not in his writings any of those wiredrawn discouries, in which a multitude of words is employed to conceal a deficiency of fense. It is therefore reasonable to believe, that the word here used has a proper meaning, and it well becomes us to fearch for it. Its most usual acceptation, for waste, riot, or extravagance, does not agree with this paffage. Some indeed of these faults often accompany the other. But they are not usually the principal reasons against it. Nor has the observation, thus understood, any evident connexion with what precedes or follows it. But there is another use of the word: which, though lefs common, would naturally occurr to the Apostle; and which makes his sentiment clear and important and connected.

DISCOURSE XIII. 209 St. Paul was a Roman Citizen, and frequently borrowed both his notions and expressions from the laws of his country \*. Now when a man's follies or vices were fuch as rendered him either wholly inattentive to his own affairs, or incapable of conducting them, the Roman laws treated him as an infant or an idiot, and the Prætor appointed him a guardian with full authority to manage all business for him, and without whose confent his actions had no legal efficacy. The Latin word by which the lawyers denoted a person of this character, was prodigus; and they who have written the Roman history in Greek, or have translated the Roman laws into that language, constantly use for the person aculos, and for the character aculia. Its full import therefore is, fuch a mixture of wickedness and folly, as makes a man unfit to conduct himself, and requires him to be put under the guidance and authority of another. And in this technical fense, which, in the languages of people not accustomed to the fame laws, cannot be expressed by any fingle word, the term feems to be applied by

\* See Discourse XV.

Р

the

the Apostle. An immoderate use of wine, he would say, destroys a man's understanding, degrades him from the rank of reasonable Beings, and deprives him of the valuable privilege of self-government. And these observations he might well make, whether he was considering the immediate effects of intemperance, or its more remote but more lasting influence upon the understanding and the passions. The passions become more violent by the unrestrained exercise of them, which wine occasions; whilst the understanding, designed by nature to control them, is gradually ensembled, and all the rational faculties destroyed.

The second precept in the text seems also to want explanation. In the language of Scripture, to be filled with the Spirit, means to possess such excellent powers and qualities as are communicated by the Holy Ghost. And his assistance is described by the Sacred writers as being of two kinds: one pecusiar and temporary and limited, imparted to those only whom God had chosen for the messengers of his Gospel, and not even to them but at certain seasons, and for certain pur-

poses;

DISCOURSE XIII. pofes; the other general, and perpetual, and extending to all our wants, the promile of which (as St. Peter \* told some of the first converts to Christianity) was unto them and to their children, and to all that were afar off; their fuccessors however remote, even to as many as the Lord their God should call. The effects of the extraordinary influence of the Spirit were immediate and aftonishing; they who received it being presently enabled either to heal diseases, or to speak new languages, or to foretell future events, or to perform other miraculous works. The fruits of his ordinary affiftance are more gradual and natural, being good dispositions of the head and heart, fuch as faith, hope, joy, wisdom, charity, temperance, devotion. The former + were like the wind, of which we know not whence it cometh or whither it goeth, fudden, irrefistible, not to be excited or directed by human strength or skill. The latter are also the gifts of God, but given, like our food and raiment, as the encouragements and rewards of our industry. "In his ordinary

• Acts xi. 39. + John iii. 8:
P 2

\*6 operations the Spirit works with us, not

" for us; offers us his affiftance, but forces it not upon us; accompanies, not ex-" cludes, our endeavours." Of this affiftance, bestowed on all who take the proper methods to obtain it, is the Apostle speaking when he charges the Ephefians to be filed with the Spirit. It was unnecessary for him to explain here, what particular graces he intended chiefly to recommend to them, Several times in this short epistle he had described the Spirit of God under one and the same character. He had styled him \* the Spirit of wisdom and revelation, who teaches men wisdom and prudence +, who t strengthens their faith, enables them to comprehend the love of Christ, and fills them with the knowledge of God. And that the precept we are confidering relates to this influence of the Spirit in the improvement of our understandings, particularly of our religious know-. ledge, is evident from that exhortation to the pursuit of wisdom, which introduces it: || be ye not unwise; but understanding what the will of the Lord is .- It was equally unnecessary for the Apostle to instruct his con-

- \* Eph. i. 17. † i. 18. ‡ iii. 16, 17, 18. | v. 17.

verts, that the ornaments of wisdom, human or divine, would not spring up in their minds without care or culture. His preaching, his writing to them, upon the subject of their duty, were sufficient indications, that the knowledge of it was not to be miraculously communicated; but to be learned, in the ordinary methods, by attention to his discourses, by study of the Scriptures, and by such other means of information, as God's Providence, whether natural or revealed, had appointed.

The last inquiry suggested by the text was, why matters, in appearance, so distant and incoherent, are brought together. But this appearance vanishes, as soon as we have discovered their true meaning. Their connection with each other, and with the whole passage, is close, and every expression pertinent. Be ye \* not unwise, but understanding what the will of the Lord is: and be not drunk with wine, wherein is excess; but he filled with the Spirit, speaking to yourselves in psalms and

\* Eph. v. 15.

P 3

bymns

bymns and spiritual songs, singing, and make ing melody in your heart, to the Lord: which advice of the apostle may be thus paraphrased. Neglect not to improve your minds by the study of true wisdom; that especially, which consists in a clear and comprehensive knowledge of the divine discove. ries God has made of himself, and of the commands he has given to mankind; a study, which, for its difficulty, its importance, and its influence in practice, requires a cool head, and calm spirits. In this study you cannot hope to succeed, unless you avoid that intemperance, which weakens all the forces, and subverts the government, of the mind; which prevents men from forming any steady judgement, or from following it, confishently; bringing them by degrees to the inattention of idiots, or the irrefolution of children. Reduce not yourselves to this condition, in which you will continually want an earthly guardian, and governor: but implore the aid and protection of that Heavenly Visitor, who has promised to make his abode with them that love God; prepare your whole fouls for his reception,

DISCOURSE XIII. 215

reception, by exerting all your faculties in the fearch of religious wisdom, and he will improve and enlarge them all; he will give you quicker apprehensions, clearer judgements, tempers more pliant in learning, and more firm in retaining, divine truths: open your minds to his instructions, and he will pour into them the treasures of wisdom; he will fill them (these are St. Paul's own expressions) with an abundant knowledge of the Divine Will, in all wisdom and spiritual understanding \*. You expect perhaps to find, in intemperance, ease and chearfulness. But just notions of religion will afford you truer comforts, more substantial joys; the Holy Spirit will breathe into you that heartfelt melody, which will constantly enliven your disposition, and be ready, on all proper occasions, to express itself in praises and thanksgivings to God.

Such, I conceive, to be the design of the whole passage. But, concerning this insquence of God's Spirit, men have fallen into
two mistakes: which, though founded on

\* Col. i. 9.

the same false principle, are yet opposite to each other; and, though opposite, are equally dangerous: the one to religion, the other to morals. Some men, virtuous in their conduct, and ferious in their faith, neither perceiving the operation of the Spirit within themselves, nor hearing that others, of a fober and rational piety, pretend to fuch fensations, impute this whole notion to enthusiasm, and suppose, that the promiscs of the Scripture are either misunderstood, or extend not to these times. Others, having a temper more affected by religious fubjects, and, being fully convinced, that good Christians, in all ages, may expect the divine affistance, easily fancy that they perceive it, and are very apt to mistake the suggestions of a warm imagination, for the dictates of the Holy Spirit. The two errors feem to be derived from this one principle, that, whenever our minds are influenced, we cannot be ignorant, by whom, and in what manner, they are influenced; a principle contradictory to constant experience. We are perpetually conscious of changes in our sentiments and inclinations, without knowing or attending to

## DISCOURSE XIII. 217

the causes of those changes. We even proceed to actions, the motives to which escape our observation. When the origin of any opinion is within our own minds, we frequently do not remark it. When it is without them, we are as frequently unable to discover it. The dispositions of those a man converses with, the studies he is engaged in, the amusements he follows, imperceptibly alter his fentiments upon subjects, with which they feem to have little connexion. The state of his body, every external accident, even the weather, affects his mind more than he can believe, till repeated experience has convinced him. If all these trifles can influence us, and if the influence of causes so obvious is often unnoticed; can it be a question, whether we may not be fecretly guided by an omnipotent and spiritual director? It is equally irrational to conclude, either, because we are not sensible of his affistance, that none is given, or because we rely on God's promises, that the affistance given must necessarily be perceived. Difficulties of the same kind have been the occasion of similar mistakes in natural religion.

## 218 DISCOURSE XIIL

gion. One of its clearest doctrines is, that the Providence of God extends to all his creatures. But, whilft, among fome men, the affured belief of this great truth turns almost every natural event into a divine judgement, and leads them to interpret, always prefumptuoufly, and often abfurdly, the mysteries of God's moral government; by others the truth itself is questioned, because they cannot discern the particular marks of his interpolition. It is not easy to determine, either in the doctrine of Providence or Grace, which is the more arrogant or more dangerous folly; to pretend to difcover God's fecret counsels, or to deny their efficacy. This breaks off fome of the strongest bonds of religion. That fastens imaginary bonds, which often prove destructive to morality. Unless men believe, that the Supreme Governor of the world directs all events, that he teaches his fervants true wisdom, and conducts them to virtue and happiness, they will offer him neither prayers nor thanks for these important benefits; they will not entertain a just sense either of their dependence upon him, or his goodness

## DISCOURSE XIII. 219

goodness towards them. If, on the contrary, they imagine, that they can penetrate the defigns of God's providence, or that they feel his spirit fensibly conducting them, at particular feasons, to particular purposes; these notices will be thought to release them from all other obligations. And the experience of many ages has shewn, that none deviate fo openly and boldly from the plain high road of moral virtue, as those, who blasphemously pretend to follow the immediate guidance of the Holy Spirit. He, who is really filled with spiritual wisdom, avoids both these errors. He acknowledges, that every good and every perfect gift is from above, coming down from the Father of Light; that the support of true religion, both in knowledge and practice, is to be ascribed to his influence, as much as the preservation of order and beauty in the natural world to his continual providence; but as we are ignorant how the instincts of animals, the powers of vegetation, and even the forces of brute matter are communicated, fo must we be content to be ignorant of the pature and particular effects of the divine illuminations.

illuminations. It is sufficient for us to understand the means of obtaining them. These are, humble prayers to God, ferious attention to the importance of the bleffings we ask. and earnest endeavours to prepare both our fouls and bodies for their reception. Some necessary parts of this preparation, as we have feen, the apostle had in view, when he required temperance, and care to improve their understandings, of those who would be filled with the Spirit. If this Divine Being comes to make his abode with us, he will expect to find his habitations, according to the description in our Saviour's parable, empty, swept, and garnished; that is, free from any vicious inmates which may diffurb, from any pollutions which may offend, him; and adorned, as far as our natural faculties are able to adorn them, with wisdom and virtue. Thus may our bodies become the Temples of the Holy Ghoft. But whether they shall be consecrated to him, or remain the finks of vice and corruption, is the fubject of our free choice. If there be any difficulty in the determination, we may fubmit it to the judgment of a fenfible heathen.

DISCOURSE XIII. 221

In the reign of Alexander Severus, a dispute arose at Rome, between some Christians and a company of vintners, about a piece of waste ground, upon which the Christians wanted to build a church, and the others a tavern. The title was doubtful; the parties obstinate; the cause came on at last before the emperor, who, when the grounds of justice could not be ascertained, decided it upon a religious confideration. Though little acquainted with Christianity, he judged in favour of the Christians. "It is better, faid he, " that the ground be employed for " the worship of God, in any manner, than " for luxury and excess." So did a Heathen determine, even of an unhallowed place. And furely a Christian will think it an impious profanation to make that body, a receptacle for wine, which was chosen for a temple for the living God.

The PRODIGAL SON.

LUKE XV. 11, 12.

And he faid, A certain man had two sons: And the younger of them said unto his father, Father, give me the portion of goods, that falleth to me. And he divided unto them his living.

A MONG men, so little accustomed to reason upon religious subjects, and so much prejudiced against many of the doctrines, revealed by our Saviour, as his countrymen the Jews were; no method of instruction could feem to promise greater 4

### DISCOURSE XIV. 223

fuccess, than the frequent use of parables. These short stories would be soon conceived and long remembered; and in most of them fome moral and religious truths are fo plainly contained, that they could scarce be overlooked even by an ignorant and inattentive people. But such obvious truths are far from being the whole instruction contained in them. These are often no more than preludes to the main defigus; intended only to open the minds of the hearers, and to lead them gradually to those important Christian doctrines, which they were not at first able to receive. Matters too high for their mean conceptions were introduced to them in an humble dress; but one, which would certainly fall off, as the knowledge of religion advanced, and would then fuffer the truths to appear in their genuine forms. When therefore our Saviour is faid by the Evangelist to have fpoken to the Jews in parables, that feeing they might not perceive, aud hearing they might not understand; it was not from a disposition to dispense his instructions penuriously: this would have ill suited with his repeated declarations, that he came to be the

the light of the world: but from the necessity of veiling that light before eyes that were not accustomed to it, and would turn away from its unusual brightness.

Thus, in the discourse from which my .text is taken, our Saviour's principal design was, as appears from the connexion of the feveral parts, to teach the doctrine of univerfal redemption. But the calling of the Gentiles to the knowledge of the true God, and their admission into the kingdom of the Messiah, were things so opposite to the prejudices, and so offensive to the pride, of the Ifraelites, that they would never have liftened to a person, who, assuming the character of a divine messenger, had represented these as the leading points in his commission. Their prejudices were first to be removed, before the doctrine could be proposed openly. It was therefore of necessity to be wrapt in fome parable; and fuch a parable was chosen, as would answer both the purposes: would first furnish reflexions the most proper to prepare the mind for receiving the mystery, . and to a mind rightly prepared, would infallibly unfold the mystery itself. The hearers

DISCOURSE XIV. of the parable, how ignorant foever, could not but observe its striking circumstances: the miseries which the vices of the younger Son bring upon him; the efficacy of his repentance; the willingness of his Father to pardon him; the murmurs of his Brother at the kind reception given. And when, by their attention to these circumstances, they had learned to pity the wandering prodigal, and rejoice at his return, to love and admire the benevolence of his Father, and to hear with indignation the unreasonable complaints of his Brother; they would then be properly qualified to look into the true meaning of the well-feigned tale: and the progress of Christianity in every nation would help to open They would now confider the parable, as shadowing out God's conduct towards mankind: the younger Son as the emblem of the Heathens, who, having separated themselves from the great Father of the world, and having loft or corrupted that portion of religious knowledge which He had given to all his children, were become

the fervants of vice and error; but were now to be restored upon their repentance,

and

of

and received into the household of God: and the elder Son as reprefenting the Jews, who boasted that they had long served the true God, repined that others should partake of their privileges, and refused to enter into their Father's house, the Christian church. when they faw that the Gentiles were admitted also. They who acknowledged this application of the parable to be proper, could not but confess, that all the complaints of the Jews were felfish and malevolent; and that the divine œconomy was, in this instance, like that of the good Father, who went out to a great distance to meet his returning Son, and replaced him in his family with expressions of more than ordinary pleasure. And thus the parable before us, like many others in the Gospel, did not only enable men to comprehend the important doctrines it was intended to convey; but afforded also confiderable evidence of their truth. For fuch conduct as nature recommends to good and wife men, Fathers or Magistrates, may well be expected from the Author of Nature: and that connexion between vice and mifery, repentance and the alleviations of that mifery, which

DISCOURSE XIV. 227 which individuals experience, might lead them to fear or hope, that there would be found fomewhat corresponding to it in the more general plan of God's dealings with mankind.

But the advantages of this method of teaching could not all be received by the fame persons, or in the same age. To the first hearers the letter of the parables was familiar, the spirit impenetrable. The primary sense would supply them with much useful knowledge; but the allusions to the kingdom of God, to the condition of mankind in this world under the Christian dispenfation, or to the distribution of rewards and punishments in another, were then obscure. By us, on the contrary, these allusions are often better understood, or more carefully observed, than the circumstances of the parable itself, or the moral instructions or And indeed the admonitions it suggests. former we may purfue too far, when we fancy fuch an exact resemblance between the minute parts of the relation, and the doctrine which it covers, as was never defigned either in our Saviour's, or in any other the most celebrated Q 2

celebrated apologues: but, in our inquiries for the moral truths contained in them, there is no danger of being misled by too close an attention to every part. I shall therefore here drop the mysterious sense of the parable, and, considering it only as a plain domestic story, shall confine myself to such observations as may arise upon three points; namely, the behaviour of the prodigal, the wretched condition to which his vice reduced him, and the relief he obtained from his Father's kindness.

I. 1. Upon the first it may be observed, that the extravagance of the young man was not of the most criminal kind. Several circumstances mentioned in the parable extenuate, though they do not excuse, his offence. What he wasted was his own. There does not appear any degree of injustice mixed with his folly. His request to his Father is: Give me the portion of goods that falleth to me, τὸ ἐπιδάλλου μέρος τῆς ἐσίας, the portion that belongeth to me by the laws. This is the import of the expression in other writers, and the most natural interpretation of it here. The reference may be to the

DISCOURSE XIV. 229

laws either of the Jews or of the Romans. For in this they agreed, that they did not allow to the Father of a family the voluntary distribution of his whole estate; but allotted a certain portion to every fon. The young man therefore only defires the immediate possession of that fortune, which, according to the usual course of things, must after a few years devolve to him. He eafily obtains his request from an indulgent Father, and is in as much haste to dissipate his riches, as he was to possess them. But, though common reason justly censures his imprudence, the same reason distinguishes it from the aggravated fault of those, who run into riotous expences, greater than they are able to pay; or even of those, who, having nothing that is properly their own, lavish more than is given them willingly by their friends.

2. Another alleviation of the Prodigal's fault is the fituation, in which he commits it. Having gathered all together, he removes, with his Father's confent, it feems (for what purpose is not mentioned, perhaps to improve his fortune by trade) into a distant country. In that distant country, far from all the

laws

friends, whose advice or admonitions might have checked his extravagant folly, he confumes his substance. His own conscience indeed ought to have checked it. But yet he is entitled to more lenity in our censure, than if he had continued in a course of vain and luxurious expence, unmoved by any of those exhortations and remonstrances to which nature and religion most obliged him to attend.

3. And, if the young man's behaviour thus far admits of fome apology, all that follows deserves praise. When he has spent all, still steady to the principles of justice, he is willing to earn bread by any honest employment. He becomes a fervant to a foreigner, and fubmits to the meanest, and then the most detested, of all offices, that of feeding fwine; animals by the Jewish law unclean, and not less so in the opinions of several neighbouring nations. Whoever touched them was looked upon as polluted, and with the keepers of them none, even among the dregs of the people, would intermarry or affociate themselves. Yet so justly sensible is the prodigal of his former wickedness; so ftrongly

DISCOURSE XIV. 231

strongly does he feel the shame of appearing in his father's presence: that he rather undertakes this haetful employment, than he will venture to approach him. But, being wholly unable to preferve his life by any labour, he resolves at last, with the fullest and most humble confession of his crimes, to implore such a degree of forgiveness, that he may bereceived in the lowest station in his father's family; confenting to be placed, even below his flaves, in the rank of a hired servant. It may perhaps not be easily reconciled to our ideas, but it feems highly probable, that the condition of such a servant, when not hired to exercise any art or skill, but merely to labour, was, in many respects, inferior to that of a household slave. The master's interest in the preservation of the life and health of his flave; humanity towards perfons, to whom nature had allotted (that was the doctrine of philosophers and lawyers in those times) a station below the rest of mankind; and the affection, which usually grows up in a man's mind towards those with whom he has a permanent connexion, and frequent intercourse; would all contribute

Q 4

bute to mitigate the rigours of domestic slavery. But, with the hired servant, the master had no farther concern than to pay him for his stated labour; and any tenderness to him would be, in a great degree, prevented by the contempt attending this condition, when it was not the most common, and rarely befel men, but through their own misconduct.

II. While we behold a young man, born to better hopes, now looking up with eager defire to fuch a fituation as this; we are led to reflect upon the wretched state, to which his vices have reduced him; a flate of extreme want; the more feverely felt from a habit of expence, and aggravated by an uncommon and unforefeen calamity; without any ability to supply that want by his own industry, or any expectation of relief from the compassion of others.—Each of these circumstances is touched in the parable. 1. When, from a life of luxury and riot, he had been forced to descend to the meanest servitude, there arises an extraordinary famine in the country. Nor ought this to be confidered as an unnatural

DISCOURSE XIV. 233

tural aggravation of the misery which follows extravagance. For, though many prodigals may escape this particular calamity, and not fall into times of famine, there are few among them, who fuffer those evils only, which they had reason to expect; few, who do not find, together with the load of afflictions they have brought upon themfelves, some foreign and accidental weight to oppress them. -2. But the obvious comsequences of an expensive course are sufficiently grievous. The same vice, be it intemperance, vanity, or indolence, which ruins a man's fortunes, makes him unable to repair them. All, or any of these bad habits gradually destroy the best faculties of his mind, the health and activity of his body. Had not the Prodigal rendered himfelf unfit for any liberal or reputable employment, he would not have undertaken the meanest and most disgraceful. would a master have chosen any, but the weakest and worst of his servants, for an office, which required neither strength nor understanding .- 3. If in this wretched condition, he met with no pity; if, when he is compelled

compelled, by the sharpness of his hunger, to partake with the fwine in fuch food, as can neither fatisfy his appetite, nor preserve his life, yet no man relieves him; this neglect has in it nothing to furprize us. The representation is fully justified by the common behaviour of mankind. Their compassion does not rise in proportion to the sufferings which a man brings upon himfelf; or, if they feel the fentiments of pity, they are restrained from the exercise of it, by despair of fuccess. For how can they hope to support him, who has voluntarily cast himself to the ground? Or, how make him happy with a little, who has been accustomed to lavish much?

III. But there remains still one gleam of comfort for the Prodigal. His father is tender, and benevolent; and might perhaps as suage his forrows, if he durst discover them unto him. Necessity gives him considence: he makes the trial; and succeeds beyond his utmost wishes. As soon as his approach is known, the kind father runs to meet him; falls on his neck, and kisses him; and orders immediately to be brought to him, a robe,

DISCOURSE XIV. 235

a ring, and fhoes, the feveral parts of drefs, which distinguished a freeman from a slave, thereby shewing, that he receives him, not as a servant, but as a son; and he celebrates his return with unufual festivity. But, amidst all this tenderness and joy, the good man forgets not what reason and justice require of him. Mark what he fays to his elder son, All that I have is thine. Imagine not, that your younger brother shall again divide the inheritance with you. What belonged to him, he has confumed. All that I retained is for your use. We must relieve him from his present distress. We have great reason to rejoice at the amendment begun in him, and to encourage him in it, by expreffions of fatisfaction and kindness. But the chief evidence of this amendment is, that he feems content to bear, what I shall not attempt to remove by injuring you, the natural punishment of his crimes; and to pass the remainder of his days in poverty and dependence. - In this fituation, the parable leaves him; plainly intimating to us, that, notwithstanding all, which may be justly alledged in extenuation of his guilt, and all which

which he has already fuffered for it, neither the fincerity of his own repentance, nor the lenity of his father's temper, though they may indeed alleviate his misfortunes, can restore him to the condition from which he has fallen.

Let us now take a fhort view of the principal circumstances of the Parable, and of the moral instructions it was designed to convey to us. First, it plainly teaches us, what young persons especially often want to learn, that vice and folly, though not of the worst kind, are yet followed by great mifery, even in this life. Those, who have not had much experience are apt to commit faults, without thinking of the natural confequences to be expected; or without believing that fuch consequences will befal them. But their want of attention, or disbelief, is fo far from a fecurity, that it only expofes them to greater dangers. The young man in the Parable, we may suppose, did not foresee his own ruin. Certainly he did not foresee the extraordinary famine, which followed it, and reduced him to a starving condition.—The next thing, which the Parable teaches us, is, that the evils we bring upon ourselves are often more lasting than the vices or sollies which occasion them. We may presently, and without design, make ourselves miserable; but it requires a long time, and strong resolutions, to restore us to happiness. The Prodigal, when he was willing to provide for himself, was not qualified for any reputable or useful employment. He continued to suffer, after he ceased to be criminal. Nay, even his indulgent father did not attempt to raise him from that low estate, to which his vices had reduced him.—Lastly, the behaviour of the

mation. The happy father, running out to his fon, kiffing and embracing him, putting the best robe upon him, and receiving him with expressions of the greatest joy, is a just representation of the loving-kindness of God

father in the parable was plainly intended to

give us right conceptions of God's com-

passion towards repenting sinners, and there-

by to encourage us to repentance and refor-

wide difference between the penitent son, and him who had never offended. And

there

rable

there is reason to believe, that the Great Father of mankind, though he will receive with compassion and tenderness all those wanderers, who shall at last return to his household, will yet reserve the chief manssions (and in his bouse, as his Son has declared, are many manssions) for those dutiful children, who have never departed very far, nor for a long time, from their obedience.

## DISCOURSE XV.

The NATURE and EXTENT of INSPIRATION,

Illustrated from the WRITINGS of St. PAUL.

2 PET. V. 17.

Even as our beloved brother Paul also, according to the wisdom given unto him, hath written unto you.

CONCERNING the kind and degree of that wisdom, which was given to the first teachers of Christianity, many difficult questions have been proposed. But how many and how difficult soever they be, there are found men hardy enough to offer answers to them all, out of their own preconceived

conceived opinions. The old philosophers. struck with admiration of their eminent masters and teachers, used to say, that Juniter, were he to speak Greek, would imitate the copiousness of Plato, and that the Muses conversed in the sweet language of Xemphon. And these Christians, no less prefumptuous than the Heathens, fancy themfelves able to determine, of what kind the discourses must be, which are written in heaven; or what degree of perfection we may expect to find in pieces dictated by the Holy Spirit, or composed under his direction. Having formed to themselves an idea of excellency in writing, they prefume that the method, the fentiments, and the language, of every inspired book, must perfectly correspond to it. But they, who agree in the theory, differ widely in the application of it. Some of them, men commendable rather for pious zeal, than for critical judgement or great learning, feriously maintain, that every part of the Sacred Volume is accurate, elegant, magnificent; that St. Paul, in particular, furpasses the wifest philosophers of Greece in abundance and weight of matter, DISCOURSE XV. 241 most eloquent of its orators in sublimity of conception and expression: and this superiority, they suppose, cannot be disputed, if the divine origin of the writings be allowed.

Whilst another, of a more refined taste, who excels no less in an easy and polished style, than he is deficient in just reasoning, and

found theology, represents the books of the

New Testament, as abounding with barbarous idioms, and, upon the whole, so auk-

wardly put together, that they may eafily

be believed to be the productions of illiterate fishermen, or mean mechanics; but he

cannot persuade himself, that they are, in

any degree, fuitable to our notions of the

Supreme Being, or to that absolute perfec-

tion, which is effential to his nature, and evidently impressed on all his works: and

hence he would infer, that the influence of

the Holy Spirit, upon the minds of the

apostles, was occasional only; and that He did not constantly guide their judgement, or

inspire their language. Which of these

opinions is more remote from the truth, is a question of curiofity rather than of impor-

tance: since the errors, though they run to

R opposite

opposite conclusions, spring from the same miftaken method of reasoning; and that a method, which, to whatever subject it is applied, is fruitful of falsehood. You know very well, into what difficulties and mistakes men betrayed themselves in the study of nature, when, instead of laying the foundations of their philosophy in experience, they formed imaginary fystems, and endeavoured to adapt the works of God to these fictions. Nor can it have escaped your notice, how vain would be an attempt to deduce from our ideas of God's attributes the plan of his moral government. But when, in these two great subjects of inquiry, we begin with experiments and observations, we soon discover, both in the natural and moral world, proofs of confummate wisdom; and, as our knowledge increases, these proofs become clearer, and more numerous. In the fludy of Revelation, men are liable to the like errors, and may avoid them by the like caution. When, from their own notions of propriety and rectitude, they presume to decide, what ought to be the means used by the Deity, in the communication of his will to mankind; they

DISCOURSE XV. 24

they decide questions, of which nature has not, in any degree, enabled them to judge: and therefore it is no wonder, that the expectations they form are feldom answered by the events.—They expect, that the commands of God should be conveyed in none but the clearest and most elegant of all writings. With equal reason, might they suppose, that every one, originally commissioned to preach the Gospel, must have had a fuller and fweeter voice, a more commanding or more captivating presence and aspect, than ever graced any other orator, or forced the attention, and won the affections, of an au-They expect, that the relations of our Saviour's life and miracles should be the fullest and most precise of all narratives. Just as wifely have others pretended, that the miracles themselves ought all to have been performed, as fome indeed were, in the most public places, at times of the greatest concourfe, and with circumstances that must command universal affent: and as reasonably might it be alledged, that truths fo momentous, as the doctrines of Christianity, ought not to have been concealed from any in-

R<sub>2</sub>

dividual

dividual of any age or nation. Thus may men frame numberless conclusions about divine revelation, all derived from the same kind of principles, every one of which is wholly unsupported, some evidently contradicted, by history and experience.

From these alone our inquiries should all begin. By searching the Scriptures, we should endeavour to discover what have been the methods of Providence, in promulgating and preserving the knowledge of Christianity. When our reasoning is thus grounded on facts, not on speculations, we shall be in no danger, either of mistaking human workmanship for divine, or of questioning the authority of a divine messenger, because his habit is of human texture.

As an example of this method of inquiry, I intend to consider, at present, the Epistles of St. Paul, and to compare them, as far as the limits of this discourse will allow, with the circumstances of his education and conversion; from which comparison, it will appear, I think, indisputably, that the wisdom contained in them was given him from above,

DISCOURSE XV. 245 above, and very probably, that the style and composition was his own.

But, here let it be first observed, that every question concerning the inspiration of Scripture, is a question among Christians only, not between them and unbelievers. Till a man is convinced that our religion came originally from God, he is not concerned to inquire about the conveyance of it to afterages. And in vain should we attempt to prove to him that the books containing it were inspired, before he has learned, by whom those books were written, and admits the authors to be credible witnesses of the facts they relate. We are therefore to prefume, as matters already established, the divine mission of Jesus Christ, the genuineness of the Scriptures, and the truth of the hiftory delivered in them .- In this history, St. Paul appears, at first, a warm opposer of Christianity, and an open perfecutor of all who professed it. But he is suddenly and miraculously converted; and changed, at once, from a declared enemy, not, as might have been expected, to a disciple, but to a teacher of our religion. He does not fet himself R 3

himself to inquire what this new doctrine is; he confers not with any of those who were apostles before him, nor condescends to be instructed by them in the way of salvation: but, before he fees any one of them, or is known by face to the Christians in Judea, he assumes the character and office of an apostle\*. But how did he learn the doctrines, which he undertook to teach? Let him answer for himself. I certify you, brethren, that the Gospel which was preached of me, is not after men. For I neither received it of man, neither was I taught it, but by the revelation of Fesus Christ +. And again he styles himself an apostle, not of men, neither by man, but by Jesus Christ and God the Father 1. The doctrines of Christianity, and his appointment to be a preacher of it, were immediately revealed to him; or, as the same thing may be otherwise expressed, his knowledge of them was inspired. For there seems to be no intelligible distinction between original revelation and inspiration. That supernatural knowledge may be communicated

DISCOURSE XV. to the human mind in various manners, we have no reason to deny: but, the manners being all unknown to us, we can distinguish the gifts of the Spirit only by their effects. When one man was enabled to speak many languages, another to prophecy, another to understand mysteries, or the obscure passages of the Old Testament, the diversity of the celestial gifts was evident; but, when the knowledge impressed was the same, we are able to conceive no difference in the impreffion. Whether we fay, that the new doctrines were revealed or inspired, the meaning is exactly the same. They, whose underflandings were furnished by the Holy Spirit with more than human knowledge, were inspired. They, who committed such knowledge to writing, made inspired books. To St. Paul, as the account of his conduct upon his conversion, and his own express declarations manifestly prove, were the doctrines of Christianity revealed from heaven. This was the wisdom, with which he wrote his Epistles. The word wisdom is here used by St. Peter, as it is frequently by St. Paul himself, for the knowledge of the Gospel. The

R 4

<sup>\*</sup> Gal. i. 11. † Ver. 16, &c. † Ver. 1.

The other apostles likewise were taught of God. For, though they converfed with our Saviour upon earth, yet he referred them to another instructor, whom he would send amongst them; and it was not till after the descent of the Holy Ghost, that they fully comprehended their master's purpose, or the true nature of his religion. If then St. Paul did not learn the Christian system from the other apostles, nor they from Christ, but both he and they received it immediately by the operations of God's Spirit; it is evident, that the doctrines they preached, and the books they wrote, were inspired.—But the author must have had some very different notion of inspiration, if indeed he had any distinct notion of it, who has maintained, that its influence on the minds of the apoftles was not permanent, but transitory; adapted only to special occasions, and, when these were served, presently suspended or withdrawn. The natural faculties of the human mind enable it to retain the knowledge it has once acquired; especially if that knowledge be clear and important. None could be more important, or more justly claim attention.

DISCOURSE XV. attention, than the fuggestions of the Holy Spirit; and there is no reason to believe, that they were either obscure in themselves, or destructive of a man's natural faculties. But, as long as the memory retained the divine communications, fo long did the inspiration continue: and this, we may prefume, was usually as long as the apostle lived. It must indeed be acknowledged (and hence may have arisen the error we are speaking of) that they who were favoured with the illuminations of the Spirit, did not all immediately underftand the whole scheme of Christianity. We find them possessed of extraordinary gifts, and yet doubting about their ordinary proceeding; not agreeing, either who were to be admitted, or what were the terms of admission, into the Gospel covenant. For the Holy Ghost, imitating the course of God's natural Providence, and treating them, first like babes, gradually fupplied their minds with wisdom, till they came to the full sta-

ture of a perfect Christian.

But this wisdom consisted not in inticing words of human device. The business of Christianity was, to instruct mankind in the mysteries

mysteries of their redemption; to teach them, what duties God requires of them, and what will be the consequences of their obedience, or disobedience, to his commands. And here the graces of human eloquence might furely be spared. The joys of heaven, and the terrors of future torments, may be allowed to have their influence, though fet forth in plain and artless, or even in rude and uncouth, language. . Of whatever kind the language be, it had probably no other fource than the natural abilities of the writers. The form and character of St. Paul's Epistles we shall find to have been derived from the circumstances of his early life. Tarfus, where he was born, and where his parents dwelt, was, in that age, a celebrated feat of learning. But, in every feat of ancient learning, eloquence held a principal rank; and each species of it was denominated from the place, where it was most practised, or in the greatest perfection. Thus we read of the chafte Attic eloquence, and of the florid Afiatic; and Tarsus also gave name to its peculiar mode.

## DISCOURSE XV.

mode\*. The last is indeed the least known; because, from the very nature of it, its productions were not likely to remain. The Tarfic eloquence was employed in fudden and unpremeditated harangues. And St. Paul, long accustomed to compositions of this fort, transferred the style and manner from speaking to writing. He seems to have written his Epistles with the force of a speaker; not opening the way to his subject, nor advancing gradually towards it, but rushing into it. Little solicitous about method, he is often drawn from his defign by the accidental use of an expression or a word; and neither when he quits his purpose, nor when he returns to it again, does he employ the usual forms of transition. Sometimes he assumes another person, and introduces a kind of dialogue; in which it is not always easy to distinguish, who is speaking, the ob-. jector or answerer. Lastly, he abounds with broken fentencs, bold figures, and hard, far-fetched, metaphors. These peculiarities,

<sup>\*</sup> Some account of the Schools, Exercises, &c. of Tarfus, may be feen in Strabo, lib. xiv. See also Blackwell's Memoirs of the Court of Augustus, vol. ii.

in the apostle's manner, occasion continual. difficulties; and therefore could not escape the notice of his commentators; of whom the most rational \* impute them to such a warm temper, and a mind fo full of religious knowledge, that his thoughts feem to strive for utterance, and his zeal fuffers him to attend to nothing, but the great mysteries revealed to him. But what they excuse as the effect of fervent zeal, and plentiful knowledge, either necessarily belongs to unprepared discourses, or may be admitted into them without blame. He, who speaks on a fudden, cannot make those regular approaches to his principal defign, nor dispose his matter in that exact order, which we find in fludied compositions. He may fafely pass from one subject, or one person, to another, without the ceremonies, which a reader requires, but which a fpeaker supplies the want of by his countenance, his voice, and every motion of his body. And those agitations of mind, which, in numerous affemblies, are mutually excited by the speaker and the hearers, excite

oratory.

But St. Paul did not learn at Tarfus the general form only of his writings. He collected there also many of their minuter ornaments. In that city was one of the largest and most celebrated places of exercife then in Asia. And there is no matter, from which the apostle borrows his words and images, in greater abundance, than from the public exercises. He frequently considers the life of a Christian as a race, a wrestling, or a boxing; the rewards, which good men expect hereafter, he calls the prize, the victor's crown; and, when he exhorts his disciples to the practice of virtue, he does it usually in the very same terms, in which he would have encouraged the combatants. But many of these allusions, which occur in every page of the original, can hardly be preserved in a translation.

. From the apostle's country, we descend to his family, and here we find another fource of his figurative expressions. His parents were Roman citizens; and words or

<sup>\*</sup> See Locke's Introd. to his Paraph.

fentiments, derived from the laws of Rome, would easily creep into their conversation. No wonder then, that their son sometimes uses forms of speech peculiar to the Roman lawyers; and applies many of the rules of adoption, manumission, and testaments, to illustrate the counsels of God in our redemption.

Nor are there wanting in St. Paul's style some marks of his occupation. To a man employed in making tents, the ideas of camps, arms, armour, warfare, military pay, would be familiar. And he introduces these and their concomitants so frequently, that his language seems to be such as might rather have been expected from a soldier, than from one who lived in quiet times, and was a preacher of the Gospel of peace.

When we observe farther, that, being educated in the school of Gamaliel, and instructed in all the learning of the Jewish doctors, he not only uses the Hebrew idiom, but has many references to the Hebrew scriptures, and the received interpretations of them; there will remain little, that is peculiar, in his manner of writing, of which the origin

may

DISCOURSE XV. 2

may not be traced to one or other of the beforementioned circumstances.

But now, if any man shall fay (and fomething like it, I believe, has been faid) that the Holy Spirit, though he fuggested to the facred writers, not only the religious wisdom, with which they abound, but every fentence and word they delivered, yet directed them in fuch a manner as to leave to each his own peculiar style, and that very form and method of teaching, to which his natural genius, or his education, would have inclined him; fuch an opinion differs but little from his, who should tell us, that God, by a miraculous exertion of his power, had made the winter winds to blow, or the vernal showers to descend: which may indeed have been fometimes true, but never can be proved. And could it be proved, that the Holy Scriptures were thus dictated, it does not appear, that any important conclusions would be deducible from it. That which is important, is also clear; that, whatever be thought of the colouring, the substance of these writings was from heaven.

The DIVERSITY of CHARACTER belonging to different Periods of Life.

I Cor. xiii. II.

When I was a child, I spake as a child, I understood as a child, I thought as a child; but when I became a man, I put away childish things.

YOU may perhaps remember a remarkable passage in that work of Xenophon, in which he delineates the life and character of a Philosophic Prince. Cyrus was going out of Persia into Media, and was now approaching the confines of the two kingdoms; when he stopt with his attendants, and, turning round, took a solemn leave of the deities, whom

DISCOURSE XVI. 257 whom he supposed to preside over his native country, and then immediately entering the other kingdom, he committed himself to the protection and guidance of its tutelary gods. The ceremony was decent; as correspoding to the notions then entertained of a number of gods, each the guardian and governor of a diffinct region: and it may afford an ufeful leffon to those who are just paffing from childhood to manhood; teaching them to attend to the different laws, which nature has appointed for these different ages; to confider themselves as dismissed by the laws of the former age, and to submit with reverence and chearfulness to those of the latter. But, what might perhaps have been suggested by the philosopher, is more plainly and distinctly represented by the apostile. When I was a child, I spake as a child, Iunderstood as a child, I thought as a child. This fentence may feem not very happily rendered by our translators. They do not usually paraphrase: and the distinction expressed by the single words understood and thought, is less obvious than in the original, where we may conceive St. Paul to fay, I fpake

spake as a child; I had the wishes, the tastes, the enjoyments of a child; I judged and reasoned like a child\*. And we cannot get a clearer view of the diversity of character belonging to each period of life, than by searching for the several marks here alluded to, in the speech, the inclinations, and the judgement. This division will surnish a method for my discourse, which shall be wholly employed in advising you to put away childish things.

I. The apostle, by placing the characteristic of childhood in the speech, may possibly be understood to intimate, that a child speaks before he thinks. Whether this be here particularly intended, or not; it is certainly a fault very observable, in such children as are not restrained, but very unbecoming and inconvenient in men. We readily and fully excuse a child, who speaks without care or thought. Gaiety and inattention are

natura

DISCOURSE XVI. 259 natural to his age; and neither the subject, nor the matter of his prate, can be important. He talks of trifles only, and as they appear to his puerile conception. But, when the mind is employed upon many subjects, the speech will of course be deliberate; some degree of flowness and gravity will still provail in it; and a greater degree, when the points under consideration are more difficult or more interesting. A mature understanding has constant, gentle, exercise in the government of the tongue; and either remissness on the one hand, or eagerness on the other, will certainly betray itself in the difcourse. Faults of these opposite kinds are to be found in young men of different difpolitions; but both are to be referred to the fame childish folly, of speaking before they think. One of a lively imagination, and a chearful temper, is apt to pour forth, without attention, a multitude of unmeaning words. But, in the multitude of words, there wanteth not fin. It can scarce happen, that, amidst much discourse, thus indiscreetly and wantonly uttered, nothing should escape detrimental or dangerous to the speaker, nothing S 2

Alias sermo, alia sudia, alii rerum conceptus. Grot. in Ioc. See also Rom. viii. 5, &c. Phil. iii. 19. Col. iii. 2.

The words in the original are, we muse idades, se muse ECPONOIN, se muse identificant.

thing offensive to modest or pious hearers. no groundless accusation, or severe censure. of others. Some, or all of these transgress fions, may commonly be observed in him. who talks much, thinks little, and cares not at all. Whilst a person of a graver disposition, whose mind is properly engaged in inquiries after knowledge, will often bring inconvenience upon himself, in another way: I mean, by too much eagerness to speak of matters, which he does not yet fully underfland: exposing himself to the contempt and ridicule of those, who understand them better. But this is not the worst confoquence of his hasty speeches. For, when the subjects of conversation are controverted points of importance, fuch as those which relate to religion or government, he, who leads the discourse, can hardly avoid taking part with one fide or the other: from which, though determined by accident, rather than judgement, it may be to himself difficult, and may appear to others dishonourable, to recede. And thus a young man, by declaring opinions before he has well confidered them, becomes afterwards unable DISCOURSE XVI. 261 unable ever to confider them without prejudice; and his thoughts, which should have

governed his fpeech, are enflaved by it.

Another part of the character of a child is, that he speaks all he thinks. Intending no ill, and suspecting none, he communicates all his fentiments and defigns, without referve or caution. He believes every one, with whom he converses, to be his friend: and he is feldom mistaken; almost every one wishes him well. But the same unlimited openness is not suitable to the transactions among men. Their views are often inconsistent, their attempts unfriendly to each other. He cannot expect any fuccess, nor indeed any reputation among them, who has not some degree of discretion and referve, and habitual fecrecy. Nor is it only in the conduct of business, and to guard his own interests, that a prudent man will be often filent. He will not too freely discuss the characters of other men, nor speak too much of himself; lest he incur the reproach, in one case, of envy or ill-nature; in the other, of felf-conceit or arrogance. Nay, even in conversation upon general topics, or

S 3

matters

matters of science, the same caution is useful: fince it has been observed, that more persons gain the reputation of wisdom, by felecting prudently from their various thoughts, fuch as are proper to be declared. than can claim it by any real superiority of their inward conceptions. And fo much for the speech.

II. The next note, by which the apostle diffinguishes the characters of a man and a child, is taken from the difference of their inclinations.—Those of a child are always governed by trifles. The things, which strike his fancy, which offer him immediate pleasure, how minute, how momentary foever, are the objects of his pursuit. Of the chief enjoyments, which human life affords, he cannot form a notion. Or, if he could, yet these enjoyments, being clearly far out of his reach, would not excite his defires. A fmall number of flight amusements fill up his capacity for happiness. He has no wish, no taste, for any thing more imporfant.—But manly prudence includes in it, attention to the different kinds of good; the power of comparing them, with regard both

DISCOURSE XVI. 263 to their intenfeness and duration; and the habit of relifting the allurements of trifling, short-lived, pleasures; and of being directed by views of greater and more lasting happiness. He who fuffers his mind to be continually engaged by mere amusements, and drawn away by them from every ferious employment, worthy of a rational being, whether of furnishing himself with useful knowledge and virtuous habits at one period of life, or at another of providing for the interests of a family, a neighbourhood, or the public; though his years may not be few, nor his amusements the same as in his childhood, is yet in the eye of reason still a child: not indeed in innocence, for a constant attachment to things of little value is not a little criminal; but in folly and per-

Nor ought we to wonder that a child's inclinations for these trifles are vehement; that he catches at them impetuously, whenever they fall in his way. All his happiness is collected in them; all his wishes lead to the same point. He has no interfering interests

verseness.

S 4

terests to divide his thoughts; no opposite motives to balance each other, and keep his mind in suspense. With these ardent desires, and with no forefight of any confequences which might deter him from gratifying them, he applies all the little powers of his mind and body to gain the object of his prefent inclination. But his endeavours, though earnest, are not lasting. He soon finds, that the pleasure, which he pursued so eagerly, is not fatisfactory. He waits with impatience, till another object of a similar kind appears, which he is equally earnest to obtain, which when obtained prefently becomes indifferent or difgusting, and is in its turn quitted for a new one; till at length fome friend infinuates, or experience teaches him, that these are not the things in which happiness consists, and he begins by degrees to relish the enjoyments and form the inclinations of a man. When these are well formed, they differ, in both the qualities here remarked, from those of a child. They are neither vehement, nor fickle. A man's views of happiness are not confined to one acquisition.

DISCOURSE XVI. 265 acquisition. The many kinds of good, which he has any hope of possessing, all share his defires, and, by thus dividing, subject them to control. Amidst the variety of his wishes, whether for near or distant prosperity, whether for wealth or power, knowledge or pleasure, reputation or retirement, each is usually checked by its opponent, and none of them engross his whole attention. The disappointments too, which every man has experienced, no less in the accomplishment than in the miscarriage of his desires, must help to abate their force; especially if he obferves, as he frequently may, that the violence of them itself occasions the disappointment; fometimes by raifing too high expectations, fometimes by frustrating the designs it means to advance, and fometimes by depriving him of other bleffings greater in value than those he covets so earnestly. Even the best endeavours are liable to be thus defeated. The purfuit of Knowledge may be more assiduous, than is consistent with the health of the body or the improvement of the mind. And Religion itself, when it

takes

takes possession of our whole thoughts, ex, cluding other useful subjects, either sinks to superstition, or soars to enthusiasm. On all these accounts, the desires of a wise man are moderate. But they are not unsteady. He suffers them not to vary with the shifting icene of present gratifications; but keeps them fixed and fettled by the constant view of real happiness. For, having observed the feveral paths of human life, some smooth and flowery, others fleep and rugged; and having considered too, through what regions each of them passes, and where it terminates; he makes a deliberate choice: and the wifest choice foon becomes the most pleasing. His inclinations are steady, because they follow his judgement; whereas those of children, and weak people, lead it.

III. In the judgement confifts the third great distinction between the characters of a man and child. With little experience, and less exercise of his rational faculties, a child cannot have formed for himself any principles, on which he may build real knowledge. Whatever general truths first gain admission into his mind, must be received on the au-

DISCOURSE XVI. 267 thority of others: not from any defect in education, or from the mismanagement of Parents and Instructors, as some have fancied; but from the institution of nature, unalterable by any human care. He must of necessity learn many truths without the proper evidence of them, which yet he may afterwards by flow degrees discover. Nor are they the principles of knowledge only, which he receives implicitly. Rules of conduct also he gathers from examples, before he is able to understand their foundations. But the truths and rules thus learned are not unsuitable to his age. The former, though improperly called knowledge, will yet bring him to it, by exercifing and strengthening his feeble faculties; and the latter, though fallible and sometimes deceitful guides, are yet necessary to preserve him from the immediate dangers to which he would otherwife be exposed. But it becomes a man to judge and act for himself: to examine as a critic, not receive as a disciple, all the reafoning proposed to him; and to direct his conduct by his own judgment, not by a blind submission to examples. He who takes

his

his opinions without inquiry, though from the most accurate Philosopher, has no more real knowledge than the child who takes them from his nurse. For in science that only is our own, which we have earned by our attention and labour. What is cast upon us from the stores of others, without our claim or merit, loses its value in passing and cannot enrich us. And he who in the regulation of his life is influenced by soolish sashions of which he has formed no judgement, or can give no approbation, may be justly charged with the negligence or the weakness of a child.

It is remarkable, that opinions received upon the flightest evidence, are often held with the strongest considence. It is also remarkable, that those, which are held for a time with strong considence, are yet resigned without reluctance. Both these apparent intensistencies may be observed in the judgments of children, and of such men as think like children. A child's principles, as we have seen, are early instilled by his teachers. Their authority is the evidence, on which he admits them. But this is the only kind

DISCOURSE XVI. 269

of evidence, to which he has been accusttomed. He has never found any difficulties opposed to it. He has never entertained a doubt concerning its force; but has confidered it always as irrefiftible. What wonder then, that opinions, thus fixed in the mind, should be mistaken for knowledge, and should grow by degrees to perfect asfurance? But this ill-formed affurance is eafily diffolved. The mind that has not been exercifed with difficulties cannot withfland them. Produce but the appearance of a doubt, and you destroy its utmost confidence. Present a new, a contradictory opimon; and it shall be admitted on the same poor proof, and retained with the same pofixive zeal, as the former. Very different is the process of a manly understanding; which, before it yields to the politions of any fect or master, endeavours to survey them on every part, carefully to weigh the arguments for and against every disputable question, and to proportion its affent to the excess on that side which preponderates. But, because this care and labour cannot be beflawed on every subject, nor employed at all

all times, and yet the mind does not patiently withhold its judgements, nor human affairs allow of perpetual delay; a wife man will generally fo regulate his affent, as not to exclude farther inquiry. Being accus. tomed to fee things in many different views. he is not hastily convinced that he has seen them in all. He is therefore not peremptory in his determinations, nor unwilling to hear what may be objected to his tenets or practice. The same habit of calm investigation will also prevent mutability in his judgements or counsels. He must often have encountered difficulties in the pursuit of truth and happiness; and must know, that nothing in fcience is fo clear, nothing in manners fo important, as to leave no place for doubts. But fuch doubts cannot affect his fready mind. His deliberate judgements are not shaken by sudden blasts of vain doctrine, nor his fettled purposes overruled by the baleful influence of bad examples.

These are the differences generally obferved in the behaviour of men and children. But fuch observations are not universal. Some few, whose years would require us to con-

DISCOURSE XVI. 271 fider them as children; yet, either by the early maturity of their minds, or by a happy education, are men in understanding, and temper, and prudent conversation: whilst others, through every period of life, continue, where they began, in a state of childhood.

In treating of the distinctions between the two ages, I have not been folicitous to recount them all. Such only have been mentioned, as feemed most proper for your notice. Endeavour therefore to fix them in your memories; and henceforth to maintain a character worthy of the state to which you are now advanced. It has been shewn to confift chiefly, in not speaking before you have thought; and in not speaking all your thoughts: in restraining your appetites for trifling and transient pleasures, and strengthening your desires of those attainments which will produce real and durable happiness; and in keeping even these useful and laudable defires under fuch government, that they may be neither vehement, nor wavering: in not relying for your progress in science or your measures in life upon authority or examples, but forming for yourselves just principles of thought and action, and reasoning from them

fedately and carefully; not with that fixt affurance, which would exclude all improvements of your knowledge or conduct, but with fuch a firm and manly confidence, as may fecure you against the dangerous attacks of false reasoners or wicked leaders. And if you thus increase in Wisdom as in Age, like the Great Pattern of all Excellence, which our religion sets before us, you will, like Him also, increase in favour with God and man.

## DISCOURSE XVII.

On Public VIRTUE.

Preached before the University, Nov. 5, 1765.

IРет. ii. part of ver. 17.

Love the Brotherhood.

Do VE to each other is the characteristic, by which our Saviour tell us bis disciples are to be distinguished. And we find, through the whole New Testament, that the converts to his religion were constantly exhorted to treat all men with decency and respect, but to love their brethren. Their agreement in the same faith; their obedience to the same Master; their common interest;

their

DIS-

their common sufferings; their want of mutual affiftance, to lighten those fufferings, to strengthen that interest, to confirm each other in faith and obedience; were all strong cords of affection to their fellow Christians. Had they been farther separated from the heathen world, and united under one civil government, and had that government been constituted on such principles of liberty, that all or many of them might have had some influence in it, some power of promoting the general welfare; these would have been additional bonds of love, and the peculiar regard, which they were taught to shew to their fellow Christians, had then been directed to their fellow citizens. We might then have expected to find in the writings of the Apostles as warm exhortations to love our country, as high praises of public virtue, as in any Greek panegyrift, or among the boafts of the arrogant Roman.

It is agreeable to nature and reason, that we should cultivate in ourselves those affections, which we are able to gratify. We love them most, who are nearest to us, to whom it is in our power to do the greatest good;

DISCOURSE XVII. 275 good; our families, relations, friends. They too, who are affociated with us under the same government, are placed within the reach of our beneficence: our affections correspond to our powers, and we love our countrymen. But the Apostles were too well acquainted with the human mind, to recommend fuch affections, as the condition of their disciples would not fuffer them to exercise; and to preach to flaves of public virtue. Our fituation is in this respect much happier than that of the first Christians; and when we read in the Scriptures this precept, love your brethren, we may well understand it, love your country. For though we may wish happiness to the whole Christian world; yet, towards the greatest part of it, it can be but a fruitless wish; which the sense of its inefficacy must render cold and languid. But our stations enable, and our obligations require us, to labour and contend for the prosperity of our country, and for the common good of all who are united with us in the fame civil and religious societies. Permit me therefore to bring to your thoughts fome of

T 2

the praises due to this virtue; whilst we are

comme-

commemorating events, which will supply abundant proofs of its usefulness and excellence.

It has been fometimes faid, that in the present age, distinguished by many private virtues, the love of our country is no more. Perhaps the complaint has no other origin, than that the sharper trials of it are taken away. But this, which conceals it from the careless observer, discovers to men of more attention, that it every where abounds. Perfecution, oppression, and severity, are banished, either by the wisdom of our laws, or the mildness of our manners. Humanity and civility are spread through the land. The love of liberty, which among Britons is closely connected with the love of their country, watches, with a jealous eye, the most minute deviations from the rules of our excellent constitution; and promises to transmit it unimpaired to our posterity. We owe it to the virtues of our ancestors; and, as long as we retain those virtues, we shall preferve it for our children.

The importance of them to the public happiness will fully appear, if we look back some DISCOURSE XVII. 277

ages, and behold the English nation the most abject minions of superstition: tamely yielding to an usurped authority, what no lawful governor can claim, the dominion of their minds; drudging under the burthen of penances, or bribing the infallible Church with that substance, which should have been the fupport of their families, and the bleffing of their posterity: even in a literal sense performing that hideous expiation, by which men gave the fruit of their bodies for the fin of their fouls; inafmuch as they devoted their fons and daughters to cells and folitudes, where they became unhappy in themfelves, and useless to the world. Or, if we bring our thoughts lower down, we shall perceive, that the removal of this foreign yoke, on which, in the contests between the king and people, the balance had often hung, gave our monarchs such an excess of power, as long threatened a change of our legal government for perfect despotism. And what relieved us from these miseries and these dangers, but the patriot spirit of our countrymen, their generous concern for the common good, for the fecurity of the prefent and future

ages,

future ages? Had not the reformers of religion, influenced by a fense of their duty to God and man, refolved to deliver out of darkness and error their deluded brethren, we might now perhaps have been groaning under the tyranny of an inquisition. Had not the danger of losing the established religion and laws animated fome of the last age with a zeal which despised all other dangers; inflead of living under a well-conflituted government, mild and regular beyond the example of any age or kingdom, we should either have been subject to an arbitrary and illegal dominion at home, or, which is more probable, have long ago submitted, with all the nations round us, to those powerful enemies, who for a century past have been attempting to enflave the world. And what other human bleffings can be compared with that, which is the fecurity and prefervation of them all, the liberty of laws? What other, except that, which fecures to us more than human bleffings, the liberty of religion? What praise and esteem, and veneration, are due to those, who obtained them for us!

## DISCOURSE XVII. 279

And let it not be imagined that this merit is confined to the great. Every Briton may deferve well of his country. A spark of public virtue, scarce discerned, among men in obscure stations, will sometimes spread, and enlighten the whole kingdom. Who were the first, the chief, instruments of the Resormation? Poor begging scholars. Who opened the way for the Revolution? The clergy. The universities. Nay, a single college of honest and resolute men carried more force than an army.

Nor is it only in times of confusion, that our public conduct is important. In quiet seasons, such as those in which we have the happiness to live, this virtue assumes a more amiable form; and shews itself in submission to magistrates, in honour to the king, in an uniform and steady obedience to the laws, in a faithful exercise of the trusts committed to us by the constitution, in a constant endeavour to advance and support in authority good men, true friends to religion and liberty. And the performance or neglect of this duty, by a private man, on a single occasion, and that perhaps unnoticed, may rise higher

in the account of universal happiness or mifery, than all the other actions of his life. His good offices are usually confined within the small circle of his domestics and neighbours. But a right conduct towards the public conveys bleffings to whole nations and distant ages. On the other hand, the greatest mischiefs are political mischiefs. When men, by cabals and clamours, draw the nation into an unjust or unnecessary war, is each of them guilty of less than robbery and murder? And yet even these particular and temporary evils are not to be compared with the wide and lasting grievances of an established tyranny. And of this our danger was much increased by pernicious doctrine, taught in times of ease and security; which the teachers themselves were afterwards too honest to practife.

But the good effects of public virtue are often remote, and always uncertain. And these considerations make it the more difficult and the more meritorious. When a man perceives that great benefits will immediately flow from his uncorrupt conduct, a moderate degree of goodness will engage him in it. But it requires uncommon spirit and resolution

DISCOURSE XVII. 281 resolution to plant and nourish those tender shoots of public happiness, which every little form is able to destroy; and which must grow for ages, before their spreading branches will shade the nation. And yet this is usually the whole, that the most steady patriotism can effect. Great works can feldom be accomplished at once. The minds of men are to be prepared for them; favourable feafons to be watched. And he who can look forward to remote times for the completion of his toils, not discouraged by that variety of incidents, which may destroy the unfinished fabric, must be poffesfed of many noble qualities; of great patience and perseverance, of an intrepid courage, of an unaffected and difinterested complacence in acts of kindness. To a mind thus disposed the pleasure of beholding, even at a distance, and promoting universal peace and order will well repay its generous labours.

But whatever inward pleasure the true patriot may enjoy, without he is usually surrounded by dangers and inevitable miseries. When he opposes authority, either established by long usage or usurped by strong hands, the perils are evident. The men possessed

7

possessed of power are his declared enemies: whilst the bulk of the people attend but little to remote consequences. Attacked by one party, unaffifted by the other, what can an honest man expect, but oppression. and every imaginable evil? They who first dared to preach in this kingdom against the errors of Rome, and the corruption of her clergy, and to support the cause of morality and evangelical truth, exposed themfelves to banishment, to prisons, to flames, And when they had opened the scriptures, and with them the understandings of the people, and had at length obtained the protection of government; even this protection afforded them no fecurity. Superstition had taught her fons to support her falling empire by both treachery and violence; and they practifed both with fuch desperate hardiness, that, compared with their attempts, the boldest enterprizes of temporal ambition may feem almost innocent. When their hopes were revived at a later period, those honest patriots, who invited the prince of Orange to their defence, or joined him soon after his arrival, were not ignorant, that, if one hazardous

DISCOURSE XVII. 283

zardous attack should fail of success, their lives and fortunes must depend on the tenderness of a bigot, and the compassion of a coward. Thus does the firm patriot pursue the track of public happiness, unshaken by the storms and tempests that beat around him.

It is not indeed the lot of every man, who loves his country, to be exposed to these extreme dangers. But some dangers and discouragements always attend the practice of this virtue. Even in the best times there will be differences of judgement, contests for power, and designs not perfectly consistent with the general good. And he, whose situation obliges him frequently to take a part in the public divisions, must be very fortunate, if his sentiments constantly coincide with his interest; or very generous, if he never pursues his interest in contradiction to his sentiments.

But they are not only real interests, which are opposed to the love of our country. Many, which are imaginary, rank themselves on the same side. The extravagant desire of riches, of power, of pre-eminence, and the uneasiness arising from the disappointment of these

these desires are equally its enemies. And we may be consident, that he, who steadily persists in his duty to the public, is not much governed by avarice or ambition, by pride or resentment.

Since then the love of our country denotes a freedom from fo many great vices, and the possession of so many excellent virtues; fince it is so difficult in the practice, and so important in the consequences: it may feem an extraordinary hardship, that it meets not usually with the approbation liberally bestowed on many inferior qualities. Whether it be; that the mixture of motives, which are eafily spread over a man's public conduct, prevents us from differning its true colour; or that the beneficial effects are either so remote, or the connexion of them with their causes so refined, as to escape common observation; or that the false pretences often made to this virtue, raise clouds of suspicion before every claim: whatever be the reason, the fact is certain, that it seldom obtains fuch admiration as its native lustre might demand. Make the love of our country part of a character you would extol,

## DISCOURSE XVII. 2

tol, and it is well if your encomium be not treated with contempt. But this contempt ought to raise it higher in our esteem. He merits the greatest praise, who, whilst he merits, has no expectation of receiving it. And, if he receives it not in his own time, yet, after-ages, sensible of the kind legacies he has lest them, and distinguishing the real friend of mankind from the interested or ambitious hypocrite, will own and warrant his title.

A fet of fuch hypocrites in the last century had very nearly entailed slavery upon us. For, to what cause can we impute the inactivity of the people during the reign of the second Charles, and the quiet surrender of three kingdoms to the extravagant bigotry of his successor; unless to this, that, in the preceding wars, some bad men, catching hold of that authority which the true lovers of liberty had gained among the people, and covering their wicked designs with a seigned or real enthusiasm, had brought disgrace upon the very name of patriot? Tired with the efforts it had exerted, and dispirited by

the fatal catastrophe, the genius of Britain seemed to have sunk into a lethargy, from which it was with difficulty awakened by the sury of its soes.

But there is another fort of men, who dif. grace public virtue, as much as the false pretenders to it; men equally wicked, and more foolish: who, in their writings and converfation, maintain, that this boafted virtue is but an empty name; that a wife man should take care of himself only; or, if he regard his private connexions, should consider himself as unconnected with the public. And this false doctrine they ground on as false a fact: that in this nation the common ties are diffolved, that no man has any concern for his country; but, whatever disguises he may put on, each pursues a separate interest, and fells, though in different forms, and with different success, that share of power, with which the community has entrusted him. It is not true. The thought is a reproach to human nature. Let it fall on those only, who confess, that they know no exception to it.

## DISCOURSE XVII. 287

But let us turn our thoughts from these men, and view the noblest spectacle the world affords; a true lover of his country, who, for the fake of its effential interests, subjects himself to oppression and reproach, and, in imitation of his great Master, endures hardships, despifes shame, and enjoys a distant prospect of the glorious advantages he is labouring to procure for the present, and transmit to future ages. Or let us contemplate one acting in a lower sphere, who, uninfluenced by fear or hope, aiming only at the general good, performs with integrity all those trufts, which either the state, or any less society, has committed to him. He too will be entitled to our warmest approbation, if we can discern his sentiments and motives. But, whether we can discern them or not, he will certainly obtain, what are of infinitely more value, the approbation of his own conscience, and the approbation of his Maker.

The great Father of nature cannot but be favourable to views thus benignant, thus directly pointed to the advantage of his creatures. And it were ingratitude not to ascribe

to him the two fignal prefervations of our country, which gave occasion to the present folemnity. We ascribe them to him on this foundation, that they were accomplished in conformity to his will for the protection of truth and justice. The heroes of antiquity. were proud to have their conquests imputed to the patronage of some tutelary deity. whose favor they considered as a sure mark of their merit. But it is more reasonable, as well as more pious, to reverse the argument: and then only to claim the fuccour of heaven. when the cause, in which we have prospered, is worthy of that fuccour. And if we may presume to judge, that any cause is worthy of it, none appears more so, than the support of liberty, civil and religious. It is therefore with propriety that, in the public fervice of this day, we adore the wisdom and justice of that Providence, which interposed in our extreme dangers, and protected our religion and laws. But it were a profane mockery of God to thank him for these bleffings, and not endeavour ourselves to preserve them; to acknowledge that they have obtained his special favor and protection, and not think them them worthy of our regard. He who is fincere in these acknowledgements will perceive, that gratitude to God, as well as love to men, requires his attention to the duties of a good citizen and a good subject; for to enjoy and to perpetuate the gifts of heaven is to thank the giver.

THREE

# THREE CHARGES

DELIVERED TO THE

CLERGY of the ARCHDEACONRY of COLCHESTER,

In the YEARS 1769, 1771, and 1772.

## CHARGE L

On Religious Controversies.

My Reverend Brethren,

THEY who represent human learning as uncertain in itself, and pernicious in its consequences, have been able to support their opinion by no arguments, which carry with them more appearance of folidity, than those they have taken from the disagreements of philosophers with each other. These, they tell us, are so numerous and glaring, even on subjects the most open to examination, that philosophy, which professes itself the discoverer of truth, ought rather to be looked upon as the parent of error. And it would have been well, if the occasion of this reproach had been confined to the less interesting parts of science. But it has spread itself through all its branches; even those, which

CHARGE 204

are of the highest importance both to our present and future happiness. Morals and religion, we know, have been wantonly made the themes of many discordant paradoxes: and these have given birth to the most violent contests.

Soon after the first appearance of Christianity, its followers divided themselves into various fects, and engaged in continual con-As we carry our view lower, troversies. their disputes increased upon us. Every question produced a number of new opinions, and almost every opinion constituted a new party. And both the one and the other became fo many, that he among us would be efteemed no mean divine, who should be able to enumerate all the distinct sects of Christians, and to explain the doctrines which each of them has maintained.

... I. The mischiefs of these disputes are obvious. Among the enemies of our religion they are often the pretended, fometimes the real, occasion of infidelity. Among such Christians as want either abilities or inclination to examine these intricate questions, they give offence to those who are firm in the faith: faith; and, in the weaker, they create doubts and perplexity concerning points of the greatest moment. But the masters of the polemic art are themselves the chief sufferers by it: their passions are inflamed, their prejudices heightened; religion feems to pass with them rather for a matter of curiofity than practice; and a zeal for opinions supplies the place of mutual forbearance and charity. To these may be added mischiefs; which equally affect all perfons and parties; the breaches of our civil peace, the private animosities and open persecutions, which have often arisen from religious controversies. Such a number of evils, and those so malignant, might incline us to condemn, without hefitation; all these controversies, as pernicious to religion, and dangerous to the present welfare of mankind.

2. But examine them in another light, and they appear exceedingly beneficial. To them principally are we indebted for full views of the evidences, and clear explanations of the doctrines, of Christianity. When the city is in fecurity, the watchman flumbers. When an universal agreement removes all apprehensions of danger to religion, its guardians

U 4

guardians are often inattentive or indolent. Some opposition is necessary to rouse their spirits, some difficulties to engage their in. dustry. Few inquire, where all affent. But affent without inquiry is very different from that rational belief, which is founded on information and conviction. And the inquiry is never fo diligent, the information fo full, the conviction fo steady, as when the subject is laid open by a free debate. Truth always appears in the greatest lustre, when its adversaries have cast a shade around it. And, if the objections of infidels have called forth the best defences of religion, the errors of Christians have produced the best explications of it. Whilst its doctrines are variously interpreted, every interpretation is curiously examined. Thus a strict search into the genuine fense of Holy Writ has arisen from our divisions and contests. Negligence and folly may fometimes have admitted, and authority have confirmed, opinions not well founded. And which of is would be able, when fingle and unaffifted, to break off the fetters of riveted superstition? How few will venture, when calm and unmoved. moved, to oppose popular and established errors? Reflexion and study will scarce furnish a man with sufficient strength of judgement. Zeal for truth, even the most important truth, will scarce inspire him with fufficient courage. But that, which is beyond the strength of a single inquirer, may yet submit to the united labours of a party. And that, which in his cooler hours he dares not attempt, he may nevertheless execute, when warmed by opposition and animated by a prospect of victory. Protestants, at least, have reason to acknowledge the beneficial tendency of religious controversies. Had not a freedom of debate extended itself to every fubject, we might probably have been, at this day, as little acquainted with the evidences or principles of Christianity, as our ancestors were before the reformation; or as many now are, who have devoted themselves to what they call religion in the monasteries of Italy and Portugal. Our faith, perhaps, certainly that of the people, would have rested on some impious juggle, or usurped authority: our devotions have been paid before the relicts of a faint, or the tomb of a Such martyr.

Such are the advantages, which attend disputes about religion. It may be difficult to compare them with the mischiefs before mentioned; and to determine, which has the greater or more extensive influence. Nor does it seem possible to remove the mischiefs. and at the same time preserve the advantages. They grow up, and are entwined together. We must therefore be content to inquire only, by what methods the good may be increased and the evil lessened. And there is reason to expect that such an inquiry may not be fruitless; fince the advantages arise naturally from the debates themselves, the evils wholly or principally from the faults of those who conduct them: from a wrong choice of subjects; from the use of false reafoning; and from the improper manner, in which the reasons are proposed.

I. 1. Concerning the *fubjects* it may be first observed, that those cannot be religious controversies, which are really no controversies at all. Of these we have in appearance a numerous train; where the whole difference is in expressions, not in sentiments: the parties having often, either one or both, no meaning; and as often both the same. When

men, aspiring to know more than God has revealed, attempt to explain such doctrines, as the holy Scriptures have left mysterious; what can we expect from them but obscure terms, which may conceal, from themselves perhaps as well as others, that they have no real information to convey? And, when feveral make the same attempt, it must be by extraordinary good fortune, if they all hit upon the same language, without ideas to which they might refer it.—But it is not only upon fuch points as are above their comprehension, that men dispute without meaning. Want of care frequently produces the fame fault. In the last age a neighbouring kingdom was divided, and the controverly carried on with great eagerness; upon high and important subjects indeed, the freedom of man's actions, and the influence of God's fpirit, but where the difference of their conceptions was scarce discernible. Both parties agreed, that every man has power to fulfill God's commandments; but disputed, whether this power be immediate: both agreed, that God's grace is given to all Christians, but differed concerning the fufficiency of it. Many

men,

Many questions, not unlike these, were once warmly debated in our own country. The philosophy of the Schoolmen, abounding in unufual and unintelligible phrases, introduced them into our fystems of divinity. And, though an affected use of obscure terms is now banished from the sciences, and seems to be wearing off apace from religious speculations, yet we still find it difficult to fix the precise meaning of every expression. But how difficult soever the task be, they who study to inform themselves, and not to puzzle others, must labor in it. And the professed champions of religion are particularly bound to this attention; fince they will otherwise often attack those, who have only affumed indeed a different habit, but are nevertheless engaged on the same side with themselves.

2. Again, every real controversy is not a religious one. It is either the folly or the art of our polemic writers, to consider or represent every disputable question, as of the utmost importance to religion, as a point, upon which the very being of Christianity depends. Habits, gestures, days; matters,

of which the Scriptures are totally filent; and which, in whatever manner they are used, can add little either to the strength or ornament of religion, have been made the subiects of repeated contests. Every practice of the Church in the earlier ages, every minute circumstance of Ecclesiastical history, has been disputed as strenuously, as if it were the very place of the ark itself, the only spot of ground on which we should not despair of maintaining the cause of our Saviour. When these inquiries serve to confirm the authority, or to explain the fense, of the Scriptures, they demand our attention. When they only instruct us in the customs and opinions of ancient times, they may engage our curiofity. But we must always remember, that Holy Scripture contains the whole rule of our faith, and that such questions only, as relate to this rule, are truly subjects of religious controversies.

3. But these subjects, which sometimes are unreasonably enlarged, are at other times confined within too narrow limits. Some have been selected from the doctrines of Christ, and styled fundamentals; points which

with him for opposing any doctrine, that it was advanced by his adversary; and truth, when thus recommended, is repulsed with disdain. Thus the good judgement of one man shall occasion the mistakes of another, and the cause of error be promoted by reafon itself.

2. Another kind of false reasoning proceeds not from mistake, but design. To support this affertion, we need not refer to the notorious forgeries of miracles, or of falle and ridiculous legends, formerly not unusual in the church of Rome; nor to the unfair quotations of ancient writers, and other indirect arts, which, though often practifed, are always disavowed; nor need we suppose, what sometimes we cannot but suspect, that men engage in the defence of religious opinions either without examination or against their judgement. One thing is certain, and fufficient for our purpose, that many, whilst they are defending their real fentiments, scruple not to allege reasons, which they know to be inconclusive. But vainly do they hope to establish truth by the aid of falshood. Such incoherent parts will fall together;

and their ruin may prove dangerous to the whole building. False reasoning is often prejudicial to the very cause it endeavours to maintain; but it is always so to the common cause of religion. For none of its principles are fo intirely unconnected, that an error will stop at its first entrance, and not extend itself beyond those just limits, within which it is imagined to be useful.-It may perhaps be said, it has indeed been said, that this practice is warranted by the example of our Saviour; who fometimes adapted his discourse rather to the prejudices of his hearers, than to the rules and maxims of ftrict reasoning. But his example cannot be properly urged by those, who pretend not to infallibility. He knew certainly and intuitively that his doctrine was true. We can only be convinced by attention and fludy, and are always liableto mistakes. He, being intimately acquainted with the hearts of men, knew how far his perfuations would prevail. We can never foresee, if men are led into the paths of error, through what mazes they will pursue them.

X

III. 1. In

III. 1. In the manner of carrying on religious controversies, the most remarkable faults are want of feriousness and want of candour. The usefulness of ridicule for the discovery of truth has been defended upon what are called philosophical principles. But the feelings of every good man are fufficient to confute this vain and deceitful philosophy. For what friend to religion can without indignation fee any of its doctrines fo far debased, as to become the subject of contempt and derifion? What friend to mankind can without concern find their highest interests treated as trifles unworthy of a serious debate?—But if the nature of the fubject tid not, yet the nature of controversy itself should, preclude the use of this dangerous weapon: which ought to be employed there only, where an absurdity is too evident to admit a confutation; where the bufiness is not to convince men, but to make them ashamed of their folly. For the proper province of ridicule is reproof, not instruction.

CHARGE I.

2. Want of candor is a fault no less obfervable in our polemic writers. The fairest among them, more folicitous that their skill

307 in the management of it, than that the juffice of the cause, should appear, make use of every advantage, which the weakness of an adversary gives them: dwelling upon such passages in his writings as are open to any exceptions, however unconnected with the debate; and fliding over those in which its strength is comprised. Others will misinterpret ambiguous expressions; or invidiously annex some remote and uncertain condequences to the doctrines they condemn. Some will even suggest that the persons who oppose them, must have bad principles; perhaps principles directly contrary to their professions. And all this to what purpose? For reasons calmly and clearly proposed, in modest and friendly language, would be much more effectual. They would be more eafily perceived, and more readily embraced. They would convince us at least, that the proposer's temper was fuch as would not pervert his judgement; and that he had confidence in the goodness of his cause.

Upon the whole, if those who enter into theological controversies, delivered their sentiments in a ferious and candid manner; if they did not fer themselves to oppose every opinion of their adversaries, nor to defend their own by every species of fallacious reasoning; if they confined themselves to such questions, as have a real meaning, and may be decided from the holy Scriptures: the mischies of our dissentions would be greatly lessend, and many of the dissentions themselves soon forgotten. For he, who searches for his religion in the Scriptures, will find more points indeed wholly undetermined, of which therefore he must be content to be wholly ignorant; but sewer doubtful, sewer in which the reasons on each side are nearly equivalent, than in the systems of the most able Divines.

# CHARGE II

Of the connexion between MERIT and the REWARD of Merit in the Profession of a CLERGYMAN.

Reverend Brethren,

THE number of persons, who enter into our profession, has of late years so much decreased; that many, who want assistance in their parochial duty, already seel the inconvenience; and that the smaller parishes, in some parts of the kingdom, seem in danger of being lest in a short time without Ministers. Some of the principal causes of this decrease are obvious. The general prosperity of the nation, the increase of its colonies and wealth, the improvements in trade and agriculture, draw men off to other,

more lucrative, employments. But these happy circumstances, which may produce some temporary difficulties, will also enable the nation to remove them. And we have little reason to doubt, but they would be removed, by an augmentation of the maintenance of the inferior Clergy; if the grievance should extend so far as to become an object of public concern.

Perhaps indeed there is another cause, which not only lessens our numbers, but our weight; and which chiefly excludes those, whose service would be the most valuable. For men, conscious of their own abilities. and determined to exert them, usually hope, when they make choice of a profession, for fomething beyond a mere maintenance; and therefore will come into ours with reluctance, if they admit the common opinion, that able, and diligent, and worthy, Clergymen are not fecure of obtaining the just rewards of their wisdom and virtue; that they cannot advance themselves by their merits in the Church, as men may do in the other learned professions. The diffinction between ours and the other professions is founded on some observations of this kind. All, who want advice for the recovery of their health, or the protection of their fortune, will certainly apply to those, in whose care and judgement they place the greatest confidence. Nor do they ever approach them without offerings in their hands. So that the general opinion of their abilities and diligence is that, which measures out to them their rewards. And the great offices, belonging to one of these professions, are not scattered promiscuoally; but usually confined within a small number, whom the public voice has marked out, as the most able to execute them. But in the Church, it is alleged, our emoluments are not proportioned to our services; they depend on a variety of foreign circumstances, not on our merits or characters; and the fullest confidence of the people, the most acknowledged integrity and wisdom, are not sufficient to advance a man to a station of honour and authority. He who aspires to such a station, and can rely on his own strength and perseverance, ought to take another course.

If these observations are confirmed by experience, in that degree, and to that extent, X 4 which

of

which is here supposed, the matter is greatly to be lamented. And it is almost as much to be lamented, if, though they be not true, they are universally believed. A general opinion, that wisdom and virtue are neglected, is no less pernicious to their interests, than the neglect itself. It is the expectation, that they will be rewarded, which is of public use. The rewards, in a public view, are only necessary to preserve the expectation. And certainly it ought, as much as possible, to be preserved; and all the advantages, which men may acquire to themselves, should be laid fairly before them. For the long and painful labours, requisite in the pursuit of wifdom, will not be fubmitted to without fome powerful inducement; and the fame inducement will not prevail with men of different dispositions. A foresight of the contempt and mifery, which must inevitably fall upon those, who, having undertaken to teach others, neglect to teach themselves, is perhaps the strongest incitement to men of prudence and fensibility. Active and inquifitive minds court wisdom for its own fake: the pleasure arising from every new acquisition

CHARGE II.

acquisition of knowledge is to them a sufficient recompence for all their pains. In others, fuch refined perceptions raife no de-Were wisdom unendowed and unadorned, they would hardly think her worth' their care. But when they behold her bringing in her hands riches and honours, they are eager to meet and embrace her.

It requires indeed some attention, to discern these ornaments of wisdom. For as they are not, like the other advantages attending her, invariable, but subject to many erofs accidents; and as they are fometimes found without her affistance; it is not always easy to discover, how many of them belong to her. But those, who value them, will not decline the inquiry. Permit me to suppose, that some, to whom I am now addreffing myself, may not wholly reject these motives. This I may do without offence. For ambition, when directed and restrained by reason and religion, is certainly not a fault. It is often the genuine offspring of a benevolent heart, and the parent of noble and useful attainments. Men possessed of these sentiments I should hope to convince, that

315

that the objection made to our profession, as not giving sufficient scope to a commendable ambition, has little weight: that the difficulties are always surmounted by eminent wisdom, often by a lower degree of it, sometimes, and, in some measure, by such kinds of merit as would probably fail in other professions; that every kind of it has a tendency to promote a man's interest, though it may possibly be counteracted by other causes, probably by faults of his own; and that, upon the whole, there is no reason to think it less effectual among us, than in any other pursuit; or in our age, than in any former period.

I. The natural and constant effect of fuperior wisdom is admiration; and where such
wisdom is applied, as it always should be, to
promote the good of others, as well as of
the possessor himself, admiration is sure to
be followed by esteem and good-will. Name
but a man, whose strength of genius has enabled him, to invent or improve any of the
arts of life, to scatter the mists of prejudice
which had long darkened the understanding,
or to lead us through new and untried regions

of seience; and these various affections are all of them instantly excited. We no longer. indeed fall down upon our knees before his statues or his altars; but he is still the idol of our hearts, to which we willingly confecrate the richest offerings of love and gratitude. And what fairer claim can any man have to a station of eminence, than an universal acknowledgment, that he has acquired the eminence, before he is advanced to the station? What clearer title to public rewards, than public services? Or how can he be more secure that his title will be allowed, than by possessing the esteem and regard of all his countrymen? But, to quit speculations, and have recourse to facts, are any examples to be found of churchmen, who, with the extraordinary abilities here supposed, have not been advanced, as far as the other parts of their characters and their fituations would allow? If we would fearch for some rare instance of this fort, we must go back to those remote times, when a general ignorance left the few proficients in learning without any judges of their merits.

II. But new discoveries and great improvements in knowledge are within the reach of fo small a part of mankind, that the rewards, which await them, however certain, can have no extensive influence. Has not wisdom then its degrees of eminence? Is it in the number of those amusements, which persection only can prevail with us to endure? This furely: is not the nature of wisdom. Of all its various kinds and infinite degrees, each has its use and value, where it is fuited to the station and employment of the possessor. For, by these, as well as by nature and inclination, should our inquiries after knowledge be directed and circumfcribed. Knowledge mifplaced little deserves the name of wisdom. It is often useless to the world, and hurtful to the owner. But, adapted to his profession, and guided by the virtues of a man and a citizen, it is true wisdom, and will seldom fail of its reward. It raises numbers, and with general approbation, from obscurity to eminence, from penury to abundance, from subjection to authority. It supplies the place of birth and interest and, what they are not able

to do, covers those it has raised from the poisonous breath of envy and detraction.

III. But the whole merit of a clergyman does not confift in abilities, either natural or acquired. For the discharge of many important offices, belonging to his profession, moderate talents will suffice. Some of his duties require little more than feriousness and atten-One, therefore, who would never have been admired as an orator, or consulted as a deep lawyer; one, whose fagacity would never have penetrated the mysteries of the human frame; may yet be well qualified to trace out the great lines of our duty towards God and man, and to enforce the practice of it by exhortation and example. A good heart will, in some measure, supply the place of an able head. And he who constantly employs such moderate talents with discretion and benevolence, must be acknowledged to be highly useful, and can hardly fail to meet with a suitable reward. It may be greater or less, it may come sooner or later in life; but the later it comes, the more apparent usually it is, that his own merit only, or, which is of the same amount, friendship, obtained by his merit, procured it for him:

IV. They who are disposed to raise ob. jections, and expect more certainty in human affairs than their nature will allow, may be ready to ask, whether, among the number: less candidates for preferments, they are always allotted to fuch as best deserve them: whether the ignorance or interested views of those, who have them to bestow, may not overlook true merit; or the art and affiduity of those who seek them supplant it. It will be a fufficient answer to these questions, which can proceed from nothing but inattention to the point here maintained, to reprefent the matter more distinctly. It has not been afferted, that riches and honours are the portion of wisdom alone; or that every man's flate is regulated by the fingle confideration of his merit. Such a conformity between the minds and fortunes of men, can never take place, either in our profession or in any other. The notion of it would be visionary, and inconfistent with the condition of human affaits. To effect it, every prejudice. and affection must be rooted out of the hearts.

and more than natural discernment be implanted in the minds, of those who distribute the rewards of wisdom. Nothing that approaches to such perfection is to be thought of or expected. The purport of what has been offered to your reflexions is only this: that merit has very considerable influence in the promotion of the clergy; different indeed, as it ought to have, according to its different degrees, but in every degree so much, as leaves no room to doubt of it's general tendency. Whoever wishes to advance himfelf, looks upon a good reputation as useful at least, if not necessary, for that end; and is as anxious to preserve it, as the miser to preserve his gold. If the vices or follies of which he is conscious, be exposed without cause; or if he be accused of others, of which he knows himfelf innocent: he complains of the injury to his character, as an injury to his fortune. But what foundation could there be for fuch anxiety, or complaint, unless the facts, which have been prefumed, were true? A man might have pleasure or pride in the good opinion of the world; but he could not consider it as riches, if if experience did not shew, that the wife and good are oftener promoted, than the weak and wicked. The generality of mankind. how wrong foever their own conduct may be, yet approve what is right in the conduct of each other. And, unless some passion or interest interferes, their good offices commonly follow, where their approbation has gone before. Not that the mere approbation of worth has with most men so much force, as to extort acts of extraordinary kindness. But it may be powerful enough, when a favour is to be conferred on fomebody, and no fpecial claimant appears, to determine the choice. So that to one, whose situation depends wholly on the good-will of others, it cannot be of little importance to have their good opinion. Nor is he much mistaken, who looks upon reputation as fecurity for preferment.

Such indeed is the condition of human life, that the fairest expectations fade away, and the strongest claims are sometimes defeated. Yet this does not prevent us from forming again the fame expectations, and being again subject to the same disappointments. In our justest justest and most important reasoning we meet with similar uncertainty. We prove, that the supreme Governor of the World is a moral Governor, from a variety of circumstances in the constitution of it, by which virtue is rewarded and vice punished. And, having discovered the natural and general tendency of this constitution, we rest there. Our confidence, in the argument drawn from it, is not shaken by the instances, though they be numerous, in which the Good suffer, and the Bad triumph. In like manner, to return to our present far inferior subject, if our laws have placed the disposal of preferments in fuch hands, that they are usually, and in a good measure, bestowed on those, who deserve them; more is hardly to be expected from any human polity, nor ought we to repine at the few examples, which may be found, of neglected wildom or of prosperous folly.

I venture to call these examples few, because they are certainly much less frequent. than is commonly imagined; as appears from the indignation, with which they are always beheld. For things, that are fare

(fuch

322 CHARGE II.

(such is the temper of mankind) affect us more strongly, than those which are important. Vices the most destructive to individuals and to society, when they are become familiar, we can consider with indifference: whilst we loudly complain of others, though of no great moment to either, which want the authority of custom to support them. Complaints therefore on this, as on many other subjects, consute themselves, and carry impressed upon them marks of their own falsehood.

W. 1. But allowing them to be true, we may still doubt, whether they are just: whether the sons of wisdom are not often answerable for their own miscarriages. What the Stoics maintained was only fanciful, that there is a necessary alliance between all the virtues. Of some it might be said, with more colour of reason, that they are naturally at variance. The virtues of the head and heart, far from being always united, are sometimes directly opposed. Superior knowledge is apt to beget pride and insolence: they, who can make themselves useful, are often not solicitous to be agreeable; pos-

sessing great talents, which may demand reverence, they neglect to cultivate those -good affections, which would find a readier and a farer way to favour. Sometimes, too great a confidence in their own merits makes them confider as a debt, what the Patron calls a gift; and he will naturally incline to give the preference to another, whose gratitude is less suspected. But are these disappointments owing to Wisdom or themselves? Shall she be thought unable to reward her votaries, because some of them, expecting more of her than they deserve, receive less than she would otherwise have given them? Where is the wonder, that expectations, formed without · nexperience, and contrary to the unalterable principles of human nature, should meet with disappointments?

refused to some; who demand them too confidently; others for seit their title to them, by neglecting to affert it. And that they should so for seit it, is not only reasonable, but unavoidable. True merit indeed cannot be hid. For nothing properly deserves that name, which is not useful; and its useful-

nefs, if important or extensive, must necesfarily make it known. But they, who, being possessed of such natural or acquired abilities, as might be of public fervice, yet retire from the world, and conceal their talents, cannot blame the world for not diffurbing their retirement, or endeavouring to pry into their fecrets. It would be wholly unreasonable to complain, that the frations, they might have adorned, are withheld from them: the fault is their own; they have withdrawn themselves from those stations.

3. There is another, and a more frequent, occasion of the complaint we are speaking of, but which has yet less appearance of justice. The disappointment of a worthy man is often owing to the advancement of another of the same character. When there are more persons both able and willing to deferve well of the public, than there are employments adapted to their merits; some of them must remain, for a time, unprovided. They, who are acquainted with the virtues and abilities of one, that thus misses his reward, are ready to lament the misfortune, and to blame the world for it; without knowing or attending to the equal or, perhaps, fairer claim of the more fuccessful competitor. Compassion too inclines men to raife the character of the depressed: Envy to depress that of the elevated. But complaints thus founded in passion, not in reason, must be frivolous and transitory. If well confidered, they are fo far from weakening our main position, that, by pointing out particular exceptions, they confirm the general principle, and leave no room to doubt of the usual effects of wisdom and wirtue.

.VI. Some, perhaps, may still urge, for the opinion feems to have taken strong hold of their minds, that, though merit has generally met with its proper rewards, yet the neglect of it is the peculiar difgrace of the present age. Men, we know, have always complained of their own times; and always, as has been observed, with too much reason. Private affections, interests, and passions, ever have been, and ever will be, too powerful to be effectually and uniformly controlled by regard to the most essential interests of the public, the interests of religion and learning. But whether the former be more vio326 CHARGE II.

lent, or the latter less able to restrain them, now than formerly, seems very difficult to determine. If we compare the present state of our church and nation, with the state of them at the distance of some centuries, such differences will be found, as may, on a curfery and superficial view, have given occasion to mistakes; but, when attentively considered, will teach us to judge more favourably of the present times.

1. We may first observe, that the tharacters of clergymen are far less different from: each other now, than they were formerly. Learning is become for general among them, that the blindest choice could scarce raise, to stations of eminence, any considerable number, very deficient in this kind of merit. And it feems to be univerfally acknowledged. that regularity and decency of behaviour are still more general. If any man denies these praises to the clergy of our times, let him took back to the ages, when, to be able to read the public fervice, was a fufficient qualification for a priest; and a better than many of them had: when many in every year (we have the testimony of contemporary contemporary historians for this otherwise incredible fact) were obliged to allege this qualification in courts of justice, to save themselves from infamous deaths. No wonder, that, in those times, the few, who were in any degree learned and moral, were called forth to public notice; nor that vast numbers, much superior to them in abilities and character, now remain undiftinguished from their brethren in very private stations. Perhaps too (I speak it with diffidence, and should not have spoken it at all, were I not supported by the judgement of a great prelate, whose candor was equal to his learning) perhaps few of the clergy have of late years become eminent by their writings, especially by such writings as properly belong to their profeffion, Defences of Christianity and Morals, and the Doctrines of the Established Church. If then the body of the clergy be good and learned, and not many have stepped forth before the rest, and produced proofs of their superior talents; this may, in some measure, account for the notion, that their merits are little regarded.

Y 4

2. We

2. We may farther observe, to the same purpose, that, were the difference in their abilities as great, yet it would not be fo eafily discerned, as in former times. The higher their qualifications rife, the more skill and knowledge is requifite to diffinguish and measure them. And, when the difference is evident, yet it cannot be so striking, if all the persons compared be respectable, as if fome might challenge respect, and others could not be confidered without contempt. But neither the uniformity of the clerical character, nor the dignity of it, affords any just grounds to suspect, that extraordinary merits should be overlooked. The former feems rather to fuggest, that, on such level ground, nothing that is elevated can be hid. The latter, that, as the level is itself-elevated, whatever rifes above it must be conspicuous.

But it must be confessed, that the clergy have lost, by the change of customs, some opportunities of displaying their abilities. Of these the chief was, the practice of preaching, either, from short notes of the principal topics, in unprepared language, or without any written materials at all. This was an exercise, to which, even in times of considerable learning, not many were equal. And, had it continued, probably as small a number might have been distinguished from the rest in the pulpit as at the bar. But, when the increase of books, and of persons accustomed to reading, who could not but be offended at crude and indigested essusions, obliged the clergy to lay them aside; the same circumstance surnished them with another, and a more extensive, method of making known to the world, what they can contribute towards its improvement.

Other opportunities of advancing themfelves they have lost by the dispersion of
learning among the laity; who now fill,
with reputation, many offices which were
once peculiar to clerks. And we have reafon to thank God that they have lost them.
Political merit is not the merit which one
would wish to see encouraged among clergymen.—In the days of our forefathers, sew
others were able to read and interpret the
laws; sewer had any notions of the universal

principles of right and wrong, by which the rigour of written laws is often to be mitigated: to correspond or negotiate with foreign states. was a talk feldom undertaken by any but Churchmen. Chancellors, Judges, Secretaries. Ambassadors, with most of their assistants and officers, were therefore commonly chosen out of that body. But now, happily for both the civil and religious interests of the nation, knowledge is not confined to one class of men; many among the laity are better qualified for the highest public stations, than those could be, who were engaged in studies and business of another kind; and the clergy, on the other hand, are at leifure to exert their talents in their own function only; or we may add, perhaps, what is nearly allied to it, the care of a learned and virtuous education.

Upon the whole then we conclude, that Wisdom and Virtue, however they may sometimes fail of their effect from a variety of accidental circumstances, have not less influence among us, then in other ranks of men; not in our age, than in any former period.

But, amidst these reflexions, let us not forget, that a wife and good man, when he makes choice of our profession, and when he applies himself to the study and busness of it, is influenced by far higher motives than those hitherto mentioned; by the defire of improving his own mind, and of promoting virtue and happiness. He confiders, that he shall be engaged in such contemplations, as will regulate his passions, strengthen his rational faculties, and lead them to the heights of Christian philosophy. When he compares his studies with those of the other learned professions, he finds that the value of his knowledge will not perish with any short-lived human institutions, or with this mortal frame; but, receiving abundant increase from the Fountain of all Wisdom, will fill him with wonder and transport to all eternity. He confiders, that his business will be the noblest and the most delightful, that of leading men, by mild and perfualive reasoning, to their true happiness. He is not inattentive to the usefulness of Law and Medicine: and he is willing to believe, that, by attending to the duties of his profession, He too shall be instrumental in promoting Peace and Health. But at the same time he is sirmly persuaded, that even these, though the greatest of earthly blessings, must yield the palm to Religion. And, whilst he reslects on the benefits which others receive from his labours, he proceeds with unremitted ardor; little concerned about the success of any reasonable expectations he may have formed for himself in the present life, but well assured, that his main hope, which is fixed on a life to come, can sever fail.

## CHARGE III

On the Use and Abuse of Philosophy in the Study of Religion.

Reverend Brethren,

IT may be justly reckoned among the happy circumstances of the times, in which we live; that, having had sew occasions to engage in, or attend to, controversies, about curious and speculative questions; we have been usually at liberty to inculcate such doctrines only, as might inform the understanding, and influence the conduct, of our hearers: without turning their thoughts, or our own, to those disputed points, which, if not placed quite beyond the reach of human faculties, are yet

335

CHARGE III. far removed from life and manners. But this happiness seems at present to be in some degree interrupted. Errors, which we thought buried in oblivion, are now again called forth; and, though relating only to some nice and difficult subjects, which require the utmost attention of the learned and contemplative, are industriously spread in small treatises among the common people: whilft we, the Clergy, are urged to examine anew matters, which we have long confidered as certain; and are told, that our fystem of Christianity, transmitted to us, it seems, from ages of ignorance and bigotry, may and ought to receive improvements, cdrresponding to those, which the present enlightened age has made in every other Science: The reputation of modern Phitotophers is turned to the difgrace of modern Divines; as neither emulating the example, nor accepting the affiftance, which the difcoveries of those strict reasoners might afford them.

If this complaint against us has any foundawon, we should all unité our endeavours to remove it. If none, yet it may be proper to inquire, whence the mistake has arisen. Were we to collect a scheme of Christian knowledge from the ablest modern writers, to compare it with the doctrines of former ages, and to observe the gradual improvements it has received; the review would furnish us with a direct answer to the whole objection. But so extensive an undertaking is not at all fuited to the prefent occasion. And it will be sufficient to remove the principal grounds of the complaint, if we can shew, that in one part of our studies we have taken the full benefit of the advanced state of Philosophy; and that in the other parts no benefit is to be expected from it.

The English Divines cannot be justly reproached with the extravagant zeal of those, who, disclaiming the use of reason in religious inquiries, would substitute in its room faith uninformed. They own indeed the fovereignty of Religion; but are fensible, that her throne can no where be fixed fecurely, except in the understanding. They have never spared any pains to establish it on this firm basis. And, when new discoveries in philosophy have offered it any new supports

337

ports, they have not failed to apply them. This could hardly be otherwise: fince the fame men, who have gained our admiration by a fertile invention, or clear judgement, in the various kinds of human learning, have been, many of them, equally eminent for their proficiency in facred science. But, when in the study of Religion they used the affiftance of philosophy, they used it with great caution: well knowing, that though its guidance may be fafely trufted, while it has full light, and keeps within its own territories; yet when it ventures to conduct us in the dark, or wanders beyond its proper limits, it will often mislead us more fatally than ignorance itself. For there is a chain, which connects the different branches of error, as well as of truth.-Yet this just and necessary caution feems to have given occasion to the complaint before mentioned. No other grounds for it have ever been pretended. It was never objected to us, that the evidences for religion are not fully stated, or that any kind of fair reasoning is neglected, which might ferve to enforce them. On the contrary, it is univerfally acknowledged, that more more rational, more truly philosophical, defences of Christianity have appeared, within a century, in our language, than were ever produced in any other age or country. In these defences, whatever aid could be borrowed from morals, or physic, or natural theology, have been employed, and fometimes even with profusion. Philosophy has furnished us with abundance of incontestable evidence; and has rendered that evidence the more convincing, by rejecting all fuch proofs, as were either false or frivolous. Thus far it has acted within its own province; and has been a good witness in behalf of Christianity. But here its office ends. If a witness should be allowed to take the feat of the Judge, we could expect nothing but a hasty and partial decision. And such has been the event, when philosophy has presumed to interpret revealed doctrines, or to examine the reasonableness of revealed dispensations. These are the uses which we have forborn to make of it; and which we shall still forbear, if we form our judgement, either from the nature of the attempt, or from the bad fuccess of those, who have engaged in it. 1. First

I. First then, philosophical notions can never lead us to the true meaning of the Holy Scriptures. The right interpretation of any book is the discovery of the thoughts, which the Author intended to convey. But an Author cannot intend to convey thoughts, which were never in his own mind. And the first preachers of Christianity, being no philofophers, could not entertain notions peculiar The one among them, to philosophers. who had some acquaintance with Grecian literature, and might therefore have been suspected of an attachment to this study, expressly disavows, in the names both of himfelf, and his fellow labourers, all human wisdom. But had they been versed in the learning of their own times, still every later discovery must be foreign from their ideas, and useless in explaining them.-What has been faid of the teachers of Christianity, is true also of their disciples. Few of them were called from the portico of Chrysippus, or the groves of Academus. St. Paul complains, that the wife, the scribe, the disputer of this world, knew not God, nor received his messengers; that men, whose profession profession was wisdom; perished through folly; and that the arguments, the artifices, of those, who were reputed learned, and Masters of reason, when applied to religious subjects, were found to be weakness and deceit. He would therefore never instruct his disciples out of the maxims, or principles, of that science, which he knew they did not, and wished they might not, understand.-Nay, he repeatedly cautions them not to be misled by these principles: a caution then necessary against infidelity, when each of the prevailing fects was founded in some error unfavourable to the reception of Christianity; and no less necessary afterwards against herefy, when the philosophers became Christians, and brought, out of the schools into the Church, many useless and dangerous refinements. And what has been the consequence of these refinements; whether introduced, as in the early ages, by the fantastical followers of Plato, or as in our times, by the lovers of metaphyfical fubtilty; but to turn a religion, whose principal aim was to render men kind and friendly to each other, into a perpetual fource of divisions and animosities? One fingle Z 2

fingle article of faith would furnish us with examples of this mischievous folly, both early and recent. The past I omit, as of less concern to us; and shall content myself with fuggesting to your thoughts, that the difficulties, which are now urged against us, concerning the divinity of our Saviour, are not derived from the scriptures, but from the mixture, of what is called philosophical reafoning, in the interpretation of them.

When the facred Writers style the Son God, it is doubted, in what sense we are to understand the appellation. May not the word, it is asked, sometimes fall, from its proper and primary meaning, to one less exact, and less exalted? We shall readily anfwer, that the only proper use of any word is that, in which it is generally understood; and that this use, in the present instance, is not difficult to be discovered, or to be reconciled with the other declarations of holy scrip-The principal notions, which have ever been annexed to the name of God by. plain men, who have not puzzled themselves with abstract speculations, are those of Creator, Preserver, and Governor of the World. Now

Now the passages of the New Testament, which describe the Son under these characters, are fuch, as could hardly have been mifinterpreted, had not the obvious fense of them appeared to be inconfistent with certain imaginary principles of Science. With the ideas of Creator, Preserver, and Governor of the World, those of unlimited power and knowledge are necessarily connected. But the Scriptures have not left us to infer these attributes from his nature. All power and all knowledge are expressly ascribed to the Son of God, in feveral plain paffages. It might have seemed unnecessary to tell us, but yet we are told, that He, who created all things, was before all things. The terms, Father and Son, convey to us no meaning, if they do not imply that the one derived his being from the other. And this is confirmed, when we read, that the Son's power and glory and dominion were all given him by the Father. Thus far the doctrine seems clear. Few fober interpreters of the New Testament disagree about these parts of it. But here the Metaphysician comes in, and tells us, that self-existence, and necessary existence, Z 3

existence, and absolute independency, are esfential attributes of the Deity; and that he has fearched the scriptures in vain to find them ascribed to the Son. He might have added. or to the Father. Neither these terms, nor others of a like import, occur in the New Teftament. If they express any ideas, (other than the negative one of Being not derived,) they are the ideas of Philosophers, not of Apostles; and the logical or metaphysical controversies, which have been spun out of them, are not connected, or but by the flightest clue, with the doctrines of Christ. The same misplaced curiosity, the same vain hope of improving, by our discoveries, the revelations of God, has introduced into this fubject numberless questions, which may ever be disputed, because they can never be decided; unless men should at last be so wife, as to perceive, that this is a reason, why they should not be disputed at all.

II. But if our philosophers have had little fuccess in searching for recondite senses of scripture, their mistakes are more shameful and more dangerous, when they prefume to judge of the divine occonomy; when they determine determine a revealed dispensation to be credible, or not, from preconceived notions of fitness and propriety, of juffice and impartiality, which they boldly apply to the government of the fupreme Being. He cannot, they tell us, act in this manner; it would be contrary to his wisdom: nor in that; it would be inconfistent with his justice: one kind or degree of happiness he must be disposed to grant; another his creatures have à right to demand. But, whilft they throw out these peremptory affertions, not warranted by the observable course of God's moral government, nor by any known declarations of his will; they shew themselves to be unacquainted with the fundamental rule of their own science; and with the origin of all its-late improvements. They argue like men, who lived two centuries ago, inattentive to the difference between hypothesis and experiment. If, from a supposed character of the Deity, they undertake to derive his acts, and to trace the order of his providence; however ingeniously the system may be formed, and by whatever demonstrations the feveral parts

Z 4

of it may be connected; yet the whole, having no foundation, but a precarious and arbitrary hypothesis, is easily overthrown. True philosophy would have taught them to proceed the other way: to begin with obferving the present constitution of the world; with confidering attentively, how God has made us, and in what circumstances placed us; and then to form a fure judgement, from what He has done, what it is agreeable to infinite wildom, and the other divine perfections, that He should do. They might thus have learned the invisible things of God, from those which are clearly seen; the things which are not yet accomplished, from those which are.

How little we can advance in this part of our studies by merely abstract reasoning, one instance will be sufficient to prove. Nothing in the Christian scheme has been more strongly agitated by these philosophizing divines, than the doctrine of an atonement, made by Jesus Christ, for the sins of mankind. And their arguments are so plausible, that some of the mistaken friends have joined with

with the more artful enemies of religion, in representing such atonement, as unnecesfary, ineffectual, and unworthy of the righteous governor of the world.—God's laws, it is alleged, are productive of happiness; and, to secure this happiness, penalties are annexed to the breach of them. But when they, who have transgressed, repent and amend, no good remains to be obtained by the punishment; it has answered its ends, is now become useless, and cannot therefore be inflicted by a wife and merciful Governor. To offer redemption to a reformed penitent, is to offer him, what he does not want. He has redeemed himself. He has made all the fatisfaction for his offences, that he is able to make; and more cannot be required of him without manifest absurdity.—But, suppoling that some farther satisfaction might be required, the objectors still urge, that it cannot be made effectually by any but the finner himself; that the sufferings of one perfon, especially of an innocent one, can never be a reason for the pardon of another; and that God's justice, which is impartial and

347

universal, will still hang over the unpunished offender, and his mercy provide a recompence for the innocent sufferer.—They observe farther, that the Governor of the world usually accomplishes his designs by regular, established, methods; and that there seems to be no connexion between the fufferings and death of Christ, and the future happiness of mankind; or, if there be any connexion, that it must be, because his sufferings and death were means of reforming finners, not because they were an expiation or atonement for fin.

These objections, it must be acknowledged, have in them some truths. But with these truths are mixed many things that want proof, and more that are evidently false.-Thus it is undoubtedly true, that we can discover so many benefits arising even from the punishments, by which the laws of God's moral government are enforced, as clearly fhew the wifdom and goodness of the Governor. But that the uses we can discover, are the only uses of those punishments, is uncertain. And that the punishments must always cease, when the criminals are reformed, is certainly false. The miseries which, in the regular course of nature, are the consequences of wickedness, are properly considered as the natural punishments of it. Some of them follow it with a swifter, others with a flower, pace; some are transitory, others of longer continuance: but the penitence of a criminal, even before their arrival, affords him no security against the slowest of them; and, when either his fears or his feelings have worked a reformation, fuch as are naturally of longer continuance are not by that reformation presently removed. Whatever then can be alleged, concerning the ends of punishment, or the satisfaction made by a reformed penitent, when applied to this subject, must be trisling. All argumentation is here precluded. We have fact and experience to convince us, that God does not always pardon the repenting finner.—But it is thought incredible, that God should be moved, by the sufferings of the innocent, to absolve the guilty. Yet has He not so constituted the world, that the miseries, which a man brings upon himself by wickedness and folly, are often mitigated,

### 348

## CHARGE III.

fometimes wholly taken away, by the goodness and prudence of his parents or friends; who, in their endeavours to relieve him, sub-. mit to labour, and pain, and vexation, fuch vexation, perhaps, as ends in fickness or in death? Thus a man's discharge from punishment may be owing to the misery of persons better than himself; and that which is objected to, as incredible, appears to be what often happens in the natural course of human events, that is, by God's appointment.-When it is farther infinuated, against the usefulness of a redemption, that we see no connexion between the cause and the effect, the doubt is wholly unphilosophical. The notion of that connexion is raifed in our minds by a frequent repetition of like events, one after the other; and therefore it can have no place between two events, however inseparable in their nature, when one of them appears to be fingle in its kind, and of the other we have yet had no experience.

We have feen then, how weak, and yet how dangerous, all our reasoning is, when it would correct the doctrines of revelation; and how unjust the censure thrown upon the English

English clergy for not making use of the present improved state of science. have used it, and to the greatest advantage, there, where only it could be used for the fervice of religion; in providing evidence, in examining it, in felecting the founder and weightier parts of it, and in casting away those which are light or corrupt. But they have wifely avoided the application of it, where fuch application is impertinent, or profane: impertinent, as in interpretation of scripture; profane, as in the judging of God's decrees. Neither can it be employed to the former purpose, by those who are acquainted with the characters of the first teachers of Christianity, or of their converts; nor to the latter, by those who attend to the general grounds of all science, or to the means, by which we discover the perfections of the Deity. We have feen also examples of the errors, into which philosophy has led its votaries, taken from two of the great and distinguishing doctrines of Christianity. The examples were not of my choice. I had many others in view. But these seemed to be particularly pointed

out.

35 I

They, who are calling upon us to amend our faith, reckon them among the parts, which chiefly want amendment. If fome of our predecessors have written obfcurely, or perhaps unintelligibly, concerning them, it was not through neglect of the philosophy, which prevailed in their times, but through too much attention to it. And though we may think our knowledge much advanced, we find it equally unable to reach the gates of heaven. Such gigantic attempts have always proved the ruin, as well as the difgrace, of human science. A fruitless defire to understand mysteries, that is, to understand the whole of what God has revealed in part only, is fure to turn the mind from real knowledge to metaphyfical jargon. The great leader of all our modern discoveries, the fagacious and comprehensive Lord Bacon, formed no expectations in the behalf of religion, or philosophy, of any improvements to be made in either, by the affishance of the other: on the contrary, he forefaw the mischiefs they would mutually receive from an improper alliance. When he is taking a review of all the parts of learning, and

and observing the desects of each, he has a remarkable passage, which I wish to leave impressed upon your minds: "In this part of knowledge, says he, touching divine philosophy, I am so far from noting any desicience, as I rather note an excess: whereunto I have digressed, because of the extreme prejudice, which both religion and philosophy have received, and may receive, by being commixed together; as that, which undoubtedly will make an heretical religion, and an imaginary and fabulous philosophy."

# DISPUTATIO,

HABITA

# IN SCHOLIS PUBLICIS,

Anno 1756.

Ecclesiastici regiminis, in Anglia et in Scotia constituti, neutra forma aut juri bominum naturali aut verbo Dei repugnat.

CUM, per fecula aliquot, jam acta, oculos referentes, tam Civitatis nostræ quam Ecclesiæ, regimen contemplemur; utrum nobis præsens Reipublicæ status voluptatem majorem, an præteritus admirationem, excitare debeat, licebit dubitare. Hanc sanè gentem, servitutis semper impatientem, et circumsus mari munitam, crudeli tamen dominatu, et A a domesticos,

domesticos, et externos, tyrannos diu tenuisse, vix possumus satis mirari. Patres autem nostros in integerrimam et sirmissimam libertatem se tandem vindicasse, non gaudemus modo, sed etiam planè triumphamus. Ecclesia quidem prior jugum servile dejecit; at, laxata ipsa, onus civitati demere non curavit. Civitas generosior, cum superstitio, solium regale iterum tenens, religioni perniciem minabatur, indignata, et ad opem ferendam impetu quodam ruens, se ipsam, vix opinantem, e vinculis exemit. Quæ vero improvifa accesserat libertas, benignissimo excepta est hospitio. Principia, quibus est fundata, in mentes hominum facillime irrepferunt. De Rerumpublicarum origine, de Regis auctoritate, de Civium jure, nihil fere quæri potest, de quo inter omnes non convenit. At tyrannis ex Ecclesiâ licet jamdiu exulaverit, tenebræ tamen, quas illa templis suis offundere solet, nondum omnes sunt discussæ: vel quod in ipsa caligine sanctum aliquod et religiosum inesse videatur; vel quod lux, ex alia parte orta, animos hominum ab hujus contemplatione avocaverit. Poterat sanè argumentis, ex natura regiminis ecclesiastici petitis. titis, libertas nostra abunde confirmari. homines, id quod non raro accidit, ad alia remotiora et difficiliora attenti, hæc propiora et certiora negligunt. Hinc est, quod sint etiam nunc dierum, post ducentos annos, qui separationem nostram ab Ecclesia Romana nulla, nisi necessitatis, excusatione defendi posse existimant; qui, cum schismatis crimen effugere velint, id omni arte atque industrià agunt, ut ejus doctrinam erroribus, disciplinam fraudibus, cultum Dei, ab eâ institutum, superstitione refertum esse ostendant. At hæc, utcunque vera, in defensione nostrå supervacanea sunt; si neque jus naturale neque leges divinæ id requirunt, ut omnes Ecclesiæ uni imperio subjiciantur. Quæ enim sine nexu conjunctæ sunt, possunt sine violentià secerni.

Liceat itaque mihi, patria instituta defendere volenti, prius quærere, Ecclesiæ auctoritas unde orta sit, quomodo derivata, quas regulas habeat, quos fines. Si enim, his fundamentis caute positis, sirmum libertatis ecclesiasticæ propugnaculum comparetur, ictus hostium validissimi vel inermi manu repelli possunt. Præcipuæ

Aa2

Præcipuæ religionis externæ partes in publico Dei cultu et pià populi institutione continentur. At nec Cultus iste sine ritubus, nec ritus fine hominum ministerio, celebrari posiunt. Ut loca itaque, tempora, cæremoniæ, præscribantur; et, hæc omnia qui curent, eligantur; necesse est. Doctrina etiam popularis, nifi certos homines ad hujus curam leges accerfant, et accerfitos dirigant, vel negligetur, vel corrumpetur. Neglecta vero religionem, corrupta civitatem perdet. Auctoritas igitur Ecclesiæ, cum in electione et gubernatione eorum qui facris publicis præsunt et populum docent, præcipuè versetur; ex ipså natura externæ religionis, et rei necessitate, orta est. Regimen autem, quod ad religionis, non minus quam illud quod ad vitæ, usus spectat, a Deo profectum esse oportet arbitrari.

Neque hæc publica quorundam rituum cura, quæ universo populo tantum prodest, cuiquam injuriam infert. Quibus sacra ista placent, grata est atque utilis; quibus displicent, vel leviter vel nihil nocet. Id enim ad regimen ecclesiasticum non necessario pertinet, ut unus solummodo sit in una gente rituum

rituum aut institutionum ordo. Si populus de rebus sacris in varias opiniones distrahatur, possunt variæ rituum et religionum sormulæ vel sanciri vel permitti. Quæ a magnå gentis parte approbantur, sancire civitatem oportet; quæ paucis tantum, si tamen utilitati publicæ nihil repugnant, permittere.

Cum verò juri naturali consentaneum esse videatur, ut aliquid de his rebus constituatur, id postea quærendum est, qua auctoritate posiit confirmari. Atque ista omnis auctoritas, quâ in Ecclesia pollent seu magistratus seu ministri, vel a Principe derivata est, permittente Deo, vel a consensu populi, permittente Principe. Principem voco, qui in quâvis natione supremam habet potestatem, five unus sit, sive plurium cœtus. Illum verò in sacra imperium habere ex rerum-publicarum origine manifestum est. Homines enim, (ut cum iis qui de jure naturali scripserunt, quamvis forsan minus accurate, Ioquar,) hâc mente in civitates coierunt, ut legibus uterentur: legibus autem non de re tantum una atque altera ferendis, sed de cunctis, quæ Reipublicæ interest ut consensu omnium definiantur. Nec quærimus foliciti, A a 3

#### DISPUTATIO. 360

non prohibente Principe, consensus iste eandem vim habet, ac aliud quodvis pactum legitimum. Atque id interest inter Ecclesiam quam civitas amplectitur, et eam quam sibi propinquam tolerat; quod hæc auctoritatem a suo populo donatam, illa a legislatore fidei commissam, acceperit.

Ex his fontibus in hortos Ecclesiæ jus omne derivatum est; quæ, si ullam potestatis partem nacta sit, cujus ortus non est ab uno vel altero horum repetendus, illam contra jus naturale usurpavit. Regimen enim a civitate non permissum instituere, aut totum populum voluisse, aut partem potuisse, res est absurda. Totius certè paci et emolumento multum conducit, ut unum fit in una regione impe-·rium; parti vero non conceditur, se a totius legibus distrahere.

At quamvis nihil cuiquam in facris liceat fine affensu Principis, huic tamen omnia licere non dico. Certi reperiri possunt terinini, quibus ejus auctoritas septa tenetur. -Istos vero ex utilitate publica petere oportet. Cum in pace civitatis vel conservanda vel evertenda maxima sit religionis vis, et Princeps huic paci unicè inserviat; opinionibus quæ

## DISPUTATIO.

361 quæ videntur ei esse nocituræ, obsistet. Errores autem, qui nihil detrimenti Reipublicæ afferunt, utcunque sint discordes, sidei absoni, et Deo indigni, ab imperio suo liberos permittet. Singuli enim hâc mercede sibi leges imponi finunt, ut cæteris quoque imponantur. Sed nemini utile est, in rebus a vita semotis, alios reprimi. Nemo igitur consensit, ut ipse reprimeretur. Neque est ea Magistratibus Ecclesiæ vis committenda, ut omnes rituum suorum et sententiarum participes esse cogant. Suos veluti liberos fide et pudore, non metu retinere debent; et volentes per populos jura dare.

Si ea quæ dixi vera fint, videntur juri hominum naturali repugnare, et isti, qui negant esse ullum Ecclesiæ regimen terrestre, et qui affirmant illud omne unum episcopum penes esse; et qui in rebus sacris nos vetant Principi, et qui jubent alteri, obedire; pœnas opinionibus, et qui falsis irrogant, et qui a malis avertunt. Sed ab his criminibus Ecclesiæ nostræ longissimè absunt. Neutra ex iis aut auctoritatis, quâ rerum facrarum ordo : conservetur, indiget, aut eam, quâ civilium perturbetur, possider, Neutra Legislatoris do-

368. obscuras, acclives, multiplices; ubi vestigia, quod modo ostendi, cæca sunt, et in locis arduis, et per varios tramites, errabunda, et per vacuum libera. Nobis autem satissit, si illi, qui Ecclesias Britannicas fundavere, licet diverso itinere, eandem tamen metam contigerint; et sacrum codicem variè interpretantes, nihil constituerint, nisi id quod, jure gentium usi, Deo nec jubente nec vetante, constituere potuerunt.

Ex his quæ generatim funt exposita totam defensionem nostram comparare facillimum est: sed si singula utriusque Ecclesiæ instituta fuscipiam, in dicendo nimius sim. Ea solummodo, quæ unam ab altera præcipue disstinguunt, breviter attingam.

Regem supremum ecclesiæ gubernatorem esse, nos Angli consitemur, Scoti negant: et utrique rectè. Cum enim omnis regum nostrorum potestas legibus descripta sit atque definita, nihil prohibet, ne major in hâc, quam in illâ, regni parte, quemadmodum alii cuilibet magistratui, ita regi ipsi permittatur. Scio equidem Scotis hoc firmissimum juris sui fundamentum non placere. Ecclefiam ab omni imperio humano liberam, et Christo

360 Christo soli subjectam esse prædicant. autem verbis ponunt, nisi re tollerent, plane is non essem, qui illos defenderem. Nullum est in regiminis totius ortu, aut progressu, aut conditionibus, fictie ithius, in qua gloriantur, libertatis indicium. Universa corum jura haud ita pridem a Senatu funt conceffa; quadam autem, nec femel, ab eodem mutata vel imminuta; et omnia hâc lege tenentur, ut uno versiculo deleri possint, atque penitus obliterari.

In Anglia Synodus absque Regis mandato non convocatur; convocata de re nulla, nisi referente Rege, deliberat; nec quicquam eorum quæ jubet, nisi illo assentiente, legis nomen attingit. In Scotia conventus Ecclesiæ quotannis agitur; cujus est de cunctis quod religionem spectant, cum quærere, tum statuere. Hoc autem legum de rebus suis ferendarum jus, non Sacerdotum modo fed studentium literis, mercatorum, aliorumque Collegiis, sæpe traditum fuisse novimus: atque omnibus sub eadem conditione, ut privatas istas leges publico civitatis juri in nulla causa opponerent.

# DISPUTATIO.

Nec minorem cum nostra dissimilitudinem habet, quæ inter Scotos est, rerum sacrarum administratio. Consessus quidam, juris ecclesiastici custodes et interpretes, ea omnia gerunt ac moderantur, quæ inter nos Episcopi. Quanto sorma nostra sit antiquior, quanto utilior, non est hujus instituti ostendere. Id tantum censeo; neque adeo antiquam esse, ut a Christo orta, neque adeo universis utilem, ut a jure naturali prosecta, videatur.

## FINIS.

